Intergenerational Transmission of Health Inequities: Early Life Socioeconomic Factors, Adult Cardiometabolic and Pregnancy Outcomes, and Potential Epigenetic Mechanisms in Young Adult Women.

Jonathan Y Huang

# A dissertation

submitted in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Washington

2014

Reading Committee:

Daniel A Enquobahrie, Chair

Ali Rowhani-Rahbar

Amelia R Gavin

Program Authorized to Offer Degree:

Public Health - Epidemiology

© Copyright 2014

Jonathan Y Huang

University of Washington

# Abstract

Intergenerational Transmission of Health Inequities: Early Life Socioeconomic Factors, Adult Cardiometabolic and Pregnancy Outcomes, and Potential Epigenetic Mechanisms in Young Adult Women.

Jonathan Y Huang

Chair of the Supervisory Committee: Daniel A Enquobahrie, MD, MPH, PhD Epidemiology

Parental socioeconomic status (SES) experienced by a woman *in utero* may directly affect her adult health, independent of her life course experiences. Developmental programming of gene expression through DNA methylation may be involved. However, investigations using prevailing regression methods have been impeded by complex causal structures and unmeasured confounding. Using a U.S.-national, longitudinal cohort, we investigated the effect of mother's education on (1) cardiometabolic risk and (2) pregnancy outcomes among women averaging 30 years of age. Using an Israeli birth cohort, we investigated associations between parental education and father's occupational class on (3) DNA methylation at cardiometabolic genes in 32-year old women.

(1) Using marginal structural models estimated by inverse probability weighting, we found young adult women whose mothers had higher educational attainment (*e.g.* college versus high school) had 40% lower risk (Odds Ratio = 0.60, 95% Confidence Interval: 0.45, 0.80)

of metabolic syndrome, independent of childhood maltreatment, adolescent overweight, adult SES, and behavioral risk. Additionally, there was evidence that women with more highly educated mothers were taller, thinner, and had a smaller waist, lower resting pulse rate, lower levels of inflammatory markers, and better blood sugar control.

(2) Additionally, women born to more highly educated mothers who themselves bore children delivered newborns who were 90 grams heavier (95% CI: 20.8, 156.5), independent of childhood maltreatment, pre-pregnancy overweight, adult SES, and prenatal smoking. Moreover, results from (1) and (2) were robust to several sensitivity analyses including model alteration, data replacement, and quantitative bias analyses.

(3) Finally, we found that lower SES at birth measured by father's occupational class was associated with reduced methylation at the *ABCA1* cholesterol transporter gene and the *NR3C1* glucocorticoid receptor genes in 32-year old women, after adjusting for numerous parental and offspring characteristics. Similarly, fewer years of mother's education was associated with reduced *HSD11B2* glucocorticoid-inactivating enzyme gene methylation. However, such associations did not appear to mediate relationships between birth SES and young adult cardiometabolic risk.

Overall, there appears to be substantial evidence that early life SES is independently related to adult women's health and DNA methylation, however the mechanisms relating them require further elucidation.

# Dedication

To Claire and our baby boy.

May we strive to leave the world a better place for all future generations.

## Acknowledgements

Thanks are due to each of my committee members, Ali, Amelia, David, and Thomas for their mentorship and guidance. Special thanks is due to my chair Daniel, who reviewed each of my numerous drafts thoroughly, as well as provided strategic paper-writing and career advice over many meetings. Additionally, my work was supported by the NIH Reproductive, Perinatal, and Pediatric Epidemiology (RPPE) T-32 Training Grant and the University of Washington Global Woman, Adolescent, and Child Health (Global WACh) Integrated Health Seed Grant (2013-2014).

Finally, a special thanks goes to Dr. Stephen Bezruchka, whose tireless energy and passion inspired me to pursue this line of research. I'm truly lucky to have met such an irreplaceable friend, mentor, and role model. What will you prescribe for the sick woman, doctor - you who have seen at a glance that the cause of her illness is general anemia, want of good food, lack of fresh air? Say, a good beefsteak every day? a little exercise in the country? a dry and well-ventilated bedroom? What irony! If she could have afforded it this would have been done long since without waiting for your advice.

~ Peter Kropotkin, An Appeal to the Young (1880)

# **Table of Contents**

Index of Tables and Figures	8
Introduction	11
Background and Significance	11
Project Description	13
Study Settings	13
Summary and Potential Impact	14
Chapter 1 - Direct effects of maternal education at daughter's birth on daughter's adult	15
cardiometabolic risk.	
Chapter 2 - Direct effect of grandmaternal educational attainment on birth weight and	41
associated bias analyses.	
Chapter 3 - Early life socioeconomic status, candidate gene DNA methylation, and adult	62
cardiometabolic phenotype in young adult women: the Jerusalem Perinatal Family	
Follow-Up Study.	
Discussion	90
Executive Summary	90
Strengths and Limitations	91
Public Health Significance	92
Next Steps	92
References	94

# Index of Tables and Figures

# Chapter 1

Figure 1. Causal diagram of hypothesized life course determinants of cardiometabolic	23
risk.	
Table 1. Study population characteristics, by maternal educational attainment.	28
Table 2. Multivariate regression estimates of maternal education effect on daughter's	29
cardiometabolic risk.	
Table 3. Marginal structural model estimates of maternal education direct effect on	30
various cardiometabolic measures estimated by inverse probability weighting.	
Table 4. Marginal structural model estimates of maternal education direct effect on	36
various cardiometabolic measures estimated by inverse probability weighting – Weights	
truncated at the 5th and 95th percentiles.	
Table 5. Marginal structural model estimates of maternal education direct effect on	37
various cardiometabolic measures estimated by inverse probability weighting –	
Presumed causal ordering changed.	
Table 6. Marginal structural model estimates of G0 education direct effect on various	38
cardiometabolic measures estimated by inverse probability weighting – Discrete	
mediators.	
Table 7. Marginal structural model estimates of G0 education direct effect on various	39
cardiometabolic measures estimated by inverse probability weighting – Add Low Wave	
IV SES as a mediator.	
Table 8. Marginal structural model estimates of G0 education direct effect on various	40
cardiometabolic measures estimated by inverse probability weighting – Missing	
mediator values replaced.	

# Chapter 2

Figure 1. Causal diagram of hypothesized life course determinants of birth weight.	49
Table 1. Study population characteristics, by grand-maternal (G0) education.	53
Table 2. Multivariate linear regression estimate of effect on G2 birth weight. ( $N =$	54
1,681)	
Figure 2. Structural equation model with unstandardized coefficients.	55
Table 3. Marginal structural model estimates of effect on G2 birth weight. $(N = 1,681)$	56
Table 4. Marginal structural model estimates of G0 education effect on G2 birth weight,	56
under various scenarios.	
Table 5. The effect of an unmeasured binary confounder on the estimated controlled	57
direct effect of G0 education on G2 birth weight, a quantitative bias analysis. (Adjusted	

β, [95% CI])

# Chapter 3

Figure 1. Methylation is established in early life.	71
Figure 2 Methylation is affected by life course mediators.	71
Table 1a. Study population characteristics, by paternal occupational class.	75
Table 1b. Detailed Methylation (%) Distribution of Candidate Gene Promoter Regions.	71
Table 2a. Associations Between Early Life SES and Percent Candidate Gene Methylation.	77
Table 2b. Associations Between Early Life SES and Percent Candidate Gene	77
Methylation, Adjusted for Maternal Characteristics.	
Table 2c. Sensitivity Analysis - Associations Between Early Life SES and Candidate	78
Gene Methylation, Adjusted for Life Course Factors, Missing Data Imputed.	
Table 3. Associations Between Candidate Gene Methylation and Adult Phenotype,	79
Adjusted for Confounders.	
Table 4a. Effects of increasing maternal education on daughter's adult phenotype as	80

mediated by HSD11B2, "early programming" model.

Table 4b. Effects of increasing maternal education on daughter's phenotype as	81
mediated by HSD11B2, "late effect" model.	
Table 5a. Effects of increasing paternal occupational class on daughter's phenotype as	82
mediated by NR3C1 Exon 1F.2, "early programming" model.	
Table 5b. Effects of increasing paternal occupational class on daughter's phenotype as	83

mediated by NR3C1 Exon 1F.2, "late effects" model.

### Introduction

## Background and Significance

Health disparities between socioeconomic classes remains an intractable problem in the U.S. and globally. Although numerous risk factors across the life course have been identified, the causal mechanisms, and therefore the potential efficacy of interventions, are uncertain.<sup>1,2</sup> One segment of the life course that has recently garnered interest is early life including intrauterine and early post-natal life.<sup>2-7</sup> In women, low parental socioeconomic status (SES)<sup>8,9</sup> and childhood maltreatment<sup>10</sup> are associated with increased risk of obesity, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, hypertension and early mortality<sup>11-17</sup> as well as having low birth weight offspring.

Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD) theory suggest stressors experienced in early life may adversely influence fetal programming and organ growth and development<sup>15-17</sup> and subsequent increased risk for adult cardiometabolic disease.<sup>18-24</sup> Among women of child-bearing age, this may also lead to poor response to the physical challenge of pregnancy and adverse birth outcomes,<sup>33</sup> reinforcing health disparities<sup>27,28</sup> and historical trauma<sup>34</sup> across generations. Persistent and widening socioeconomic disparities in cardiometabolic disease and low birth weight infants (< 2500 grams) in the U.S. and globally suggest understanding early life mechanisms and identifying related interventions may be necessary to solve these intractable public health challenges.<sup>2,11-13</sup>

However, empirical analysis of causal and mediating mechanisms explaining associations between early life SES and adult cardiometabolic risk (CMR) or pregnancy outcomes are lacking and methodologically challenging.<sup>25</sup> Importantly, the temporal nature of a woman's experiences across the life course, *in utero*, child, adolescent, and adult, should be explicitly incorporated into any analysis. Because life course mediators are sequentially dependent<sup>1</sup> and may be confounded by still other mediators, simple covariate adjustment models are often biased. Consequently, estimating the direct effect of a distant, early life exposure such as SES on adult outcomes likely requires the application of nascent epidemiologic methods,<sup>25,35</sup> such as marginal structural models.

Additionally, current social theory suggests that the biological mechanism for persistent health disparities may be through epigenetic modifications of DNA following early life exposures to stress, poverty, or malnutrition.<sup>26-30</sup> 'Epigenetic' refers to any heritable pre- or post- transcriptional regulation of DNA function – from DNA methylation, histone modification, or micro RNAs -- which occur without changes to the underlying DNA sequence. DNA methylation is of particular interest, as it can have wide-ranging effects during fetal development and beyond.<sup>14</sup> Recent studies suggest that *in utero* exposure to stress hormones<sup>31,32</sup> may program fetuses for increased cortisol secretion and stress reactivity, insulin resistance, poor kidney and vascular development, and obesity, through alterations in the methylation profile of important cardiometabolic and stress-related genes. In turn, this may make such individuals more susceptible to hypertension, diabetes, and other cardiometabolic diseases later in life.<sup>14</sup>

While interest in DNA methylation is growing, it remains unclear how epigenetic mechanisms may be investigated in epidemiologic studies.<sup>32</sup> Challenges include the characterization of early life exposures and assessment of DNA methylation, including timing, tissues-specificity, and candidate sites. While some studies have associated low early life SES and adulthood differences in methylation, <sup>30,43,44</sup> substantial evidence is lacking supporting the theory that early life SES may be related specifically to adult cardiometabolic health through epigenetic mechanisms.

### Project Description

In light of identified gaps in the literature, this dissertation seeks to clarify the causal relationship between early life socioeconomic status and adverse adult cardiometabolic risk and pregnancy outcomes among women, as well as the potential DNA methylation mechanisms thereof.

Using the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health) and the Jerusalem Perinatal Study Family Follow-Up (JPS-1), described subsequently, we investigated the following three specific aims, corresponding to the three numbered chapters of this dissertation. Briefly:

- Using Add Health, we investigated whether there was evidence for a controlled direct effect of a woman's early life SES on her cardiometabolic risk in young adulthood (mean age = 30 years). (*Chapter 1*)
- Using Add Health, we investigated whether there was evidence for a controlled direct effect of a woman's early life SES on the birth weight of her first, singleton child. (*Chapter 2*)
- Using JPS-1, we investigated whether early life SES was associated with candidate cardiometabolic gene methylation in young adult women (mean age = 32 years). (*Chapter 3*)

## Study Settings

The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health) is a school-based, nationally-representative, longitudinal study of United States adolescents enrolled in grades 7 through 12 in 1994-95 (N = 90,118). In-home interviews were conducted in 1994-5 (Wave I) with a subset of individuals and their parents, siblings, friends, and romantic partners to collect extensive information on demographics, health, attitudes, behaviors, and environment (N = 20,745). Individuals were followed for up to three additional waves of inhome interviews: Individuals were re-interviewed in 1996 (Wave II), anthropometric measurements were collected in addition to re-interview in 2001-2 (Wave III), and capillary whole blood collection was also collected in 2008-9 (Wave IV). The final round (Wave IV) included 80.3% of eligible participants (N = 15,70). Additional characteristics and documentation of the study design and sampling frame can be found on the Add Health website (www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/).

Individuals were eligible for specific aims 1 and 2 of this study if they were women, had a biological mother interviewed and participated in both Wave I and Wave IV interviews. For specific aim 2, women must have had at least one live birth during the course of the study. Consequently, 4,026 and 1,681 women were used for Aims 1 and 2, respectively.

The Jerusalem Perinatal Study (JPS), is a longitudinal study following all births to residents of Jerusalem in the years 1974 through 1976 (N = 17,003). The JPS Family Follow-Up (JPS-1) is an ancillary study conducted amongst a subset of JPS participants (mother-offspring dyads). Participants for JPS-1 were selected using a sampling scheme that oversampled for maternal pre-pregnancy overweight (body mass index  $\geq$  27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and extremes of offspring birth weight ( $\leq$  2500 and  $\geq$  4000 grams). In JPS-1, peripheral blood samples were collected from offspring (N = 1,250) at an average age of 32 years, at which time various anthropometric measures were also taken. For specific aim 3, all JPS-1 offspring who were female (N = 613) women were included.

### Summary and Potential Impact

This study seeks to use contemporary causal modeling method to investigate whether early life SES has a direct effect on adult outcomes amongst women, including cardiometabolic phenotype and birth outcomes. Additionally, it seeks to assess whether DNA methylation may have a potential role in mediating these associations. This work may provide evidence for the importance of early life in determining adult health.

(End Introduction)

# Chapter 1 – Direct effects of maternal education at daughter's birth on daughter's adult cardiometabolic risk.

# Abstract

*Background*: Studies of associations between maternal SES indicators and offspring cardiometabolic risk have had inconsistent results. We examined the direct effect of maternal education on daughter's adult cardiometabolic risk using two modelling methods, adjusting for confounders and life course mediators.

*Methods*: Using data from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (1995-2009), we identified female respondents whose biological mothers were interviewed (N = 4,026). We defined maternal education as less than high school (HS), HS diploma or equivalent, or college degree at respondent's birth. Using multivariate regression and marginal structural models (MSM), we estimated the controlled direct effect of maternal education on respondent's adult (mean age = 28 years) body size, blood pressure, pulse, plasma glucose, C-reactive Protein (CRP), and risk of metabolic syndrome independent of mediating risk factors: adolescent maltreatment and overweight status, low adult education and household income, smoking and low physical activity. We evaluated sensitivity of our findings to model assumptions and missing data.

*Results*: Eighteen percent (N = 720) of mothers had less than HS education at respondent's birth. Multivariate regression and MSM suggested a 10-14% reduced CRP (MSM  $\beta$  = -13.8% [95% CI: -23.5%, -2.8%]) and a 30-40% reduced risk of metabolic syndrome (MSM OR = 0.60 [95% CI: 0.45, 0.80]) associated with higher maternal education, independent of mediators. MSM analyses suggested additional associations with reduced waist circumference (3 cm), BMI (1 kg/m2), and glycated hemoglobin (1.3%). Findings were robust to our sensitivity analyses.

*Conclusions*: Our models suggest a direct effect of maternal education on daughter's cardiometabolic risk. Further research should consider additional mechanisms responsible for maternal early-life risk exposures to offspring cardiometabolic risk.

### Background

Maternal external environment around the time of pregnancy influences maternal health and is important in the developmental origins of offspring adult health and disease, due to organ development and metabolic programming events that occur during the perinatal period.<sup>1, 2</sup> For instance, low maternal educational attainment is known to be a contributor to pregnancy stress, *e.g.* through resource availability and psychosocial preparedness for childbearing, that may contribute directly to excess fetal glucocorticoid exposure<sup>3-6</sup> and subsequent adult cardiometabolic risk.<sup>7</sup> Moreover, among female offspring, this mechanism may result in intergenerational transmission of disease risk through poor pregnancy outcomes.<sup>3-7</sup> However, studies associating maternal education with offspring cardiometabolic outcomes in adulthood have shown mixed results. While Bouhanick, *et al.* found maternal completion of compulsory education (16 years) to be independently associated with reduced risk of offspring metabolic syndrome at age 45,<sup>8</sup> Kvaavik, *et al.* found no association between maternal education and offspring body mass index, lipids, or blood pressure at 15, 25, or 40 years.<sup>9</sup>

These inconsistent findings may be due to varying covariate adjustment while estimating direct effects of maternal education independent of known mediators and confounders. The relationship between early life and adult cardiometabolic outcomes is likely complex and mediators such as child-rearing environment<sup>10, 11</sup> and adult socioeconomic stressors<sup>12, 13</sup> may themselves affect others mediators such as adolescent obesity or risky health behaviors.<sup>8-14</sup> In such a setting, the likelihood of unmeasured mediator-outcome confounding is high and the estimation of direct effects through conventional covariate adjustment and mediation analysis can be biased.<sup>15-17</sup> Other methods such as marginal structural models (MSMs) may better account for known psychosocial and biological mediators between maternal education and adult cardiometabolic risk.<sup>15-20</sup> Nonetheless,

MSMs are still susceptible to unmeasured confounding and assumptions about causal structure, warranting additional sensitivity analyses.<sup>21,22</sup>

The objective of the current study is to estimate whether maternal education at the time of her daughter's birth, has a direct effect on the daughter's body size, blood pressure, pulse, plasma glucose, inflammatory markers, and overall risk of metabolic syndrome in young adulthood, independent of known psychosocial and biological mediators: childhood maltreatment, adolescent overweight, adult socioeconomic status (SES), and adult smoking and physical activity. We improve on past work by incorporating life-course social and biological determinants of adulthood cardiometabolic risk in a causal mediation framework and conducting multiple sensitivity analyses to test robustness of findings to weight and model misspecification.

### Methods

### Study Setting

The current study was conducted in the setting of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health), a nationally-representative, longitudinal study of 7-12 grade United States adolescents that begun in 1994 (N = 90,118). In the Add Health study, in-home interviews were conducted with a core subset of respondents (randomly selected within school and sex strata) along with a parent, during which extensive information was collected on demographics, health, attitudes, behaviors, and environment. Additional respondents (and parents) were interviewed based on ethnic minority status, having siblings in the study, and/or being black with at least one college-educated parent (N = 20,745 individuals). Respondents first interviewed in Wave I were followed for up to three additional in-home interviews in 1996 (Wave II), 2001-2002 (Wave III), and 2007-2008 (Wave IV). Anthropometric measurements (Wave III) and capillary whole blood (Wave IV) were also collected. During Wave IV, 15,701 respondents (80.3% of eligible Wave I) were interviewed. Investigators calculated a grand sampling weight for respondents interviewed in all four waves to approximate the target population of U.S. adolescents in grades 7-11 in 1994-5.<sup>23</sup> This weight accounts for clustered sampling, attrition, and oversampling in longitudinal analyses.<sup>23</sup>

Additional information on respondent characteristics, sampling frame, and protocols can be found on the Add Health site: <u>www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/</u>. All data used for the current study were obtained through a restricted data access agreement between the University of Washington Center for Studies in Demography and Ecology (CSDE) and the Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research (ICPSR) at the University of Michigan. Research on these data has been approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Washington.

#### Study Population

Since we are interested in the potential intergenerational transmission of disease risk, respondents were included in this current study if they were women, had a biological mother interviewed during Wave I, and participated in Wave IV interview. There were 5,375 respondents available based on these criteria. We excluded 129 (2.4%) respondents without a reported maternal education and 1,256 (23.4%) missing a Wave IV longitudinal grand sampling weight due to non-response in previous waves. Individuals missing this weight cannot be used for analysis, since their contribution to the target population cannot be estimated. Since non-response patterns are accounted for in the weights of the remaining individuals, the bias due to these exclusions should be minimal.<sup>23</sup> Our final analytic data set included 4,026 respondents.

## Data Collection

*Primary Exposure* – During Wave I (1994-5), a respondent's mother was asked "How far did you go in school?" Responses were coded into three categories: less than high school diploma; high school diploma or GED certification, and completed college degree. Because we were interested in maternal education at or prior to respondent's birth, we capped completed education to less than high school if she gave birth at or prior to 16 years (n = 29) and high school diploma if she gave birth at or prior to 21 years (n = 93).

*Primary Outcomes* – Respondent's height, weight, waist circumference, blood pressure, and pulse rate were measured by study staff at Wave IV home visit. Mean arterial pressure (MAP = (systolic + 2 x diastolic) / 3), pulse pressure (PP = systolic – diastolic), and body mass index (BMI = weight in kilograms / height in meters squared) were calculated by study staff. Capillary whole blood was collected by finger stick, from which high-sensitivity C - reactive protein (hsCRP), glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), and plasma glucose were assayed. Additional details for sample collection and quantification protocols can be found under "Biological Data" at: <u>http://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/design/wave4</u>. We log-transformed hsCRP, HbA1c, and plasma glucose because their distributions were skewed.

*Metabolic Syndrome* - Metabolic syndrome was defined using the American Heart Association / National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Adult Treatment Panel III (ATP III) guidelines for women.<sup>24</sup> A respondent was defined to have evidence of metabolic syndrome by ATP III if she had three or more of the following: Waist circumference  $\geq$  88 cm, elevated triglycerides  $\geq$  150 mg/dL or on drug treatment, reduced HDL < 50 mg/dL, blood pressure greater than 130/85 mmHg, and/or fasting glucose  $\geq$  100 mg/dL or on drug treatment. To adapt these criteria to available data, we substituted self-reported high cholesterol for the lipid measures and HbA1c  $\geq$  5.7% for the glucose measure (since we did not have a fasting glucose measure). This cutoff for HbA1c is a potential marker for prediabetes.<sup>25</sup>

*Psychosocial mediators* – Childhood maltreatment<sup>10,11</sup> and adult socioeconomic status<sup>12,13</sup> are important psychosocial stressors in the respondent's life course that may lie in the causal pathway between maternal education and cardiometabolic risk. In line with previous investigations in Add Health,<sup>26</sup> we used self-reported incidents of neglect, physical abuse, and sexual abuse prior to 18 years of age to predict a maltreatment factor score. Factors scores were generated using principal component factor (PCF) analysis and quartimin rotations.<sup>27-29</sup> Adult socioeconomic status (SES) was measured prior to our outcomes using two variables from Wave III: Self-reported total household income in dollars or, if the woman could not provide an exact amount, one the following approximates: \$5,000; \$12,500; \$17,500; \$25,000; \$35,000; \$45,000; \$62,500; or \$100,000, based on the midpoint of categorical choices (capped at \$100,000); and last completed year of education. A factor score for adult SES was predicted from these two indicated by PCF analysis and

quartimin rotations. Maltreatment and adult SES factor scores were also dichotomized at their medians to high/low categories.

*Biological mediators* – Higher adolescent BMI and adult behavioral risk factors such as smoking and lack of physical activity increase adult cardiometabolic risk<sup>11, 12</sup> and may be a consequence of lower maternal education and/or psychosocial stressors.<sup>11</sup> Adolescent BMI was calculated from Wave I (mean age = 15) self-reported height and weight. Based on American Academy of Pediatrics guidelines, respondents up to 17 years old at Wave I were classified as having high childhood BMI if their BMI was greater than 85 percent of other respondents of the same age (Cutoff range: 25.3 – 27.3 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Respondents 18 years or older were classified as high BMI if their BMI met or exceeded 25 kg / m<sup>2</sup>, according to adult standards. A behavioral risk factor score was calculated from Wave IV self-report of number of cigarettes smoked per month and number of various recreational physical activity events in the past week, using PCF analyses and quartimin rotations. High behavioral risk was defined as having a score higher than the median factor score.

*Confounders* – Mother's age at respondent's birth is related to educational attainment and may be related to child-rearing practices and therefore psychosocial and biological stressors experienced by her daughter<sup>30,31</sup> Similarly, maternal self-reported race is related to educational opportunity and attainment, as well as social and biological stressors experienced by the daughter throughout her life course.<sup>32,33</sup> Maternal race was coded as non-Hispanic white, Hispanic white, black any ethnicity, or other non-white, with those reporting any mixed race not including black being accorded the last category. Both mother's age at respondent's birth and mother's self-reported race were included as confounders in all analyses.

### Statistical Analysis

We first examined univariate demographic characteristics of the study population accounting for survey design. Next, we estimated the direct effect of maternal education ( $X_i$ ) on the daughter's anthropometrics and cardiometabolic risk markers ( $Y_i$ ) in early adulthood, independent of the daughter's own life experiences, using two modelling approaches: Multivariate-adjusted linear (for continuous outcomes) or logistic (for dichotomous outcomes) regression models including all measured predictors of outcomes (Traditional Approach) and linear or logistic marginal structural models (MSM) estimated by inverse probability weights using dichotomous mediators (Causal Approach).

*Hypothesized causal structure* - In each model we attempted to estimate the controlled direct effect of  $X_i$  on  $Y_i$  after accounting for confounding by mother's age at daughter's birth  $(G_i)$  and mother's self-reported race  $(R_i)$ , as well as mediation / endogenous confounding by daughter's life-course psychosocial and biological stressors: high childhood maltreatment prior to 18 years  $(M_i)$ , adolescent overweight  $(O_i)$ , low adult SES  $(A_i)$ , and high adult behavioral risk  $(B_i)$ . The relationships between exposure, mediators, confounders, and outcome are constrained only by temporality (*Figure 1*): Mother's age and self-reported race precede all other factors, including mother's education at daughter's birth. Each of the mediators in the daughter's life course is hypothesized to also affect all subsequent mediators (*e.g.* child maltreatment affects adolescent overweight, adult SES, and adult behavioral risk).



Figure 1. Causal diagram of hypothesized life course determinants of cardiometabolic risk. Each exposure and mediator is assumed to have an effect on all other mediators that occur subsequent to it. Directed edges are drawn with different patterns based on their source for visual effect only; they do not reflect any addition knowledge or specification about relationships. The asterisk (\*) indicates the effect of interest: the direct effect of maternal education on daughter's cardiometabolic risk measures. Confounders (C) represent a vector including maternal age at daughter's birth (G) and maternal self-reported race (R).

*Traditional Approach: Multivariate regression* – We first estimated direct effects conventionally by fitting the following multivariate-adjusted linear regression model in which the primary exposure, confounders, and mediators are included as predictors of continuous outcomes (a corresponding logit model was fit for binary outcomes):

$$E[Y_i | X_i = x, R_i = r, G_i = g, M_i = m, O_i = o, A_i = a, B_i = b] =$$
(1)

$$\beta_0 + \beta_1 X + \beta_2 R + \beta_3 G + \beta_4 M + \beta_5 O + \beta_6 A + \beta_7 B$$

Under strong assumptions of no model misspecification, no interaction, and no unmeasured confounding,<sup>16</sup> it is possible for equation (1) to give an unbiased estimate of the causal direct effect of maternal education on daughter's anthropometrics and cardiometabolic risk makers as well as the causal direct effects of mediators. However, our model (*Figure 1*) implies mediator adjustment induces confounding through the mediator's parents (*i.e.* collider stratification bias). We use this as a baseline to explore effect estimates from different covariates functional forms.

*Causal Approach: MSM estimated by inverse probability weighting* – Next, we tested the controlled direct effect of maternal education ( $X_i$ ) on daughter's cardiometabolic risk markers ( $Y_i$ ) by fitting the following regression model:

$$E[Y_i | X_i = x, M_i = m, O_i = o, A_i = a, S_i = s] =$$
(2)

$$\beta_0 + \beta_1 X + \beta_2 M + \beta_3 O + \beta_4 A + \beta_5 B$$

weighting individual subjects by the inverse probability of their exposure to their given strata of G0 education, the baseline confounders, maternal age and race, and probability of exposure to the four dichotomous mediators. No interaction terms were included, as there was not consistent evidence of additive interaction between the exposure and each of the mediators. Stabilized weights<sup>34</sup> for G0 education ( $w_i^X$ ) were estimated by multinomial logistic regression to predict the probability for a given strata of G0 education given *C* confounders. Stabilized inverse probability weights (IPW) for mediators were calculated using logistic regression, giving regard to temporality (*Figure 1*):

G0 education: 
$$w_i^X = \frac{P(X = x_i)}{P(X = x_i | C = c_i)}$$
 (3)

Childhood maltreatment:

$$w_i^M = \frac{P(M = m_i | C = c_i)}{P(M = m_i | X = x_i, C = c_i)}$$
(4)

Adolescent overweight: 
$$w_i^O = \frac{P(O = o_i | C = c_i)}{P(O = o_i | X = x_i, M = m_i, C = c_i)}$$
(5)

Adult SES: 
$$w_i^A = \frac{P(A = a_i | C = c_i)}{P(A = a_i | X = x_i, M = m_i, 0 = o_i, C = c_i)}$$
(6)

Adult behavioral risk: 
$$w_i^B = \frac{P(B = b_i \mid C = c_i)}{P(B = b_i \mid X = x_i, M = m_i, 0 = o_i, A = a_i, C = c_i)}$$
(7)

A correctly specified MSM gives the controlled direct effect of *X* on *Y* in a marginal population in which, potentially counter to the fact, all individuals are "unexposed" to the mediators, in our model, a marginal G1 population at lower risk of childhood maltreatment, adolescent overweight, low adult SES, and adult behavioral risk.

Incorporating survey design – To account for sampling dependency introduced by the survey design and produce correct standard errors,<sup>23</sup> each weight was estimated with the *svy* option after using the Wave IV grand sampling weights, clustering, and stratification variables for the *svyset* command. An overall weight ( $W_{overall}$ ) was then generated for each subject using the product of the stabilized weights and the Wave IV grand sampling weight ( $w_{i}^{gsw}$ ):

Overall Weight: 
$$W_{overall} = w_i^X * w_i^M * w_i^O * w_i^A * w_i^{B*} w_i^{gsw}$$
(8)

The *svy* option was subsequently used to fit model (2) using  $W_{overall}$  for the *svyset* command. An analogous method was described by Brumback, *et al.* employing *PROC SURVEYREG* in SAS.<sup>35</sup>

## Sensitivity Analyses

Like other causal modeling methods, MSM effect estimations are subject to biases from misspecified causal models, mismeasurement, and unmeasured confounding.<sup>20,21</sup> We examined qualitative robustness of our original MSM estimates to IPW modifications, alternate mediation models, and data replacement.

*IPW Modification* - We re-fit model (2) after truncating inverse probability weights at the 1<sup>st</sup> / 99<sup>th</sup>, 5<sup>th</sup> / 95<sup>th</sup>, and 10<sup>th</sup> / 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles. We also re-fit model (2) after changing the dependencies in the IPW equations (4-7) to reverse the presumed temporal relationship between childhood maltreatment and adolescent overweight and between adult SES and adult behavioral risk.

*Alternate Mediation* – We re-fit model (2) using all discretely binary mediators, rather than dichotomized factor scores. Namely, childhood maltreatment was recoded as any or no episodes of neglect, physical abuse, or sexual abuse, adult SES was recoded as high school graduate at Wave III or not, and adult behavioral risk was recoded as any smoking and no physical activity. Adolescent BMI remained dichotomized at 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Since approximately 20% of our respondents still lived with parents at Wave III, we also re-fit model (2) adding respondent's Wave VI (mean age = 28) SES as an additional mediator. Wave IV SES was defined by a factor score predicted from total household income, attained education, and an indicator if respondent would "still be in debt," "break even," or "have some left over" if she sold all of her assets to pay off her debts. This mediator was presumed to occur after Wave III SES, but prior to adult behavioral risk.

*Data replacement* – Finally, we tested sensitivity to missing values by alternately replacing all missing values for binary mediators to be alternately, an indicator of cardiometabolic risk (*e.g.* missing value for adult SES replaced with indicator of low adult SES) or an indicator of protection (*e.g.* missing value for adult SES replace with indicator of high adult SES).

All data processing and analysis were conducted in STATA 12.1 MP (College Station, TX).

### Results

Twenty-three percent (N = 919), 59% (N = 2,387), and 18% (N = 720) of respondents had mothers who reported at least a college degree, at least a high school diploma or GED, or less than a high school education, respectively (*Table 1*). The corresponding proportions accounting for survey design are 21%, 62%, and 17%, respectively. Accounting for survey design, 72% percent and 15% of mothers fell into study-defined categories of non-Hispanic white and black, respectively. Daughters of mothers with less than a high school education had a 14% greater prevalence of metabolic syndrome than daughters of college-educated mothers (21% versus 7%, respectively). Daughters of mother's with less than a high school educated prevalence of any childhood physical abuse) and behavioral risk factors (*e.g.* 9% greater prevalence of adult smoking) compared to daughters of college-educated mothers.

Using covariate adjustment for confounders and mediators, we estimated that each higher level of maternal education is independently associated with a 1 beat-per-minute (bpm) slower (-2.2, -0.2) resting pulse rate, 10% lower (-19%, -0.5%) hsCRP, and 28% lower risk (OR = 0.72, [95 CI: 0.55, 0.94]) of metabolic syndrome in the daughter (*Table 2*).

In MSM analyses, we found each higher level of maternal education had a direct effect of 3 cm decreased (-4.8, -1.6) waist circumference, 1 kg/m<sup>2</sup> decreased (-1.7, -0.2) BMI, 2 bpm slower (-2.7, -0.8) resting pulse rate, 14% lower (-23.55, -2.7%) hsCRP, and 1.3% lower (-1.9%, -0.7%) HbA1c, as well as 28% decreased risk (OR = 0.72, [95% CI: 0.57, 0.90])

of overweight and 40% decreased risk (0.45, 0.80) of metabolic syndrome in the daughter (*Table 3*).

Table 1. Study population characteristics, by maternal educational attainment.				
	Maternal educational attainment			
% (N) / mean (SD)	Overall	< High School	High School Dinloma	College Diploma or
, (N) / mean (00)	overail	Dinloma	or GFD	Higher
	(N = 4.026)	(n = 720)	(n = 2.387)	(n = 919)
Mother	(11 1)020)	(11 / 20)	(11 2,507)	(11 515)
% White	60 9% (2 434)	38 6% (276)	65 3% (1 550)	66 9% (608)
Age at daughter's birth (years)	25.9 (5.3)	24.5 (6.3)	25.3 (5.1)	28.6 (4.0)
	2010 (010)	(0.0)	2010 (012)	2010 ( 110)
Daughter – Childhood / Adolescent				
Ever neglected before age 18	49.9% (1,991)	50.9% (364)	50.8% (1,202)	46.8% (425)
Ever physically abused before age 18	15.2% (607)	19.7% (140)	15.5% (368)	10.9% (99)
Ever sexually abused before age 18	6.5% (261)	7.5% (53)	7.2% (170)	4.2% (38)
BMI at Wave I $(kg/m^2)$	22.2 (4.5)	23.2 (4.5)	22.3 (4.6)	21.3 (4.0)
Daughter - Adulthood				
Years of formal education by Wave III	13.4 (1.9)	12.3 (1.7)	13.3 (1.8)	14.4 (1.7)
% High school graduate by Wave III	90.1% (3 <i>,</i> 625)	78.2% (563)	90.7% (2,163)	97.9% (899)
Average annual household income in	31,510	28,533 (28,382)	31,418 (38,251)	34,079 (44,237)
Wave III (dollars)*	(38,220)			
% Daily smoker at Waye IV	17.8% (712)	18.9% (135)	20.1% (477)	10.9% (100)
Physical activity events in past week at	5.5 (5.3)	5.1 (5.2)	5.4 (5.2)	6.3 (5.4)
Wave IV	()	()		
Daughter - Adult Cardiometabolic				
Measures				
Height (cm)	163.7 (7.2)	161.9 (6.9)	163.8 (7.1)	164.9 (7.3)
Weight (kg)	77.9 (22.3)	81.4 (23.9)	78.5 (22.1)	73.5 (20.7)
Waist circumference (cm)	96.6 (18.2)	100.9 (18.7)	97.3 (18.2)	91.6 (16.5)
BMI (kg/m²)	29.1 (8.1)	31.0 (8.9)	29.2 (7.9)	27.0 (7.4)
Overweight (BMI > 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	37.1% (1,475)	47.5% (335)	38.1% (902)	26.3% (238)
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	119.8 (12.5)	120.3 (12.8)	120.1 (12.5)	118.6 (12.3)
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	76.8 (9.7)	77.3 (9.8)	76.9 (9.6)	75.9 (9.8)
Mean arterial pressure (mmHg)	91.1 (10.0)	91.6 (10.3)	91.3 (10.0)	90.1 (10.0)
Pulse rate (bpm)	75.9 (11.5)	76.7 (11.4)	76.4 (11.5)	74.0 (11.5)
Pulse pressure (mmHg)	43.0 (7.9)	43.0 (7.7)	43.2 (8.0)	42.6 (7.7)
Median random glucose (mg/dL)	101 (33.2)	100 (33,3)	101 (36.0)	100 (24.1)
Median HbA1c (%)	5.5 (0.76)	5.5 (0.77)	5.5 (0.78)	5.4 (0.56)
Median plasma hsCRP	2.9 (9.4)	4.1 (9.2)	3.0 (9.9)	2.3 (8.0)
Diagnosed high cholesterol / lipids	7.3% (292)	7.9% (57)	7.0% (167)	7.4% (68)
Evidence of metabolic syndrome**	12.3% (497)	17.9% (129)	12.4% (296)	7.8% (72)

\* Average household income is either the combined income of the daughter and her spouse / partner or the daughter and her family, if she lives with parents.

\*\* Based on AHA/NCEP guidelines, we classified a woman as having evidence of metabolic syndrome if she has at least three of the following: waist circumference ≥ 88 cm, HbA1c ≥ 5.7%, systolic blood pressure ≥ 130 mmHg, diastolic blood pressure ≥ 85 mmHg, and/or physician diagnosis of high cholesterol.

Our sensitivity analyses using truncated inverse probability weights (*Table 4*), altered causal ordering of mediators (*Table 5*), discrete categorization of mediators (*Table 6*), an additional indicator of respondent's Wave IV SES (*Table 7*), and missing mediator value replacement (*Table 8*), did not substantially alter the MSM estimates of direct effects.

Table 2. Multivariate regression estimates of maternal education effect on daughter's cardiometabolic risk.			
Linear Regression Estimates ( <sup>*</sup> p < 0.0	05; <sup>**</sup> p < 0.005; <sup>***</sup> p < 0.0005)		
Measures	в, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value	
Height (cm)	0.91 [0.42, 1.40]	0.0003***	
Weight (kg)	0.83 [-0.64, 2.30]	0.267	
Waist circumference (cm)	-1.14 [-2.43, 0.15]	0.083	
BMI (kg/m²)	0.006 [-0.48, 0.49]	0.981	
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.02 [-0.97, 1.01]	0.970	
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.06 [-0.82, 0.71]	0.885	
Mean arterial pressure (mmHg)	-0.03 [-0.83, 0.77]	0.939	
Pulse rate (beats per minute)	-1.19 [-2.17, -0.21]	0.018 <sup>*</sup>	
Pulse pressure (mmHg)	0.08 [-0.51, 0.66]	0.801	
Log hsCRP	-0.11 [-0.21, -0.005]	0.039*	
(untransformed hsCRP)	(-10.3% [-19.1%, -0.5%])		
Log HbA1c	-0.006 [-0.013, 0.001]	0.100	
(untransformed HbA1c)	(-0.6% [-1.3%, 0.1%])	0.100	
Log glucose	-0.002 [-0.019, 0.015]	0.788	
(untransformed random plasma glucose)	(-0.2% [-1.9%, 1.5%])		
Logistic regression estimates	( <sup>*</sup> p < 0.05; <sup>**</sup> p < 0.005)		
Measures	OR, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value	
Overweight (BMI > 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) at Wave IV (mean age = 28)	1.06 [0.88, 1.27]	0.532	
Evidence of metabolic syndrome <sup><math>t</math></sup>	0.72 [0.55, 0.94]	0.016*	
Note: Models and the linear according between increasing ,	antownal advantion frame chick ask as	Ita high ashaal	

Note: Models are the linear association between increasing maternal education from < high school to high school graduate (or, high school graduate to college graduate) and either continuous outcome (linear regression), or log odds of binary outcome (logistic regression).

Models are adjusted for: Maternal race and age at birth; Daughter's BMI at Wave I (mean age = 15); frequency of childhood neglect, physical or sexual abuse; years of education and household income at Wave III (mean age = 22); number of cigarettes smoked in the past month; and number of physical activity events in the last week.

<sup>+</sup> Based on AHA/NCEP guidelines, we classified women has having evidence of metabolic syndrome if she has at least three of the following: waist circumference ≥ 88 cm, HbA1c ≥ 5.7%, systolic blood pressure ≥ 130 mmHg, diastolic blood pressure ≥ 85 mmHg, and/or physician diagnosis of high cholesterol.

Linear Regression Estimates (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.005; ** p < 0.0005)			
Height (cm)	1.06 [0.56, 1.55]	4.2 x 10 <sup>-5***</sup>	
Weight (kg)	-1.60 [-3.60, 0.39]	0.115	
Waist circumference (cm)	-3.18 [-4.78, -1.57]	0.0001***	
BMI (kg/m²)	-0.95 [-1.69, -0.21]	0.012*	
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.50 [-1.53, 0.54]	0.344	
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.55 [-1.35, 0.24]	0.169	
Mean arterial pressure (mmHg)	-0.53 [-1.36, 0.29]	0.204	
Pulse rate (beats per minute)	-1.78 [-2.74, -0.81]	0.0004***	
Pulse pressure (mmHg)	0.06 [-0.58, 0.70]	0.862	
Log hsCRP	-0.15 [-0.27, -0.028]	0.016*	
(untransformed hsCRP)	(-13.8% [-23.5%, -2.8%])	0.016	
Log HbA1c	-0.013 [-0.019, -0.007]		
(untransformed HbA1c)	(-1.3% [-1.9%, -0.7%])	0.0001	
Log glucose	-0.006 [-0.021, 0.010]	0.464	
(untransformed random plasma glucose)	(-0.6% [-2.1%, 1.0%])	0.464	
Logistic regression estimates	s ( <sup>*</sup> p < 0.05; <sup>**</sup> p < 0.005)		
Outcome	OR, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value	
Overweight (BMI > 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) at Wave IV (mean age = 28)	0.72 [0.57, 0.90]	0.005**	
Evidence of metabolic syndrome $^{\dagger}$	0.60 [0.45, 0.80]	0.001**	
Note: Models are the linear association between increasing	maternal education from < high sch	ool to high school	

Table 3. Marginal structural model estimates of maternal education direct effect on various cardiometabolic measures estimated by inverse probability weighting.

Note: Models are the linear association between increasing maternal education from < high school to high school graduate (or, high school graduate to college graduate) and either continuous outcome (linear regression) or log odds of binary outcome (logistic regression).

The controlled direct effect of maternal education on cardiometabolic outcomes are estimated by adjusting for the following mediators: high childhood maltreatment; adolescent overweight; low adult SES (education and income); and high behavioral risk (high smoking and no physical activity), while weighting the sample using the inverse probability of, jointly: each of these mediators, the primary exposure, and survey sampling.

The mediators are assumed to occur in the order listed above, meaning each mediator only has effects on the mediators subsequent to them. The effect is estimated for a marginal population where each individual has equal probability of exposure and mediators.

<sup>†</sup> Based on AHA/NCEP guidelines, we classified women has having evidence of metabolic syndrome if she has at least three of the following: waist circumference ≥ 88 cm, HbA1c ≥ 5.7%, systolic blood pressure ≥ 130 mmHg, diastolic blood pressure ≥ 85 mmHg, and/or physician diagnosis of high cholesterol.

# Discussion

We found robust evidence that attained maternal education at the time of a daughter's birth

has a direct effect on the daughter's adult body size, pulse rate, inflammatory state, glucose

control, and risk of metabolic syndrome. While some of these associations were observed

when using conventional covariate adjustment models, evidence for a direct effect of maternal education on daughter's adult cardiometabolic measures was uniformly stronger when estimated by MSM, which is more robust to unmeasured mediator-outcome confounding.<sup>16</sup> Moreover, the qualitative interpretation of estimates from the MSM approach did not change under any of our sensitivity analyses for modeling assumptions and missing data.

A number of studies have investigated associations between childhood socioeconomic status (SES) and adult cardiometabolic outcomes.<sup>11, 18, 38</sup> A systematic review by Tamayo, et al. found some evidence for an independent association between parental SES, including parental education, and type 2 diabetes and obesity among adult offspring.<sup>11</sup> The authors also identified childhood neglect and obesity and adult SES and health behaviors as important mediators.<sup>11</sup> However, various investigators have highlighted significant weaknesses in the overall body of evidence due to the substantial heterogeneity in choice of exposure measures,<sup>11, 18</sup> inconsistencies in accounting for life course psychosocial and adult SES measures,<sup>11, 18</sup> and reliance on conventional regression methods<sup>18, 38</sup> which are particularly vulnerable to unmeasured and endogenous confounding. For example, Bouhanick, et al. found offspring from the British National Child Development Study whose mothers had not completed compulsory education (16 years) by the time of the child's birth had a 47% (OR = 1.47 [95% CI: 1.30 to 1.67]) higher risk of metabolic syndrome at age 45 after adjusting for maternal antenatal characteristics.<sup>8</sup> However, Kvaavik, *et al.* found no association between maternal education (categories: elementary, high school, high/comprehensive school, some college/university, completed college/university), ascertained approximately 13 years postpartum (i.e. and not at the time of birth), and offspring body mass index, lipids, or blood pressure at 15, 25, or 40 years in a Norwegian cohort, with or without adjustment for offspring characteristics.<sup>9</sup> Our study improves on past work by focusing on maternal education at daughter's birth as the exposure of interest,

explicitly incorporating salient mediators identified in past literature, and implementing MSM and associated sensitivity analyses.

Maternal education at offspring birth may be a particularly important determinant of offspring cardiometabolic risk because of the association between lower maternal education attainment and exposure to greater stress during pregnancy.<sup>7, 30</sup> Lower maternal educational attainment may increase fetal exposure to cortisol<sup>3, 41</sup> and, in turn, this exposure to excess glucocorticoids may program poor life-time metabolic control and stress response in the offspring.<sup>3, 4, 6</sup> One recent study found lower maternal education to be associated with increased placental expression of glucocorticoid-related genes.<sup>41</sup> In related work, we found maternal education at offspring's birth to be related to glucocorticoidrelated gene methylation in young adult women (Huang, et al.; manuscript in progress). Therefore, maternal educational attainment prior to offspring birth may a better indicator that paternal occupation or educational attainment. We utilized a measure of maternal education that was truncated based on her age at daughter's birth. In our analytic population, this affected 3% of mothers, limiting their educational attainment to either high school graduate or less than high school. In fact, when we did not perform this truncation, therefore utilizing maternal education as a measure of childhood (rather than perinatal) SES, our estimates of effect were slightly reduced (*results not shown*).

Another strength of our study was the inclusion of childhood maltreatment, prospectively collected adolescent BMI, adult SES, and adult smoking and physical activity, in our models. These are identified mediators of early life SES-adult cardiometabolic risk associations.<sup>11</sup> Moreover, we account for these mediators by employing a causal framework and MSM estimation by IPW. Prior studies employing traditional covariate adjustment for mediators may have produced biased estimates due to collider stratification: Using our proposed causal diagram as an example (*Figure 1*), the common practice of adjusting for adolescent overweight<sup>11</sup> would bias the association between maternal education and child

maltreatment, and consequently bias estimates of the direct effect of maternal education, even if child maltreatment is additionally adjusted for.<sup>16, 39</sup> Indeed, we found effect estimates to be smaller, and possibly negligible for waist circumference and HbA1c, when using the "traditional approach" of simple covariate-adjustment of our mediators (*Table 2*). Similarly, Nandi, *et al.* found a direct effect of childhood SES on risk of cardiovascular disease and diabetes was only observed using MSM but not when using covariate adjustment.<sup>18</sup> Our study extends this work to other identified mediators, suggesting that their observed direct effects on cardiovascular disease may be explain in part by risk factor development in early adulthood.

Two other strengths are worth noting: First, despite our study population exclusions, mothers in our study were similar to the distribution of race and educational attainment of all U.S. adult women in 1994-5 as estimated by the U.S. Census Bureau.<sup>36, 37</sup> This suggests that effects estimated may also be generalizable to the cohort of U.S. female offspring aging into young adulthood in 2008-9. Additionally, our work corroborates past work in the Add Health population which found an association between higher parental education (highest degree or certificate between mother and father) and a 5% lower C-reactive protein concentration among white women.<sup>40</sup> We extend this previous study by investigating maternal education at the time of daughter's birth, better characterizing exposure at a critical period of development, and including salient mediators within a causal framework.

Potential limitations to our study deserve mention. First, our current study is based on complete case analyses. While there was relatively complete data on covariates, we were missing survey weights on a substantial proportion (23.4%) of our potential study population. To the extent that individuals who were lost to follow-up by Wave IV may differ from our available population, our estimates may be biased. However, individuals missing weights did not differ substantially from our analytic population with regards to maternal education, daughter's mediators, or outcome measures (*data not shown*). Additionally, 187 (4.6%) subjects were missing Wave III adult SES measures. However, our data replacement techniques (*Table 8*) showed replacing all mediator values with either extreme (*i.e.* indicator of risk or protection) did not substantially alter results. However, we cannot exclude the possibility that some other pattern of missing-ness may alter our interpretations. Additionally, it is possible a combination of one or more unmeasured confounders may fully explain our findings. Initially we had intended to perform a quantitative bias analysis for this possibility, in line with related work regarding pregnancy outcomes (Huang, *et al.*; manuscript in progress). However, due to the strengths of associations found, the bias analysis was judged to be unhelpful: For example, to fully explain the observed reduction in waist circumference, a confounder(s) would have to be unbalanced by more than 30% across educational levels and cause a 5 centimeter change. Nonetheless, we explored the possibility that several other potential confounders available from the data, including maternal report of breastfeeding duration and respondent's age, might explain our findings. However, neither variable changed estimates for any of our models.

Finally, we may have introduced residual confounding in our MSM estimates due to use of factor scores and dichotomized mediators. To verify that our results were not simply due to the parameterization of our mediators, we ran unweighted regression models adjusted for confounders and dichotomized mediators and found results similar to our conventionally adjusted models. Also, similar findings from MSM using discrete mediators (*Table 6*) and adding a Wave IV adult SES mediator (*Table 7*) reduces the likelihood that residual confounding may explain our findings.

In summary, we incorporated existing knowledge about child- and adulthood socioeconomic and biological determinants of cardiometabolic risk to conduct a causal framework-based investigation of maternal education at offspring birth, an indicator of perinatal exposure to SES-related stressors, and cardiometabolic risk in young adult women. We provide evidence for the direct effect of higher maternal education on thinness, reduced inflammatory markers, better glucose control, and lower overall risk of metabolic syndrome, independent of important mediating factors: childhood maltreatment, adolescent overweight, adult SES, and smoking and physical activity. Future empirical work should also consider the relevant causal components of education, improve measurement of other life course variables, and consider additional causal estimation methods that can relax more modeling assumptions.

More broadly, this study contributes to the empirical evidence that interventions to prevent socioeconomic disparities must consider the early life and correspondingly, ascertaining the effect of such interventions may require measuring outcomes across multiple generations. Our findings suggest traditional covariate adjustment may mask early life SES-adult disease associations due to causal relationships between risk factors across the life course. The findings of this study and others employing MSM to estimate effects of early life SES on adult health suggest causal frameworks should be incorporated explicitly in future similar investigations.

Table 4. Marginal structural model estimates of maternal education direct effect on various cardiometabolic			
$\frac{1}{1}$			
Outcome	β, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value	
Height (cm)	1.14 [0.69, 1.59]	1.6 x 10 <sup>-6***</sup>	
Weight (kg)	-1.84 [-3.47, -0.20]	0.028 <sup>*</sup>	
Waist circumference (cm)	-3.16 [-4.49, -1.84]	6.1 x 10 <sup>-6***</sup>	
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-1.06 [-1.67, -0.45]	0.001**	
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.54 [-1.48, 0.40]	0.260	
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.58 [-1.34, 0.18]	0.135	
Mean arterial pressure (mmHg)	-0.57 [-1.34, 0.21]	0.153	
Pulse rate (beats per minute)	-1.77 [-2.72, -0.82]	0.0003***	
Pulse pressure (mmHg)	-0.04 [-0.54, 0.63]	0.887	
Log hsCRP (untransformed hsCRP)	-0.16 [-0.27, -0.05] (-14.9% [-23.6%, -5.2%])	0.004**	
Log HbA1c (untransformed HbA1c)	-0.013 [-0.019, -0.007] (-1.3% [-1.9%, -0.7%])	3.3 x 10 <sup>-5***</sup>	
Log glucose (untransformed random plasma glucose)	-0.004 [-0.019, 0.010] (-0.4% [-1.9%, 1.0%])	0.538	
Logistic regression estimates ( <sup>*</sup> p < 0.05; <sup>**</sup> p < 0.005; <sup>***</sup> p < 0.0005)			
Outcome	OR, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value	
Overweight (BMI > 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) at Wave IV (mean age = 28)	0.72 [0.59, 0.88]	0.001**	
Evidence of metabolic syndrome <sup>++</sup>	0.64 [0.48, 0.85]	0.002**	

### **Additional Tables for Sensitivity Analyses**

Note: Models are the linear association between increasing maternal education from < high school to high school graduate (or, high school graduate to college graduate) and either continuous outcome (linear regression) or log odds of binary outcome (logistic regression).

The controlled direct effect of maternal education on cardiometabolic outcomes are estimated by adjusting for the following mediators: high childhood maltreatment; adolescent overweight; low adult SES (education and income); and high behavioral risk (high smoking and no physical activity), while weighting the sample using the inverse probability of, jointly: each of these mediators, the primary exposure, and survey sampling.

The mediators are assumed to occur in the order listed above, meaning each mediator only has effects on the mediators subsequent to them. The effect is estimated for a marginal population where each individual has equal probability of exposure and mediators. This model was estimated by truncating the estimated weights at the 5<sup>th</sup> and 95<sup>th</sup> percentile to limit influential individuals at the extremes.

<sup>+</sup> Based on AHA/NCEP guidelines, we classified women has having evidence of metabolic syndrome if she has at least three of the following: waist circumference ≥ 88 cm, HbA1c ≥ 5.7%, systolic blood pressure ≥ 130 mmHg, diastolic blood pressure ≥ 85 mmHg, and/or physician diagnosis of high cholesterol.
Linear Regression Estimates ( $p < 0.05$ ; $*^{p} < 0.005$ ; $*^{p} < 0.005$ )					
Outcome	β, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value			
Height (cm)	1.06 [0.57, 1.55]	3.9 x 10 <sup>-5***</sup>			
Weight (kg)	-1.62 [-3.61, -0.36]	0.107			
Waist circumference (cm)	-3.20 [-4.79, -1.61]	0.0001***			
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-0.96 [-1.69, -0.23]	0.011*			
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.50 [-1.53, 0.53]	0.337			
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.55 [-1.34, 0.24]	0.168			
Mean arterial pressure (mmHg)	-0.54 [-1.36, 0.29]	0.201			
Pulse rate (beats per minute)	-1.78 [-2.74, -0.81]	0.0004***			
Pulse pressure (mmHg)	0.05 [-0.58, 0.69]	0.872			
Log hsCRP	-0.15 [-0.27, -0.03]	0.014*			
(untransformed hsCRP)	(-14.0% [-23.7%, -3.0%])	0.014			
Log HbA1c	-0.012 [-0.019, -0.007]	0 0001 ***			
(untransformed HbA1c)	(-1.3% [-1.9%, -0.7%])	0.0001			
Log glucose	-0.006 [-0.021, 0.010]	0.464			
(untransformed random plasma glucose)	(-0.6% [-2.1%, 1.0%])	0.404			
Logistic regression estimates ( <sup>*</sup> p < 0.05; <sup>**</sup> p < 0.005; <sup>***</sup> p < 0.0005)					
Outcome	OR, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value			
Overweight (BMI > 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) at Wave IV (mean age = 28)	0.72 [0.57, 0.90]	0.004**			
Evidence of metabolic syndrome <sup><math>^{+}</math></sup>	0.60 [0.45, 0.91]	0.001**			
Note: Madela and the linear reprinting between increasing mathematical duration from this back of the bigh achord					

 Table 5. Marginal structural model estimates of maternal education direct effect on various cardiometabolic

 measures estimated by inverse probability weighting – Presumed causal ordering changed.

Note: Models are the linear association between increasing maternal education from < high school to high school graduate (or, high school graduate to college graduate) and either continuous outcome (linear regression) or log odds of binary outcome (logistic regression).

The controlled direct effect of maternal education on cardiometabolic outcomes are estimated by adjusting for the following mediators: adolescent overweight; high childhood maltreatment; high behavioral risk (high smoking and no physical activity); and low adult SES (education and income), while weighting the sample using the inverse probability of, jointly: each of these mediators, the primary exposure, and survey sampling.

The mediators are assumed to occur in the order listed above, meaning each mediator only has effects on the mediators subsequent to them. As shown by the list, this model differs from Tables 3 and 4 in that the presumed order of the two childhood mediators (maltreatment and overweight) and the two adulthood mediators (SES and risk factors) are both swapped.

<sup>+</sup> Based on AHA/NCEP guidelines, we classified women has having evidence of metabolic syndrome if she has at least three of the following: waist circumference  $\geq$  88 cm, HbA1c  $\geq$  5.7%, systolic blood pressure  $\geq$  130 mmHg, diastolic blood pressure  $\geq$  85 mmHg, and/or physician diagnosis of high cholesterol.

measures estimated by inverse p	robability weighting – Discrete mediator	s.	
Linear Regression Estimates	; ( <sup>*</sup> p < 0.05; <sup>**</sup> p < 0.005; <sup>***</sup> p < 0.0005)		
Outcome	β, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value	
Height (cm)	0.99 [0.51, 1.48]	0.0001***	
Weight (kg)	-1.25 [-3.21, 0.70]	0.206	
Waist circumference (cm)	-2.48 [-3.94, -1.02]	0.001**	
BMI (kg/m²)	-0.81 [-1.52, -0.11]	0.023*	
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.30 [-1.28, 0.67]	0.538	
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.36 [-1.10, 0.38]	0.338	
Mean arterial pressure (mmHg)	-0.34 [-1.11, 0.42]	0.379	
Pulse rate (beats per minute)	-1.84 [-2.93, -0.75]	0.001**	
Pulse pressure (mmHg)	0.06 [-0.60, 0.71]	0.864	
Log hsCRP	-0.16 [-0.29, -0.024]	0.021*	
(untransformed hsCRP)	(-14.5% [-25.0%, -2.4%])	0.021	
Log HbA1c	Log HbA1c -0.013 [-0.021, -0.005]		
(untransformed HbA1c)	(-1.3% [-2.1%, -0.5%])	0.002	
Log glucose	-0.004 [-0.022, 0.014]	0 650	
(untransformed random plasma glucose)	(-0.4% [-2.2%, 1.4%])	0.059	
Logistic regression estimates	s ( <sup>*</sup> p < 0.05; <sup>**</sup> p < 0.005; <sup>***</sup> p < 0.0005)		
Outcome	OR, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value	
Overweight (BMI > 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) at Wave IV	0.72 [0.59, 0.88]	0.002**	
Evidence of metabolic syndrome	0.62 [0.48, 0.80]	0.0003***	
ote: This model is similar to that from Table 3 with t	he exception that values for binary medic	ntors are redefined	

Table 6. Marginal structural model estimates of maternal education direct effect on various cardiometabolic measures estimated by inverse probability weighting – Discrete mediators.

Note: This model is similar to that from Table 3 with the exception that values for binary mediators are redefined as follows: High childhood maltreatment = any episodes of neglect, physical, or sexual abuse; High adolescent  $BMI = 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ; low early adult SES = high school education or less; and high adult risk factors = any self-reported cigarette smoking and no physical activity. Thus, no factor scores were used.

Linear Regression Estimates (	p < 0.05; p < 0.005; p < 0.0005)		
Outcome	β, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value	
Height (cm)	0.88 [0.35, 1.41]	0.001**	
Weight (kg)	-1.27 [-3.55, 1.01]	0.274	
Waist circumference (cm)	-2.80 [-4.72, -0.89]	0.004 <sup>**</sup>	
BMI (kg/m²)	-0.76 [-1.61, -0.08]	0.076	
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.19 [-1.30, 0.91]	0.732	
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.35 [-1.21, 0.51]	0.417	
Mean arterial pressure (mmHg)	-0.30 [-1.19, 0.59]	0.508	
Pulse rate (beats per minute)	-1.76 [-2.77, -0.76]	0.001**	
Pulse pressure (mmHg)	0.16 [-0.52, 0.84]	0.640	
Log hsCRP	-0.13 [-0.27, 0.01]	0.060	
(untransformed hsCRP)	(-12.1% [-23.6%, 1.0%])	0.069	
Log HbA1c	-0.012 [-0.021, -0.004]	0.005*	
(untransformed HbA1c)	(-1.2% [-2.1%, -0.4%])		
Log glucose	-0.014 [-0.031, 0.004]	0 1 2 1	
(untransformed random plasma glucose)	(-1.4% [-3.1%, 0.4%])	0.131	
Logistic regression estimates (	<sup>*</sup> p < 0.05; <sup>**</sup> p < 0.005; <sup>***</sup> p < 0.0005)		
Outcome	OR, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value	
Overweight (BMI > 25 kg/m²) at Wave IV	0.78 [0.58, 1.05]	0.104	
Evidence of metabolic syndrome0.72 [0.52, 1.01]0.05			

Table 7. Marginal structural model estimates of maternal education direct effect on various cardiometabolic measures estimated by inverse probability weighting – Add Low Wave IV SES as a mediator.

Note: This model is similar to that from Table 3 with the exception low SES at Wave IV (mean age = 28) was included as an additional mediator, causally situated subsequent to low SES at Wave II but prior to Wave IV risk. SES at Wave IV was estimated by principle components factor analysis of last school completed, total household income, and a self-report of whether an individual would "still be in debt," "break even," or "have some left over" if they sold all their assets and used all savings to pay off debts, all at time of Wave IV interview. The predicted factor score was then dichotomized at the median with lower than median scores considered low SES.

Linear Regression Estimates (* p < )	0.05; <sup>**</sup> p < 0.005; <sup>***</sup> p < 0.0005)		
Outcome	β, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value	
Height (cm)	1.02 [0.53, 1.50]	0.0001***	
Weight (kg)	-1.84 [-3.79, 0.11]	0.064	
Waist circumference (cm)	-3.23 [-4.79, -1.67]	0.0001***	
BMI (kg/m²)	-1.02 [-1.73, -0.32]	0.005	
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.58 [-1.54, 0.37]	0.230	
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.60 [-1.37, 0.17]	0.123	
Mean arterial pressure (mmHg)	-0.60 [-1.38, 0.19]	0.136	
Pulse rate (beats per minute)	-1.57 [-2.49, -0.66]	$0.001^{**}$	
Pulse pressure (mmHg)	0.02 [-0.58, 0.62]	0.955	
Log hsCRP	-0.11 [-0.23, 0.01]	0.070	
(untransformed hsCRP)	(-10.1% [-20.2%, 1.2%])	0.076	
Log HbA1c -0.013 [-0.019, -0.007]		2 4 ··· 10 <sup>-5***</sup>	
(untransformed HbA1c)	(-1.3% [-1.9%, -0.7%])	3.4 X 10	
Log glucose	-0.002 [-0.017, 0.012]	0 707	
(untransformed random plasma glucose)	(-0.2% [-1.7%, 1.2%])	0.737	
Logistic regression estimates ( <sup>*</sup> p <	0.05; **p < 0.005; ***p < 0.0005)		
Outcome	OR, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value	
Dverweight (BMI > 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) at Wave IV (mean age = 28)	0.73 [0.60, 0.88]	0.001**	
Evidence of metabolic syndrome <sup><math>tt</math></sup> 0.61 [0.47, 0.80] 0.0			

 Table 8. Marginal structural model estimates of maternal education direct effect on various cardiometabolic

 measures estimated by inverse probability weighting – Missing mediator values replaced.

Note: This model is identical to that from Table 3 with the except that missing values for the mediators high childhood maltreatment, high childhood BMI, low adult SES, and high adult risk factors were assumed to an indicator of risk. For example, if a subject was missing a value for high childhood BMI, this model assumes the individual did indeed have a BMI  $\ge 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$ .

(End Chapter 1)

# Chapter 2 – Direct effect of grandmaternal educational attainment on birth weight and associated bias analyses

## Abstract

*Background*: Distinguishing early life determinants of offspring low birth weight from more proximal determinants (*i.e.* life course characteristics) has been challenging. We examined the direct effect of grandmother's (G0) education at the time of mother's (G1) birth on offspring (G2) birth weight (BW).

*Methods*: Using the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (1995-2009), we identified G1 and their first, live singleton (G2) (N = 1,681 pairs). G0 education was defined as less than high school (HS), HS diploma or equivalent, or college degree at G1 birth. We fit a structural equation model (SEM) incorporating G1 mediators: childhood maltreatment, pre-pregnancy overweight, low adult education and income, and prenatal smoking. Using marginal structural models (MSM), we estimated the controlled direct effect of G0 education on G2 BW independent of these mediators. We evaluated sensitivity to alternative models incorporating pre-term birth, modified weights, and data replacement. We used quantitative bias analysis to examine unmeasured confounding of the direct effect.

*Results*: Mean BW (G2) was 3,259 grams and increased across G0 education (3,171; 3,267; and 3,339 grams, respectively). SEM estimated 54-grams increased G2 BW per higher level of G0 education (95% Confidence Interval: -14.0, 122.1), while MSM estimated 89-grams increased G2 BW (95% CI: 20.8, 156.5) in a marginal population. This estimate did not change substantively under sensitivity scenarios. Quantitative bias analysis suggested a single, unmeasured confounder would have to differ by more than 15% between exposure groups and affect BW by more than 150 grams to completely explain findings.

*Conclusions*: Our models suggest a direct effect of grandmaternal education on grandchild birth weight. This effect is robust to some model misspecification and unmeasured confounding.

## Background

Early life socioeconomic differences may contribute to a woman's risk of low birth weight delivery, despite adult health<sup>1</sup> and socioeconomic attainment.<sup>2</sup> According to Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD) theory, exposures occurring *in utero*, during which organogenesis and epigenetic programming occur, are potential determinants of adult metabolic capacity.<sup>3, 4</sup> Lower maternal education during the perinatal period, an important indicator of low socioeconomic status and related stressors, may adversely affect intrauterine fetal development and programming of daughters<sup>5, 6</sup> who may, in turn be at risk of adverse reproductive outcomes, including low offspring birth weight.<sup>6-10</sup> However, the effects of grandmaternal education on the health and social trajectory of the mother may also explain birth outcome differences<sup>11, 12</sup> and evidence of direct effects are inconsistent.<sup>10, 13</sup> One possible explanation is the lack of appropriate causal methods in past investigations of grandmaternal education and birth weight.<sup>14</sup>

Incorporating perinatal exposures in life course investigations of adult health and disease outcomes is now well recognized.<sup>14</sup> However, accounting for the complex causal structure between exposures with numerous mediators to outcomes remains challenging<sup>14, 15</sup>: Standard covariate-adjusted regression models introduce collider stratification bias in the presence of endogenous confounding and unmeasured confounders.<sup>15, 16</sup> Moreover, developmental programming effect may produce heterogeneity in the response to mediators,<sup>17</sup> suggesting violations of the consistency assumption when conditioning on them. Structural equation models (SEMs) have been favored to explicitly model complex, socio-biological causal structures,<sup>18</sup> however they are limited by strong assumptions regarding both modeled and un-modeled relationships between covariates.<sup>19</sup> Alternatively, marginal structural models (MSMs) estimated by inverse probability weighting may be used to obtain controlled direct effects of early life exposures.<sup>15,19,20</sup> MSMs are superior to

SEMs in requiring fewer assumptions about relationships amongst covariates.<sup>15</sup> Nonetheless, MSM are still susceptible to unmeasured confounding and assumptions about causal structure.<sup>22-24</sup> Consequently, sensitivity and quantitative bias analyses are still indicated to strengthen inference.<sup>22, 24</sup>

This study aims to examine whether grandmother's (G0) education at the time of the mother's (G1) birth, has a direct effect on offspring birth weight (G2), using data from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health). This study improves on past work in four ways: (1) prior life-course, social and biological determinants of birth weight are incorporated explicitly in a causal mediation framework, (2) effect estimates are compared to standard multivariate regression and SEM estimates, (3) sensitivity analyses are performed to test robustness to weight and model misspecification, and (4) quantitative bias analysis is implemented to estimate robustness to unmeasured confounding under simplifying assumptions.

### Methods

#### Study Design

The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health) is a nationallyrepresentative, longitudinal study of 7-12 grade United States adolescents begun in 1994 (N = 90,118). In-home interviews were conducted with a core subset of respondents (randomly selected within school and sex strata) along with a parent, during which extensive information were collected on demographics, health, attitudes, behaviors, and environment. Additional respondents (and parents) were interviewed based on ethnic minority status, having siblings in the study, and/or being black with at least one collegeeducated parent (N = 20,745 individuals). Respondents first interviewed in Wave I were followed for up to three additional in-home interviews in 1996 (Wave II), 2001-2002 (Wave III), and 2007-2008 (Wave IV). Anthropometric measurements (Wave III) and capillary whole blood (Wave IV) were also collected. During Wave IV, 15,701 respondents (80.3% of eligible Wave I) were interviewed.

Investigators calculated a grand sampling weight for respondents interviewed in all four waves to approximate the target population of U.S. adolescents in grades 7-11 in 1994-5.<sup>25</sup> This weight accounts for clustered sampling, attrition, and oversampling in longitudinal analyses.<sup>25</sup> Additional information on respondent characteristics, sampling frame, and protocols can be found on the Add Health site: <u>www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/</u>. All data used for the current study were obtained through a restricted data access agreement between the University of Washington Center for Studies in Demography and Ecology (CSDE) and the Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research (ICPSR) at the University of Michigan. Research on these data has been approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Washington.

#### Study Population

Individuals (G1) were eligible for this current study if they were women, had a biological mother (G0) interviewed during Wave I, participated in both Wave I and IV interviews, and had at least one live birth during the course of the study. Since first born offspring are hypothesized to be more susceptible to adverse *in utero* programming from maternal constraint,<sup>26</sup> we matched respondents to their first reported singleton birth (G2). There were 2,352 women who met eligibility criteria. We excluded 60 (2.6%) respondents without a recorded exposure status and 428 (18%) individuals missing a Wave IV grand sampling weight. Consequently, we included 1,876 respondents (G1) and their matched births (G2) for the current study.

#### Measures

*Primary Exposure and Outcome* – During Wave I (1994-5), a respondent's mother (G0) was asked "How far did you go in school?" with responses we coded into three categories: less than high school diploma; high school diploma or equivalency (*i.e.* GED) certificate, and completed college degree. Because we were interested in G0 education at or prior to G1 birth, we capped completed education to high school diploma if she gave birth at or prior to 21 years (n = 86). G2 birth weight (grams) was reported by G1 during Wave IV interview. When compared to birth records, maternal recall of child birth weight has previously been found to be fairly accurate.<sup>10</sup>

*Psychosocial stress mediators* – Childhood maltreatment<sup>27, 28</sup> and adult socioeconomic status<sup>29</sup> are important psychosocial stressors in the respondent's (G1) life course that may be in the causal pathway between G0 education and G2 birth weight. In line with previous investigations in Add Health,<sup>28</sup> we use self-reported incidents of neglect, physical abuse, and sexual abuse prior to 18 years of age to predict a maltreatment factor score. Factors scores were generated using principle component factor analysis and quartimin rotations.<sup>30, 31</sup> Adult socioeconomic status (SES) closest to the time of G2 birth was measured using three variables: (1) self-reported total household income during Wave IV reported in dollars or, if

the woman could not provide an exact amount, one the following approximates: \$5,000; \$12,500; \$17,500; \$25,000; \$35,000; \$45,000; \$62,500; or \$100,000, based on the midpoint of categorical choices (capped at \$100,000); (2) attained education categorized by last school type completed; and (3) an indicator of whether G1 reported she would be in debt in response to the question "Suppose you and others in your household were to sell all of your major possessions (including your home), turn all of your investments and other assets into cash, and pay off all of your debts. Would you have something left over, break even, or be in debt?" Using these three measures, a factor score for adult SES was predicted through principle component factor analysis and quartimin rotations. If the respondent gave birth to G2 prior to 2001, a Wave III factor score was calculated instead excluding the 3<sup>rd</sup> (debt) measure, which was not asked in Wave III. Correlations between the two adult SES factor scores was moderate (r = 0.578; n = 1,665). For the purposes of weighting, maltreatment and adult SES factor scores were dichotomized at their median to high/low categories.

*Biological mediators* – Higher pre-pregnancy BMI is consistently associated with maternal education and higher birth weights.<sup>32, 33</sup> G1 pre-pregnancy BMI was calculated from either: Wave II self-reported height and weight if she gave birth at or prior to 2001, or study staff-measured height and weight from Wave III, otherwise. Correlation between the two BMI measures was high (unadjusted Pearson's r = 0.76; p < 0.0001). Pre-pregnancy overweight was categorized as a BMI  $\geq$  25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Prenatal smoking is associated with maternal education and lower birth weight.<sup>32-34</sup> We coded it as any or none based on self-reported smoking during the index pregnancy.

*Confounders* – Grandmother's (G0) age at mother's (G1) birth is related to grandmother's educational attainment and may influence childrearing practices and therefore life-course psychosocial and biological stressors experienced by the mother (G1).<sup>35, 36</sup> Similarly, G0 self-reported race is related to G0 educational opportunity and attainment, as well as social

and biological stressors experienced by G1 throughout her life course.<sup>37,38</sup> G0 race was coded as non-Hispanic white, Hispanic white, black any ethnicity, or other non-white, with those reporting any mixed race not including black being accorded the last category. Both G0 age at G1 birth and G0 self-reported race were included as confounders in all analyses.

#### Statistical Analysis

We first examined univariate demographic characteristics of the study population accounting for survey design. Next, we examined the possibility that *in utero* SES may affect future pregnancy outcome by estimating the direct effect of grandmaternal (G0) education ( $X_i$ ) on the birth weight ( $Y_i$ ) of her daughter's (G1) child (G2) that is not mediated by the daughter's (G1) life experiences using three modeling approaches: A multivariate-adjusted linear regression model including measured predictors of G2 birth weight (Approach 1), a linear structural equation model (SEM) using dichotomous mediators (Approach 2), and a linear marginal structural model (MSM) estimated by inverse probability weights again using dichotomous mediators (Approach 3). All data processing and analysis were conducted in STATA 12.1 MP (College Station, TX).

*Hypothesized causal structure* - In each model we attempted to estimate the controlled direct effect of  $X_i$  on  $Y_i$  after accounting for confounding by G0 age at G1 birth ( $G_i$ ) and G0 self-reported race ( $R_i$ ), as well as mediation / endogenous confounding by G1 life-course psychosocial and biological stressors: high childhood maltreatment prior to 18 years ( $M_i$ ), pre-pregnancy overweight ( $O_i$ ), low adult SES ( $A_i$ ), and any prenatal smoking ( $S_i$ ). The relationships between exposure, mediators, confounders, and outcome are constrained only by temporality (*Figure 1*): G0 age at G1 birth and self-reported race precede all other factors, including G0 education at G1 birth. Each G1 mediator is hypothesized to also affect all subsequent mediators (*e.g.* child maltreatment affects pre-pregnancy overweight, adult SES, and prenatal smoking).



*Figure 1. Causal diagram of hypothesized life course determinants of birth weight.* Each exposure and mediator is assumed to have an effect on all other mediators that occur subsequent to it. Directed edges are drawn with different patterns based on their source for visual effect only; they do not reflect any addition knowledge or specification about relationships. The asterisk (\*) indicates the effect of interest: the direct effect of G0 education on G2 birth weight. Confounders (C) represent a vector including G0 age at G1 birth (G) and G0 race (R).

*Approach 1: Multivariate linear regression* – We first estimated direct effects conventionally by fitting the following multivariate-adjusted linear regression model in which the primary exposure, confounders, and mediators are included as predictors of G2 birth weight:

 $E[Y_i | X_i = x, R_i = r, G_i = g, M_i = m, O_i = o, A_i = a, S_i = s] =$ (1)

$$\beta_0 + \beta_1 X + \beta_2 R + \beta_3 G + \beta_4 M + \beta_5 O + \beta_6 A + \beta_7 S$$

Under strong assumptions of no model misspecification, no interaction, and no unmeasured confounding,<sup>15</sup> it is possible for (1) to give an unbiased estimate of the causal direct effect of G0 education on G2 birth weight as well as the causal direct effects of mediators. However, our model (*Figure 1*) implies mediator adjustment induces confounding through the mediator's parents (*i.e.* collider stratification bias). We use Approach 1 as a baseline to explore effect estimates using different covariate functional forms and incorporate multiple imputation for missing data.

*Approach 2: SEM* – We next estimated direct and indirect effects of G0 education by fitting an SEM of our hypothesized causal structure using dichotomous forms of our mediators (*Figure 2*). Like Approach 1, SEM makes strong assumptions of no model misspecification and no unmeasured confounding with additional assumptions about covariate relationships.<sup>19</sup> We use Approach 2 to explore qualitative verification of our hypothesized causal structure and serve as a reference for sensitivity analyses.

Approach 3: MSM estimated by inverse probability weighting – Finally, we tested the controlled direct effect of G0 education  $(X_i)$  on G2 birth weight  $(Y_i)$  by fitting the following regression model:

$$E[Y_i \mid X_i = x, M_i = m, O_i = o, A_i = a, S_i = s] = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X + \beta_2 M + \beta_3 O + \beta_4 A + \beta_5 S$$
(2)

weighting individual subjects by the inverse probability of their exposure to their given strata of G0 education and probability of exposure to the four dichotomous mediators. No interaction terms were included, as there was not consistent evidence of additive interaction between each of the mediators and the exposure (*Supplemental Table*). Stabilized weights<sup>39</sup> for G0 education ( $w_i^X$ ) were estimated by multinomial logistic regression to predict the probability for a given strata of G0 education given a vector of *C* confounders. Stabilized weights for mediators were calculated using logistic regression, giving regard to temporality (*Figure 1*):

G0 education: 
$$w_i^X = \frac{P(X = x_i)}{P(X = x_i | C = c_i)}$$
 (3)

Childhood maltreatment: 
$$w_i^M = \frac{P(M = m_i \mid C = c_i)}{P(M = m_i \mid X = x_i, C = c_i)}$$
(4)

Pre-pregnancy overweight: 
$$w_i^0 = \frac{P(0 = o_i \mid C = c_i)}{P(0 = o_i \mid X = x_i, M = m_i, C = c_i)}$$
(5)

Adult SES: 
$$w_i^A = \frac{P(A = a_i | C = c_i)}{P(A = a_i | X = x_i, M = m_i, 0 = o_i, C = c_i)}$$
(6)

Prenatal smoking: 
$$w_i^S = \frac{P(S = s_i | C = c_i)}{P(S = s_i | X = x_i, M = m_i, 0 = o_i, A = a_i, C = c_i)}$$
 (7)

A correctly specified MSM gives the controlled direct effect of *X* on *Y* in a marginal population in which, potentially counter to the fact, all individuals are "unexposed" to the

mediators. In our model, this is a marginal G1 population at lower risk of childhood maltreatment, pre-pregnancy overweight, low adult SES, and any prenatal smoking.

Incorporating survey design – To account for sampling dependency introduced by the survey design and produce correct standard errors,<sup>25</sup> each weight was estimated with the *svy* option after using the Wave IV grand sampling weights, clustering, and stratification variables for the *svyset* command. An overall weight ( $W_{overall}$ ) was then generated for each subject using the product of the stabilized weights and the Wave IV grand sampling weight ( $w_{i}^{gsw}$ ):

Overall Weight: 
$$W_{overall} = w_i^X * w_i^M * w_i^O * w_i^A * w_i^{S*} w_i^{gsw}$$
(8)

The *svy* option was subsequently used to fit model (2) using  $W_{overall}$  for the *svyset* command. An analogous method was described by Brumback, *et al.* employing *PROC SURVEYREG* in SAS.<sup>40</sup>

#### Sensitivity Analyses

Like other causal modeling methods, MSM effect estimations are subject to biases from misspecifed causal models, mismeasurement, and unmeasured confounding.<sup>11, 41</sup> We addressed this through several sensitivity analyses: Specifically, we examine qualitative robustness of estimates to altered model specification including mediation by pre-term birth, data replacement techniques, and quantitative bias analysis informed by SEM.

*Model specification* – Pre-term birth is an important mediator of low birth weight and may be of great causal interest.<sup>42, 43</sup> Consequently, we re-fit our model adding an indicator for pre-term birth (< 37 weeks) and a corresponding probability weight to model (2). Additionally, we examined sensitivity of model (2) to: truncating weights at the 1<sup>st</sup> / 99<sup>th</sup>, 5<sup>th</sup> / 95<sup>th</sup>, and 10<sup>th</sup> / 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles; including interaction terms in estimating weights (3) -(7); and reversing the presumed temporal relationship of adult SES and pre-pregnancy overweight by adding adult SES to the denominator of (5) and removing pre-pregnancy overweight from the denominator of (6).

*Data replacement* – Out of our total sample of 1,876, we had missing observations of prepregnancy overweight and low adult SES for 78 (4.2%), maltreatment scores for 28 (1.5%), prenatal smoking for 3 (0.16%) women. Subjects missing mediator values did not differ systematically from those with complete data. To analyze the sensitivity of our analysis to covariate values missing at random conditional on available data, we re-fit model (1) using multiple imputation by chained equations to generate ten sets of possible values for missing binary mediators. For model (2), sensitivity to missingness was assessed by replacing missing values for G1 mediators and reweighting. Data replacement was conducted in three ways: first, all missing values were assumed to be indicative of risk (*i.e.* missing value for adult SES replaced with indicator of low adult SES); second, missing values of Wave III prepregnancy overweight and Wave IV adult SES were replaced with their values from Waves II and III, respectively; and third, all values for these two mediators were replaced with their values from Waves II and III, respectively.

*Quantitative Bias Analyses* – The no unmeasured mediator-outcome confounding assumption is critical to an unbiased estimate of controlled direct effect.<sup>12</sup> To assess the robustness of model (2) to unmeasured confounding, we simulated the effects of a hypothetical, binary, mediator-outcome confounder.<sup>44-46</sup> Assuming an unmeasured binary confounder *U* with no effect modification by G0 education, we specified ranges for two sensitivity parameters *g* and *d* with parameter *g* corresponding to the effect of *U* on G2 birth weight (*i.e.* change in birth weight grams) and *d* to the prevalence difference of confounder *U* between levels of exposure. By subtracting each combination of *g* × *d* from the  $\beta_1$ coefficient and its 95% confidence limits estimated by model (2), we defined bounds within which our findings remain valid under the specified scenario. We set the ranges *g* and *d* to be feasible values drawn from our SEM modelling and consistent with the literature. For example, since prenatal smoking is a strong determinant of birth weight observed in the literature,<sup>33,34</sup> the upper limits for *g* were set to +/- 150 grams, close to the effect of prenatal smoking observed in our SEM (113 grams). Similarly, we set the upper limit of *d*, to be +/- 20%, close to the difference in prevalence of pre-natal smoking between high and low G1 adult SES estimated in our SEM (15%).

## Results

Overall, 20.5%, 63.3%, and 16.2% of grandmothers (G0) in the analytic population reported at least < HS, HS or GED, or College diploma, respectively (*Table 1*). This represented 80.9% and 14.3% of the target population, respectively. Taking survey design into account, 71.1% and 16.2% of grandmothers fell into study-defined categories of non-Hispanic white and non-Hispanic black. Mean birth weight for G2 was 3,265 grams (*Table 1*).

Using covariate-adjusted linear regression, we estimated a 54-gram higher G2 birth weight for each higher level of G0 education ( $\beta$  = 54.1, [95% CI: -14.0, 122.1]; *Table 2*), independent of mediators. After multiple imputation (analytic population N = 1,856; 99% of full sample), we estimated a 48-gram (95% CI: -16.5, 111.9) direct effect by covariateadjusted linear regression, which was not substantially different than complete case analysis (*Table 2*).

Table 1. Study population characteristics, by grand-maternal (G0) education. "						
		Grand-maternal (G0) educational status				
% (N) / mean (SD)	Overall	< High School	High School	College Diploma		
		Diploma	Diploma or GED	or Higher		
	(N = 1,681)	(n = 345)	(n = 1,064)	(n = 272)		
Grandmother (G0)						
G0 % white	61.5 % (1,033)	46.4 % (160)	66.4 % (706)	61.4 % (167)		
G0 age at G1 birth (years)	24.8 (5.2)	24.2 (5.9)	24.7 (5.1)	26.1 (4.8)		
Mother (G1)						
G1 ever neglected	50.0 % (840)	49.0 % (169)	50.5 % (537)	49.3 % (134)		
G1 ever physically abused	18.1 % (304)	20.3 % (70)	17.7 % (188)	16.9 % (46)		
G1 ever sexually abused	8.1 % (136)	8.1 % (28)	8.0 % (85)	8.5 % (23)		
G1 BMI at Wave II (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	22.7 (4.5)	23.3 (4.5)	22.6 (4.5)	22.0 (4.2)		
G1 BMI at Wave III (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	26.7 (6.7)	27.4 (6.8)	26.6 (6.6)	26.0 (7.0)		
G1 % high school graduate	88.4 % (1,486)	79.4 % (274)	89.4 % (951)	96.0 % (261)		
G1 % in debt	22.6 % (375)	23.9 % (81)	22.0 % (231)	23.2 % (63)		
G1 average annual	58,842	47,681	58,761	72,880		
household income (in 2008 dollars) <sup>b</sup>	(41,878)	(31,895)	(42,601)	(45,670)		
G1 % any prenatal smoking	19.3 % (325)	19.1 % (66)	20.9 % (222)	13.6 % (37)		
Child (G2)						
Gestational age (weeks) <sup>c</sup>	39.1 (2.4)	39.2 (2.1)	39.1 (2.5)	38.9 (2.2)		
% preterm birth <sup>d</sup>	9.2 % (155)	9.0 % (31)	9.4 % (100)	8.8 % (24)		
G2 birth weight (grams)	3,265 (611.1)	3,220 (579.0)	3,268 (622.9)	3,309 (602.4)		
% low birth weight	9.3 % (156)	9.0 % (31)	9.4 % (100)	9.2 % (25)		

<sup>a</sup> Means, standard deviations, and percentages presented here correspond to those of the sample, i.e. survey weighting was not taken into account.

<sup>b</sup> Average household income is either the combined income of the individual (G1) and her spouse / partner or the individual (G1) and her family, if she lives at home. If an individual responded by selecting an income category, she was assigned the mean of the category; i.e. a person reporting "5,000 to 9,999" would be assigned 7,500 dollars. <sup>c</sup> Estimated from the question "How many weeks early or late was your baby born?" with a response "on time" interpreted as 40 weeks.

<sup>*d*</sup> Estimated as a gestational age < 37 weeks based on the question above.

Table 2. Multivariate linear regression estimate of effect on G2 birth weight. (N = 1,681)				
Model	β, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value		
No Factor Scores <sup>1</sup>	45.4, [-28.0, 118.8]	0.223		
Childhood Maltreatment Factor Score Only <sup>2</sup>	47.2, [-25.9, 120.2]	0.204		
Adult SES Factor Score Only <sup>3</sup>	45.6, [-26.5, 117.6]	0.213		
Both Factor Scores <sup>4</sup>	47.5, [-24.0, 119.1]	0.191		
Dichotomized Mediators⁵	54.1, [-14.0, 122.1]	0.118		

Dichotomized Mediators After Multiple Imputation (N = 1,856)

47.7, [-16.5, 111.9]

0.144

Note: All models are adjusted for GO age at G1 birth and GO self-reported race.

<sup>1</sup> Adjusted for number of events of neglect, physical abuse, and sexual abuse before age 18 (childhood maltreatment); G1 pre-pregnancy BMI (closest measurement before delivery); G1 education, household income, and 'break even' indicator at Wave IV (adult SES); and any G1 pre-natal smoking.

<sup>2</sup> Adjusted for a childhood maltreatment factor score estimated from number of events of neglect, physical abuse, and sexual abuse before age 18 and other covariates from <sup>1</sup>.

<sup>3</sup> Adjusted for a factor score estimated from G1 education, household income, and 'break even' indicator at Wave IV and other covariates from <sup>1</sup>.

<sup>4</sup> Adjusted for maltreatment and adult factor scores, G1 pre-pregnancy BMI, and any G1 prenatal smoking.
 5 Adjusted for high childhood maltreatment (factor score higher than the median), G1 pre-pregnancy overweight (BMI > 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), low adult SES (factor score lower than the median), and any G1 prenatal smoking.



Figure 2. Structural equation model with unstandardized coefficients. For better visual clarity, unstandardized point estimates with p < 0.05 are shown with their edges highlighted. The point estimate and 95% confidence interval (†) for the main effect are also shown. \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.005.

Using MSM estimated by inverse probability of treatment and mediator weights, we estimated a controlled direct effect of 89 grams increased (95% CI: 20.8, 156.5) G2 birth weight for each level higher of G0 education (*Table 3*) in a marginal population at lower risk of high childhood maltreatment, pre-pregnancy overweight, low adult SES, and any prenatal smoking. Even after incorporating pre-term birth as a mediator between G0 education and birth weight, we found evidence consistent with a direct effect of G0 education on G2 birth weight (*Table 4*). Using MSM, we estimated a controlled direct effect of 67-grams (95% CI: 3.8, 130.5) increased G2 birth weight per level higher G0 education. Additionally, weight

truncation at the 1<sup>st</sup>/99<sup>th</sup>, 5<sup>th</sup>/95<sup>th</sup>, and 10<sup>th</sup>/90<sup>th</sup> percentiles, introducing interaction terms between G0 education and each mediator, and refitting the model with adult SES preceding pre-pregnancy overweight, each did not change estimates greatly. (*Table 4*) Replacing all missing mediators values as either "high" (*i.e.* high maltreatment, pre-pregnancy overweight, low adult SES, and any prenatal smoking) or "low" (the opposite) risk had minimal impact on the MSM-estimated direct effect (*Table 4*), This was also true of the two other replacement scenarios (*Table 4*).

Table 3. Marginal structural model estimates of effect on G2 birth weight. (N = 1,681)				
	β, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p-value		
G0 Education	88.7, [20.8, 156.5]	0.010		
High G1 Childhood Maltreatment	-41.4, [-120.7, 37.9]	0.306		
G1 Pre-pregnancy Overweight (> 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	73.7, [-10.7, 158.1]	0.087		
Low G1 Adult SES	-118.6, [-198.2, -38.9]	0.004		
Any G1 Prenatal Smoking	-118.0 [-208.6, -27.4]	0.011		

Table 4. Marginal structural model estimates of G0 education effect on G2 birth weight, under various
scenarios.

Scenario		β, [95 % Confidence Interval]	p- value
Altered causal structur	е		
Added Pre-term delivery (< 37 weeks)	1,680	67.2, [3.8, 130.5]	0.038
Order of G1 pre-pregnancy BMI and adult SES reversed	1,681	89.1, [21.3, 157.0]	0.010
Weight manipulation			
Weight truncation at 1 <sup>st</sup> / 99 <sup>th</sup> percentile	1,681	85.7, [19.5, 152.0]	0.011
Weight truncation at 5 <sup>th</sup> / 95 <sup>th</sup> percentile	1,681	88.5, [23.9, 153.1]	0.007
Weight truncation at 10 <sup>th</sup> / 90 <sup>th</sup> percentile	1,681	86.9, [23.1, 150.7]	0.008
Weights estimated with interactions		71.3, [0.583, 142.0]	0.048
Data replacement			
Replace missing measures as "high risk"	1,856	84.9, [22.3, 147.4]	0.008
Replace missing measures as "low risk"	1,856	83.3, [20.6, 145.9]	0.009
Replace only missing measures of G1 pre-pregnancy BMI and adult SES with older measures	1,795	81.7, [16.7, 146.7]	0.014
Use older G1 pre-pregnancy BMI (Wave II) and adult SES (Wave III) measures	1,685	93.5, [25.8, 161.2]	0.007

Under the hypothetical bias scenario, we found that a single binary confounder would have differ to in prevalence between exposure groups by at least 15% and have an effect on G2

birth weight of 150 grams to fully explain our findings (*Table 5*). As previously noted,<sup>44-46</sup> this does not preclude the possibility that a non-binary confounder or set of confounders may also fully explain our findings.

Table 5. The effect of an unmeasured binary confounder on the estimated controlled direct effect of							
GO education on G2 birth weight, a quantitative bias analysis. (Adjusted $\beta$ , [95% CI])							
	g = -150 g	g = -100 g	g = 50 g	g = 100 g	g = 150 g		
d = -20%	58.7	68.7	78.7	98.7	108.7	118.7	
	[-9.2, 126.5]	[0.8, 136.5]	[10.8, 146.5]	[30.8, 166.5]	[40.8, 176.5]	[50.8, 186.5]	
d = -15%	66.2	73.7	81.2	96.2	103.7	111.2	
	[-1.7, 134]	[5.8, 141.5]	[13.3, 149]	[28.3, 164]	[35.8, 171.5]	[43.3, 179]	
d = -10%	73.7	78.7	83.7	93.7	98.7	103.7	
	[5.8, 141.5]	[10.8, 146.5]	[15.8, 151.5]	[25.8, 161.5]	[30.8, 166.5]	[35.8, 171.5]	
d = -5%	81.2	83.7	86.2	91.2	93.7	96.2	
	[13.3, 149]	[15.8, 151.5]	[18.3, 154]	[23.3, 159]	[25.8, 161.5]	[28.3, 164]	
d = 5%	96.2	93.7	91.2	86.2	83.7	81.2	
	[28.3, 164]	[25.8, 161.5]	[23.3, 159]	[18.3, 154]	[15.8, 151.5]	[13.3, 149]	
d = 10%	103.7	98.7	93.7	83.7	78.7	73.7	
	[35.8, 171.5]	[30.8, 166.5]	[25.8, 161.5]	[15.8, 151.5]	[10.8, 146.5]	[5.8, 141.5]	
d = 15%	111.2	103.7	96.2	81.2	73.7	66.2	
	[43.3, 179]	[35.8, 171.5]	[28.3, 164]	[13.3, 149]	[5.8, 141.5]	[-1.7, 134]	
d = 20%	118.7	108.7	98.7	78.7	68.7	58.7	
	[50.8, 186.5]	[40.8, 176.5]	[30.8, 166.5]	[10.8, 146.5]	[0.8, 136.5]	[-9.2, 126.5]	

Shading indicates the 95% Confidence Interval encompasses zero: To explain the observed direct effect of GO education on G2 birth weight, a hypothetical unmeasured/mis-measured binary confounder would have to be lower amongst more-highly-educated grandmothers by 15% and decrease G2 birth weight by 150 grams (or vice versa). As a comparison, any G1 pre-natal smoking was 6.4% lower amongst college-educated grandmothers as compared to less than high-school education grandmothers and produced a 118 gram reduction in G2 birth weight.

#### Discussion

Overall, we found fairly robust evidence for a small controlled direct effect of grandmaternal (G0) education at the time of a mother's (G1) birth on the birth weight of the child (G2) independent of the mother's mediating life course circumstances: We found evidence that an improvement of grandmother's education from less than high school to college graduate increases child's birth weight by approximately 180 grams (2 \* 89 grams), in a marginal population where all mothers were at equal risk of childhood maltreatment, high pre-pregnancy BMI, low adult SES, and any prenatal smoking. Our findings are strengthened by our analytic methods; the robustness of estimates to model alternation, data replacement, and quantitative bias analyses; as well as the consistency of secondary findings (*e.g.* association of prenatal smoking and lower birth weight) with past literature.

Lower grandmaternal educational status may be related to an adverse fetal programming environment for the mother<sup>5-10</sup>: Lower maternal education may cause the fetus to experience excess glucocorticoids (*e.g.* cortisol)<sup>6</sup> which may program offspring HPA axis to chronically higher cortisol secretion in response to stressors.<sup>7</sup> In women, higher chronic levels of cortisol can in turn lead to low birth weight offspring.<sup>7</sup> However, prior empirical studies on the effect of grandparental education on birth weight have not provided consistent evidence<sup>10, 13</sup>: In a study of predominantly African American and low-income Whites, Astone, *et al.* found high grandmaternal education to be associated with a 181 gram increased birth weight among high school or less mothers.<sup>10</sup> However, Kwok, *et al.* found no association between grandparental education and birth weight after adjusting for parental education.<sup>13</sup> One potential limitation to past studies is use of simple covariate-adjustment models in the presence of endogenous confounders.<sup>21</sup> While the use of MSM to estimating direct effect of SES on subsequent health outcomes in the presence of such confounding is increasingly common,<sup>20, 47</sup> we believe the current study is the first to use MSM to provide evidence for intergenerational effects of grandmaternal education on birth weight while applying multiple sensitivity and quantitative bias analysis to address known limitations.

Several strengths are worth mentioning: First, prominent determinants of birth weight including pre-pregnancy BMI, prenatal smoking, and self-reported race<sup>33</sup> and mediation by childhood maltreatment,<sup>27, 28</sup> were explicitly included in our model. Second, we addressed the possibility of incorrect model specification and mismeasurement in our model by adding pre-term delivery as a mediator, altering the causal order of intermediates, and data replacement. We found these processes to have little influence on effect estimates. For example, it is plausible that adult SES actually influences pre-pregnancy BMI. Neither swapping the causal ordering of these mediators (through re-weighting) nor using prior measures of these mediators appeared to greatly affect our estimates. Our quantitative bias analysis suggests that a single binary confounder would have been fairly strong and imbalanced across exposure groups to fully explain our estimated direct effect. Fourth, confidence in our findings is also improved by the concurrence of secondary model findings with past literature: Notably, we observed greater effect sizes and strengths of association between G2 birth weight and the proximate mediators, prenatal smoking and adult SES, than the earlier mediators, pre-pregnancy BMI and high childhood maltreatment in our MSM. Also, the magnitude of birth weight reduction due to prenatal smoking was in line with findings from past meta-analyses.<sup>33, 48</sup> Furthermore, our study agrees with past studies in the Add Health population which found G1 adult SES,<sup>28</sup> prenatal smoking,<sup>28</sup> and G1 obesity<sup>49</sup> to be directly associated with G2 birth weight.

Some limitations to our study are worth highlighting: In spite of several sensitivity and biases analyses, model misspecification and unmeasured cofounding are still possible. Recent publications have questioned the ability of conventional observation methods to completely account for these issues.<sup>50, 51</sup> Overall, we have attempted to address these limitations through sensitivity analysis in order to estimate an average causal effect for a marginal population in the presence of model misspecification and the presence of unmeasured confounding. However, our study of relevant mediators and covariates was not exhaustive and our ability to incorporate several covariates potentially important to birth weight was limited. For example, we did not include information regarding respondent's (G1) infection history or exposure to air pollution. Notably, the Add Health study was not designed to investigate characteristics surrounding the respondent's (G1) birth, consequently we have few variables related to grandmaternal (G0) pregnancy and perinatal health. For example, we did not have information on grandmaternal nutrition or prenatal smoking. When breastfeeding duration was incorporated into our MSM analyses, point estimates and confidence intervals were virtually unchanged. Since our study relies almost solely on self-report (with the exception of Wave III BMI), bias due to measurement error is also a concern. Specifically, recall of childhood maltreatment and prenatal smoking may be differentially misclassified by grandmaternal and maternal SES. Notably, this may explain the unexpected finding of association between high childhood maltreatment and greater proportion of high SES in our SEM. However, women have been shown to be reliable reporters of infant birth weight.<sup>52</sup> Additionally, while dichotomizing mediators was necessary in order to generate weights, this may have resulted in residual confounding and nonexchangeability in our target marginal population. Nonetheless, when we dichotomized at other cut points, such as defining everyone below the 80<sup>th</sup> percentile of adult SES factor score as low SES and any maltreatment as high maltreatment, estimates did not substantially change. In fact, defining low adult SES as the bottom 20<sup>th</sup> percent of adult SES factor scores only strengthened the estimated association. Finally, it is possible G0 education captures early post-natal experiences beyond *in utero* experience. We attempted to address this by including childhood maltreatment and pre-pregnancy BMI, which in many cases were measured in adolescence, as mediators in our model. To the extent that early childhood rearing practices have an impact on G2 birth weight, we are likely to see them mediated through these pathways.

Developmental Origins researchers have been cautioned to not ignore social, life-course context in their investigations<sup>11</sup> and our study attempts to address this concern by explicitly examining prominent social and biological determinants of birth weight. We addressed assumptions of no-residual confounding and model specification assumptions through sensitivity analysis and still found evidence for the direct effect of grandmaternal education on offspring birth weight. Consequently, we believe we have provided evidence that supports early life social conditions should be a target for intervention and measurement in order to address disparities in pregnancy outcomes. Future empirical work should consider the relevant causal components of education, possible biological mechanisms (such as epigenetics), improved measurement of life course variables, and consider additional causal estimation methods, including those that relax more modeling assumptions.

(End Chapter 2)

## Chapter 3 - Early life socioeconomic status, candidate gene DNA methylation, and adult cardiometabolic phenotype in young adult women: the Jerusalem Perinatal Family Follow-Up Study.

### Abstract

*Background*: Early life socioeconomic status (SES) has been related to adult cardiometabolic health. However, potential mechanisms such as epigenetics have not been well described.

Methods: Among 613 adult women (mean age = 32 years) participants of the Jerusalem Perinatal Study Family Follow-Up we investigated associations between early life SES and DNA methylation at five cardiometabolic and stress response genes: *ABCA1, INSIGF, LEP, HSD11B2*, and *NR3C1* (two regions). Early life SES was characterized by father's occupational class (6 being 'lowest' to 1 being 'highest') and years of maternal and paternal education. Sequenom MassARRAY was used to profile methylation. We used multivariate linear regression to test associations between measures of early life SES and average, region-specific methylation, adjusted for maternal age at birth, prenatal smoking, country of origin, and parity. We examined whether methylation mediates the SES-adult phenotype relationship using exploratory product-of-coefficients mediation analyses under two presumed causal structures: with and without adjustment for a woman's life course characteristics (adolescent overweight status, years of education, religiosity, marital status, number of children, and frequency of alcohol and cigarette use). All models were adjusted for age at blood draw and original stratified sampling criteria, maternal pre-pregnancy BMI and participant birth weight.

*Results*: Average methylation ranged from 5.7% for *HSD11B2* to 77.3% for *INS-IGF*. Each higher paternal occupational class was associated with a 0.5 %-point (95% CI: 0.004, 0.9; p = 0.048) and 0.4 %-point (95% CI: 0.1, 0.8; p = 0.022) higher *ABCA1* and *NR3C1* Exon 1F region 2 methylation, respectively. Each additional year of maternal education was associated with a 0.08 %-point (95% CI: 0.02, 0.1; p = 0.012) higher *HSD11B2* methylation. Only *HSD11B2* or *NR3C1* Exon 1F region 2 appeared to be related to adult

phenotype after adjustment for life course characteristics. However, there was not consistent evidence that methylation at these regions mediated early life SES-adult phenotype relationships (for all tests of indirect effect, p > 0.05).

*Discussion*: We found evidence for associations between early life SES and adult methylation at regions in *ABCA1*, *HSD11B2*, and *NR3C1*. However, we did not find evidence for DNA methylation to mediate the relationships between early life SES and adult cardiometabolic phenotype. Future larger, replication studies in this population should consider addition SES measures including income, immigration status, and military service, sampling DNA at different time points and tissues, and study sampling structures that better allow for causal mediation analyses.

## Background

Early life exposure to adverse environments such as poverty, famine, and war may increase adult susceptibility to early mortality,<sup>1</sup> cardiovascular disease,<sup>2,3</sup> and, among women, poor pregnancy outcomes.<sup>4,5 6</sup> Experiences of psychosocial stress *in utero* may have an important role in such relationships<sup>7</sup> due to the putative programming of the fetal epigenome through DNA methylation, the process by which methyl groups are added to cysteine residues of cytosine-guanine (CpG) dinucleotides in the DNA sequence.<sup>8,9</sup> Methylation of gene promoter regions is a common gene expression regulatory mechanism with profound implications in physiological processes such as X chromosome silencing as well as pathologic processes such as Silver-Russell syndrome, where intra-uterine growth restriction is caused by abnormal imprinting of the insulin-like growth factor (*IGF2*).<sup>10</sup> In the context of early life exposures and development origins of adult disease, DNA methylation can play a key mediating role because (a) it is influenced by the intrauterine environment<sup>11-13</sup>; (b) it is a key component of fetal epigenetic programming<sup>8-14</sup>; and (c) it is mitotically stable and can persist throughout the adult life,<sup>6-10</sup> and (d) it can be transmitted across generations.<sup>6-14</sup> Importantly, DNA methylation of growth, metabolism, and stress response genes<sup>8,11-14</sup> may be programmed by excess exposure to the glucocorticoid cortisol resulting from prenatal stressors including low socioeconomic status (SES).<sup>7,15</sup>

Several studies have found associations between maternal experiences of war<sup>16</sup> and intimate partner violence<sup>17</sup> and higher glucocorticoid receptor (*NR3C1*) methylation in neonates and adolescents, respectively. *In utero* exposure to famine has been associated with lower methylation at *INSIGF*, a shared promoter for *IGF2*, among adults.<sup>12,18</sup> Moreover, less acute sources of adversity<sup>19</sup> including low childhood socioeconomic position<sup>20-22</sup> may also be associated with differential adult methylation: In a U.S. birth cohort, Tehranifar, *et al.* found lower family income at birth to be associated with a 19.7% lower methylation of the *Sat2* repetitive DNA element in peripheral blood of adult women.<sup>21</sup> However, there is a

lack of studies on associations between early life socioeconomic status (SES) and adult methylation status of specific cardiometabolic and stress response genes, such as *NR3C1* and *INSIGF*,<sup>23,24</sup> and whether such associations might mediate early life SES-adult health relationships. Investigating such associations may provide mechanistic evidence for fetal or intergenerational effects of adverse socioeconomic conditions.<sup>25-28</sup> Moreover, investigating these associations amongst women is important as intergenerational effects might be transmitted through a woman's own pregnancy outcomes.<sup>6,26,27</sup>

To this end, we investigated associations between measures of early life SES (measured by father's occupational class and parental education) and variations of DNA methylation in specific cardiometabolic (*ABCA1*, *INSIGF*, *LEP*) and stress-related genes (*HSD11B2*, *NR3C1*) among young adult women (mean age = 32 years) participants of a birth cohort study. In line with previous studies, we hypothesized that lower early life SES would be associated with reduced *HSD11B2* and increased *NR3C1* methylation in young adulthood, as evidence of an adaptive response to excess perinatal glucocorticoids.<sup>7,30,31</sup> Further, we hypothesized that lower early life SES would be associated with lower early life SES would be associated with lower *INSIGF* and higher *ABCA1* and *LEP* methylation.<sup>29</sup> In secondary analyses, we investigated associations between DNA methylation and adult cardiometabolic profiles and whether methylation mediated early life SES and adult cardiometabolic previous previous and whether methylation mediated early life SES and adult cardiometabolic previous previous and whether methylation.

#### Methods

Study setting and population - This study was conducted in setting of the Jerusalem Perinatal Study (JPS) which included all 17,003 births to residents of Jerusalem between 1974 and 1976.<sup>32</sup> Around the time of subjects' birth in 1974-76, maternal demographic, medical history, and pregnancy course information, as well as subject's birth weight were abstracted from birth certificates or maternity ward logs. Additional information on maternal immigration history, years of education, pre-pregnancy weight, height, smoking status, paternal occupation and years of education were collected by interview of the mother one or two days postpartum. In the JPS Family Follow-Up Study (JPS-1), a well characterized cohort of 1,400 mother-offspring dyads, oversampled on the basis of maternal pregnancy body mass index (ppBMI  $\ge$  27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and offspring birth weight ( $\le$  2500 grams or  $\ge$  4000 grams), were identified and recruited from JPS participants. Offspring were only selected to participate in this follow-up if records showed they had been born as singletons, at  $\geq$  36 weeks of gestation, and without any congenital malformations. Between 2007 and 2009, JPS-1 offspring were interviewed and examined as young adults (mean age = 32 years old). All JPS-1 female offspring with available blood samples (N = 613) were included in the current study. JPS and JPS-1 study protocols were approved by the University of Washington (Seattle, WA, USA) and Hadassah-Hebrew University Medical Center (Jerusalem, Israel) Institutional Review Boards and participants provided informed consent.

#### Data Collection

JPS-1 subjects were asked via telephone interview about years of education, marital status, religiosity (secular, traditionalist, religious, and ultra-orthodox), medical history and medications, and frequency of alcohol or cigarette use. They were also asked whether they had any children, and if so, whether any of them were born at term, but weighing less than 2.5 kilograms. In a subsequent physical exam, anthropometrics and blood pressure as well as a peripheral blood sample were collected by standardized procedures (see below).<sup>32,33</sup>

*Early life socioeconomic status (SES) exposures* – Prenatal socioeconomic stress may be a complex construct with multiple dimensions.<sup>34</sup> In line with previous studies, we chose four measures for early life SES: We defined our primary exposure as paternal occupational type, as reported by the mother during post-partum interview (Savitsky, *et al., In Review*). These occupational types were categorized into 6 classes, with 6 being the lowest class comprising manual occupations and 1 being the highest class comprising professional occupations. Paternal occupational class was dichotomized to 'low' (4-6) and 'high' (1-3) to match previous work. Since we did not hypothesize a specific threshold for the effect of socioeconomic related stress based on occupational class, we also evaluated paternal occupational class ordinally (*i.e.* 6 to 1). Additionally, we were interested in parental education as total number of years of education completed by mother or father, respectively. Past studies have found education to be highly correlated to other measures of prenatal socioeconomic status<sup>34</sup> and is one of the strongest predictions of offspring methylation.<sup>24</sup>

*Candidate gene region selection and methylation profiling* – Promoter regions from five genes of interest were selected based on prior literature on maternal perinatal adversity and offspring methylation as well as their putative role in cardiometabolic function and stress response: *ABCA1* (cholesterol transport protein),<sup>23,29</sup> *HSD11B2* (glucocorticoid-inactivating enzyme),<sup>40-42</sup> *INS-IGF2* (insulin and insulin-like growth factor),<sup>23,24,29</sup> *LEP* (leptin, an energy balance hormone),<sup>29</sup> and *NR3C1* (glucocorticoid receptor).<sup>16,17,43</sup> Peripheral blood samples were used for DNA methylation profiling conducted at the Roswell Park Cancer Institute's Genomics Shared Resource (Buffalo, NY, USA). Quantitative methylation analysis was performed with the Sequenom MassARRAY Compact System (San Diego, CA, USA) using standard, previously described methods.<sup>44-46</sup> Briefly: 1 µg of genome DNA for each individual and CpG region of interest was bisulfite converted using the EZ DNA Methylation Kit (Zymo Research, Orange, CA). Converted DNA was then amplified by PCR using primers flanking

the regions of interest designed in MethPrimer.<sup>47</sup> PCR products were then cleaved using Transcleave (Sequenom), purified with Clean Resin (Sequenom), and spotted onto a 384well SpectroCHIP (Sequenom) plate. Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-offlight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry (MS) was conducted using a MassARRAY Analyzer Compact (Sequenom) to analyze cleavage products, with resultant methylation calls performed by the EpiTyper software v1.0 (Sequenom) and written to an Oracle 8i database. Each cleavage product corresponds to one CpG unit consisting of several proximal CpG sites with the output value being the proportion of sites in the unit that were methylated. Average methylation for each region of interest was then calculated by taking the arithmetic mean of all analyzed CpG units from the region to form one summary measure expressed as a percentage methylated (*i.e.* out of the entire region). Control runs of known methylation of 0%, 50%, and 100% were run for each CpG gene to assess for profiling bias. CpG units failing > 25% of methylation calls were excluded (N = 3 for ABCA1, 2 for LEP, 4 for NR3C1 Region 1, and 2 for Region 2). No subjects were excluded on the basis of failed methylation calls.

Adult Cardiometabolic Risk / Phenotype Outcomes – At the woman's in-person physical exam around age 32, measurements were collected including height, weight, waist and pelvic circumference, systolic and diastolic blood pressures by study staff according to previously described protocols.<sup>32</sup> We calculated body mass index (BMI) by the formula: (measured weight in kilograms) / (measured height in meters)<sup>2</sup>. We calculated waist to hip ratio (WHR) by the formula: (measured waist circumference in centimeters) / (measured pelvic circumference in centimeters) × 100%. Additionally, a fasting ( $\geq$  8 hours since the last meal) peripheral blood sample was collected, immediately spun, and assayed for biomarkers in plasma including total cholesterol, high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, and low density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol assayed on the VITROS 5,1 FS Chemistry System (Ortho Clinical Diagnostics).<sup>32</sup> We constructed three binary young adult health outcomes: obesity, metabolic syndrome, and any, term low birth weight offspring. Obesity was defined as a calculated BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Metabolic syndrome defined based on International Diabetes Federation (IDF) criteria<sup>48</sup>: central obesity defined by waist circumference  $\geq$  90 cm or BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and at least two of the following: triglycerides > 150 mg/dL; HDL < 50 mg/dL; SBP > 130 mmHg; DBP > 85 mmHg; and/or fasting glucose > 100 mg/dL. During the young adult phone interview, a woman was asked whether she had any children and, if so, whether any were born at or near term, but weighing less than 2.5 kilograms (coded "yes" or "no").

*Early life confounders* – Data on maternal pre-pregnancy overweight (ppBMI  $\ge$  27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), age at birth, immigrant from West, any prenatal smoking, and parity collected by postpartum interview as well as a woman's birth weight abstracted from medical records<sup>32</sup> were included as potential confounders. Previous studies have shown maternal ppBMI, age, and race<sup>34</sup> as well as maternal prenatal smoking and offspring birth weight<sup>24</sup> to be relevant confounder of early life SES-methylation associations. Because of the relative homogeneity of the study population<sup>35</sup> and similar to prior work (Savitzky, *In Review*), we used maternal immigration status *in lieu* of a racial classification. In past studies of this population, country of origin has been associated with SES and health outcomes.<sup>35</sup> Finally, due to the potential relationship between birth order and putative fetal programing,<sup>36</sup> we also adjusted for maternal parity. Since methylation is dependent on age,<sup>9</sup> we adjusted for a woman's age at blood draw in all analyses.

*Life course factors* – While it is hypothesized that methylation status is established early in life,<sup>8,9</sup> it is possible life course factors may mediate early life SES and adult methylation associations or predict adult methylation status independently. Such factors include: childhood overweight in grades 4-6 (approximately ages 10 to 12 years), years of education, religiosity, marital status, childbearing and parity, and any alcohol and tobacco use as self-reported by the woman during telephone interview (~age 32). These life course

factors may lie on the causal pathway between early life SES and adult methylation (and between early life SES and adult outcomes<sup>33</sup>) and yet they may also serve as confounders in the relationship between adult methylation and phenotype. Contemporary thought suggests including endogenous confounders in regression models may result in over-adjustment by removing some of the mediated effect.<sup>37</sup> Since we are primarily interested in the total effect of early life SES, we exclude these life course factors in our primary analysis of early life SES-methylation associations. In assessing associations between adult methylation and phenotype, however, we adjust for these factors as potential confounders.

*Use of life course factors in mediation analyses* - To explore the potential role of DNA methylation in mediating early life SES-adult phenotype relationships, we must make assumptions regarding the causal relationship of life course factors to adult methylation status. Since the precise role of DNA methylation as cause, mediator, or consequence of life course health processes is still in question<sup>38,39</sup> and we only have measurement of adult methylation, we propose two models in our study: For an "early programming" model, we assume that methylation marks are set in early life, even though they are observed in adulthood (*Figure 1*). In assessing mediation through this models, we again do not adjust for life course factors as they can only be a consequence of DNA methylation status. For a "late effect" model, we assume that methylation marks are a consequence of life course factors despite prior reservations. To assess whether the early life SES-methylation association may be unduly biased by these adjustments, we compare the qualitative interpretation of SES-methylation associations with and without adjustment for life course factors.



Figure 1. Methylation is established in early life. Under this causal diagram, a woman's methylation status is established early in life by birth SES (E) and perinatal characteristics (C) and independent of subsequent life course mediators (M) such as childhood overweight, attained education, marital status, religiosity, childbearing, or substance use. The mediated effect of birth SES (E) on adult phenotype (Y) through methylation status (i.e. the indirect effect) is given by the dashed lines – any effect through life course mediators is captured by the total effect of methylation.



Figure 2. Methylation is affected by life course mediators. Under this causal diagram, a woman's methylation status is determined by birth SES (E), perinatal characteristics (C), and life course mediators (M). The mediated effect of birth SES (E) on adult phenotype (Y) is given by the dashed lines – only the effect through life methylation.

Statistical Analysis – To estimate associations between early life SES and young adult methylation, we fit three multivariable linear regression models for average methylation at each of the six candidate gene regions (*ABCA1*, *HSD11B2*, *INSIGF*, *LEP*, *NR3C1* Exon 1-F Region 1 and Region 2) predicted by each of the four exposures (low / high paternal occupational class; increasing paternal occupational class; increasing maternal years of education; increasing paternal years of education) and: (1) adjusting for woman's age at blood draw and the stratification variables maternal pre-pregnancy overweight ( $\geq 27 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) and woman's birth weight category ( $\leq 2500$  grams, 2501 to 3999 grams,  $\geq 4000$  grams); (2) also adjusting for early life confounders; and (3) also adjusting for life course factors. As mentioned above, adjustment for life course factors was primarily done to assess whether our "late effect" mediation model may be unduly biased. Up to 19 individuals (maternal education and woman's cigarette use) were missing information for each variable, so multiple imputation by chained equations was used to estimate the influence of values missing at random (MAR) conditional on observed covariates on our estimates of early life SES-adult methylation associations.

To estimate associations between adult methylation and phenotype, we fit two multivariable linear regression models for each of our continuous adult outcomes predicted by percent methylation at each of the six promoter regions: (1) Adjusted for woman's age at blood draw and stratification variables; and (2) also adjusted for both confounders and mediators, as they serve as potential confounders of the methylation-phenotype relationship. Similarly we fit two multivariable logistic regression models for each of the binary adult outcomes: risk of obesity (BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), risk of metabolic syndrome, and risk of reporting any term, offspring weighing less than 2.5 kilograms, predicted by percent methylation at each of the six promoter regions. Risk of low birth weight offspring was estimated only amongst women who had reported any births. Continuous biomarkers (*e.g.* cholesterol, HDL, LDL) were not log transformed in accordance with past studies<sup>32</sup> as they did not deviate substantially for normality.

Finally, for promoter regions that showed significant associations with a measure of early life SES and one or more adult outcomes, we explored potential mediation of that specific early life SES-adult phenotype relationship. We did this by estimating the indirect effects of the given early life SES measure on our set of adult outcomes, as mediated through percent methylation, using multivariate linear regressions and the standard product of coefficients approach,<sup>49</sup> which has been formalized in a causal framework under assumptions of no
residual confounding (sequential randomization) and no interaction.<sup>49,50</sup> As discussed in the section on life course factors, we operationalized two alternative causal structures for the developmental origins hypothesis: In the "early programming" model, we assumed that adult methylation status is a measure of methylation status established early in life (Figure 1) and therefore independent of life course factors (childhood overweight, educational attainment, religiosity, adult marital status, and any alcohol or cigarette use). In this model, we estimated the direct effect of early life SES on adult phenotype conditional only on adult methylation. Implicitly, the estimates of indirect effect through methylation capture the effects of methylation on "subsequent" life course measures. In the "late effects" model, we allow that adult methylation may be affected by life course mediators (Figure 2) and adjust for them in models for both direct and indirect effects. In this way, we focus on the components of the effect of early life SES and methylation that do not involve measured life course events. Confidence intervals for calculated indirect effects were obtained by bootstrapping standard errors. We conducted all data analyses using Stata MP 13.1 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA) and p < 0.05 was chosen as our indicator of modeldependent statistical significance. Because we chose a small set of specific exposures and candidate genes a priori based on previous work, and in the interest of not increasing type II error, we elected not to perform any multiple testing corrections. Subsequently, we describe implications for this in the Discussion.

#### Results

Overall, women with available blood samples included in our study did not differ substantially from the total female population (N = 715) of the JPS Family Follow-Up with regard to maternal characteristics and adult cardiometabolic measures, though women in our study sample were slightly less likely to have been low birth weight (13.1% vs. 14.5%), married (78.7% vs. 80.2%), or ultra-Orthodox (18.7% vs. 20.4%). Moreover, our study population was similar in characteristics to women from a previous study<sup>32</sup> in this population (Table 1a). In our study, high paternal occupational class was associated with an average of 3 more years of parental education each compared to low occupational class. Wives of high occupational class fathers were much more likely to have been immigrants from the West (22.7% versus 8.6%) and less likely to report any prenatal smoking (8.4% vs. 18.4%). Women with high occupational class fathers were more likely to report being overweight in the 4<sup>th</sup> to 6<sup>th</sup> grades (22.4% vs. 18.8%), had more years of education, were more likely to be married and identify as ultra-Orthodox, and have had more children, compared to low early life SEP women. Overall, adult methylation was tightly controlled: with the exception of the LEP promoter region, interguartile ranges were less than 10% methylation (Table 1b). Compared to women with low early life SEP, high early life SEP women had higher mean methylation at ABCA1 (20.2% vs. 19.6%), INSIGF (77.4% vs. 77.2%), LEP (22.7% vs. 21.5%), and NR3C1 Region 2 (10.7% vs. 9.1%) and lower methylation at NR3C1 Region 1 (6.4% vs. 6.8%), though differences appeared slight (*Table 1b*).

Table 1a. Study population characteristics, by father's occupational class.						
		Father's Occupational Class				
	Overall	Low (Class 4-6)	High (Class 1-3)			
	(N = 613)	(n = 256)	(n = 357)			
Socioeconomic Status (SES) at Birth						
% Low paternal occupational class <sup>1</sup>	41.8% (256)					
Maternal education (years)	11.8 (3.3)	10.0 (3.0)	13.0 (3.0)			
Paternal education (years)	12.2 (4.0)	9.6 (2.9)	14.0 (3.6)			
Maternal Perinatal Characteristics						
Age at delivery (years)	28.3 (5.8)	27.8 (6.0)	28.7 (5.6)			
% Immigrant from the West	16.8% (103)	8.6% (22)	22.7% (81)			
Pre-pregnancy BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	24.3 (3.9)	24.5 (4.0)	24.2 (3.8)			
% Any smoking during pregnancy	12.6% (77)	18.4% (47)	8.4% (30)			
Parity <sup>2</sup>	2.0 (2.0)	2.0 (1.8)	2.0 (2.2)			
Daughter's Perinatal Characteristics						
Birth weight (grams)	3,298 (599)	3,302 (597)	3,296 (602)			
% Low birth weight (< 2500 grams)	13.1% (80)	11.3% (29)	14.3% (51)			
Dauahter's Life Course Mediators						
% Childhood overweight <sup>3</sup>	20.9% (128)	18.8% (48)	22.4% (80)			
Years of education	14.9 (2.6)	14.4 (2.5)	15.3 (2.6)			
% Married	78.7% (474)	76.8% (192)	80.1% (282)			
% Ultra-Orthodox	18.7% (112)	6.5% (16)	27.4% (96)			
Number of children	2.4 (2.1)	1.9 (1.6)	2.7 (2.4)			
Dauahter's Adult Phenotype						
Height (cm)	162.0 (6.1)	161.7 (6.1)	162.2 (6.2)			
Weight (kg)	68.0 (14.7)	68.0 (15.1)	68.0 (14.5)			
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	25.9 (5.4)	26.0 (5.4)	25.9 (5.5)			
Waist to Hip Ratio (%)	78.7 (6.2)	78.6 (5.8)	78.7 (6.5)			
Systalic blood pressure (mmHg)	99.6 (10.5)	99 3 (11 4)	99 9 (9 8)			
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	69 6 (8 7)	69.5 (11.4)	69 6 (7 9)			
Serum total cholesterol (mg/dL)	183 7 (33 8)	186 0 (35 7)	182 1 (32 3)			
Serum HDL (mg/dL)	57.0 (15.1)	56 4 (14 7)	57 5 (15 3)			
Serum LDL (mg/dL)	108.1 (28.5)	110.2 (29.8)	106.6 (27.4)			
% Obese (≥ 30 kg/m²)	20.0% (122)	20.4% (52)	19.6% (70)			
Metabolic syndrome*	5.1% (31)	6.3% (16)	4.2% (15)			
% Any term, low birth weight children	13.5% (61)	13.5% (25)	13.4% (36)			

<sup>1</sup> Defined by father's occupational class being in the bottom half (i.e. 4-6). <sup>2</sup> Number of self-reported previous live births, including those who have since died. <sup>3</sup> Self-reported as "slightly overweight" or "significantly overweight" in grades 4 to 6 (around age 10 to 12 years).

<sup>4</sup> Based on International Diabetes Federation (2006) criteria, a subject has metabolic syndrome if she: Has central obesity defined as waist circumference  $\geq$  90 cm (~80<sup>th</sup> percentile) or BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> AND at least two of the following: triglycerides > 150 mg/dL, HDL < 50 mg/dL, systolic blood pressure > 130 mmHg, diastolic blood pressure > 85 mmHg, and/or fasting glucose > 100 mg/dL.

Note: All measures reported as mean (standard deviation) other than proportions, which are given as % (N).

	Table 1b. Detailed Methylation (%) Distribution of Candidate Gene Promoter Regions.									
Location (GRCh37 /		# CpG	Overall (N = 613)					Low Class (n = 256)	High Class (n = 357)	
Gene (N)	human genome build 19)	sites	Mean % (SD)	Min	25%ile	Median	75%ile	Max	Mean % (SD)	Mean % (SD)
<i>ABCA1</i> (N = 436)	Chromosome 9: 107,690,502-107,690,821	27	20.0% (7.3)	6.6	14.5	18.6	24	58.5	19.6% (7.2)	20.2% (7.4)
<i>HSD11B2</i> (N = 573)	Chromosome 16: 67,464,230-67,464,442	6	5.7% (2.1)	0.5	4.5	5.3	6.3	22.8	5.7% (2.2)	5.7% (2.1)
<i>INS-IGF</i> (N = 563)	Chromosome 11: 2,182,336-2,182,640	4	77.3% (5.4)	44.5	75	77.8	80.5	97.5	77.2% (5.4)	77.4% (5.3)
<i>LEP</i> (N = 470)	Chromosome 7: 127,881,051-127,881,408	32	22.2% (11.7)	2.5	13.4	20.3	29.7	62.6	21.5% (11.2)	22.7% (11.9)
NR3C1 Exon 1- F.1 (N = 508)	Chromosome 5: 142,783,506-142,783,905	47	6.5% (2.7)	2.8	5.4	6.2	7	48.8	6.8% (3.7)	6.4% (1.7)
NR3C1 Exon 1- F.2 (N = 317)	Chromosome 5: 142,783,885-142,784,247	33	10.1% (6.3)	1.2	6.1	8.7	12.3	62.4	9.1% (5.1)	10.7% (7.0)

Paternal class-adult methylation associations - Adjusting for woman's age at blood draw and stratification variables (maternal pre-pregnancy overweight and woman's birth weight category), high paternal occupational class (1-3) was associated with higher *NR3C1* Region 2 methylation ( $\beta = 1.5$ ; p = 0.027), relative to low class (*Table 2a*). However, after adjusting for additional early life confounders (maternal age at birth, any prenatal smoking, country of origin, and parity), this association was no longer significant (*Table 2b*). Each higher category of paternal occupational class was associated with a 0.5 percentage-point higher *ABCA1* (p = 0.033) and *NR3C1* Region 2 (p = 0.008) promoter methylation, respectively (*Table 2a*). These associations remained statistically significant after adjusting for woman's age, stratification variables, and other early life confounders (*Table 2b*).

Education-adult methylation associations – Each greater year of maternal education was associated with a 0.7 percentage-point higher *HSD11B2* promoter methylation ( $\beta = 0.07$ ; p = 0.013; *Table 2a*). This persisted after additional adjustment for early life confounders (*Table 2b*). Each greater year of paternal education was associated with higher *NR3C1* Region 2 methylation ( $\beta = 0.02$ ; p = 0.026; *Table 2a*). However, after adjusting for early life confounders, this relationship was no longer statistically significant (*Table 2b*).

	Table 2a. Associations Between Early Life SES and Percent Candidate Gene Methylation. $^1$						
Fundation	ABCA1	HSD11B2	INS-IGF	LEP	NR3C1-1F.1	NR3C1-1F.2	
Exposure			в (95% CI), p-value	(p < 0.05 shaded)			
High Paternal	0.5 (-0.9, 1.9)	-0.04 (-0.4, 0.3)	0.2 (-0.7, 1.1)	1.2 (-1.0, 3.4)	-0.4 (-0.9, 0.2)	1.5 (0.2, 2.9)	
Occupational Class <sup>2</sup>	p = 0.450	p = 0.808	p = 0.681	p = 0.275	p = 0.172	p = 0.027	
Increasing Paternal	0.5 (-0.04, 0.9)	-0.02 (-0.1, 0.1)	0.1 (-0.2, 0.4)	0.4 (-0.4, 1.1)	-0.1 (-0.3, 0.1)	0.5 (0.1, 0.9)	
Occupational Class <sup>3</sup>	p = 0.033	p = 0.778	p = 0.517	p = 0.326	p = 0.291	p = 0.008	
Mother's Years	0.2 (-0.02, 0.4)	0.07 (0.01, 0.1)	-0.04 (-0.2, 0.1)	0.3 (-0.04, 0.6)	0.02 (-0.07, 0.1)	0.1 (-0.04, 0.3)	
of Education	p = 0.085	p = 0.013	p = 0.595	p = 0.089	p = 0.683	p = 0.125	
Father's Years	0.1 (-0.05, 0.3)	0.03 (-0.01, 0.08)	-0.09 (-0.2, 0.03)	0.2 (-0.1, 0.4)	-0.02 (-0.08, 0.04)	0.02 (0.02, 0.3)	
of Education	p = 0.154	p = 0.159	p = 0.139	p = 0.254	p = 0.581	p = 0.026	

<sup>1</sup> Adjusted for woman's age at blood draw, maternal pre-pregnancy overweight ( $\geq$  27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), and woman's birth weight category ( $\leq$  2500 grams, 2501 to 3999 grams,  $\geq$  4000 grams). <sup>2</sup> High early life SEP (Father's Occupational Class 1-3) versus low early life SEP (Class 4-6).

<sup>3</sup> Per unit father's occupational class increase, i.e. From class 6 (Low) to class 1 (High).

*NOTE: Coefficients represent percentage-point change per unit exposure.* 

Table 2b. Associations Between Early Life SES and Percent Candidate Gene Methylation, Adjusted for Maternal Characteristics. <sup>1</sup>						
Exposuro	ABCA1	HSD11B2	INS-IGF	LEP	NR3C1-1F.1	NR3C1-1F.2
Exposure		в	(95% CI), p-value (	′p < 0.05 shaded)		
High Paternal	0.4 (-1.1, 1.8)	0.0002 (-0.4, 0.4)	0.3 (-0.7, 1.2)	0.8 (-1.4, 3.0)	-0.4 (-1.1, 0.2)	1.3 (-0.02, 2.6)
Occupational Class	p = 0.600	p = 0.999	p = 0.589	p = 0.490	p = 0.156	p = 0.053
Increasing Paternal	0.5 (0.004, 0.9)	-0.008 (-0.1, 0.1)	0.1 (-0.2, 0.4)	0.2 (-0.5, 1.0)	-0.1 (-0.3, 0.1)	0.4 (0.1, 0.8)
Occupational Class	p = 0.048	p = 0.902	p = 0.449	p = 0.520	p = 0.272	p = 0.022
Mother's Years	0.2 (-0.003, 0.5)	0.08 (0.02, 0.1)	-0.1 (-0.2, 0.1)	0.2 (-0.1, 0.6)	0.02 (-0.1, 0.1)	0.08 (-0.1, 0.3)
of Education	p = 0.053	p = 0.012	p = 0.454	p = 0.177	p = 0.691	p = 0.429
Father's Years	0.1 (-0.1, 0.3)	0.04 (-0.003, 0.1)	-0.1 (-0.2, 0.04)	0.1 (-0.2, 0.4)	-0.02 (-0.1, 0.04)	0.1 (-0.02, 0.3)
of Education	p = 0.219	p = 0.068	p = 0.159	p = 0.505	p = 0.473	p = 0.081

<sup>1</sup> In addition to 2a, also adjusted for: maternal age at birth, any maternal smoking, maternal country of origin, mother's parity.

Sensitivity of models to life course factor adjustment – After further adjusting for potential life course mediators: childhood overweight, years of education, marital status, religiosity, number of children, alcohol and cigarette use and imputing missing values, qualitative associations between early life SES and adult methylation remained virtually identical: Increasing paternal occupational class was associated with a 0.6 percentage-point higher (p = 0.018) ABCA1 and 0.5 percentage-point higher (p = 0.039) NR3C1 Region 2 methylation (Table 2c). Each higher year of maternal education was associated with a 0.08 percentagepoint higher (p = 0.008) HSD11B2 methylation (Table 2c).

 Table 2c. Sensitivity Analysis - Associations Between Early Life SES and Candidate Gene Methylation, Adjusted for Life Course Factors,

 Missing Data Imputed.<sup>1</sup>

		101133111	y Duta Imputeu.			
<b>5</b>	ABCA1	HSD11B2	INS-IGF	LEP	NR3C1-1F.1	NR3C1-1F.2
Exposure			в (95% CI), p-value	e (p < 0.05 shaded)		
High Paternal	0.7 (-0.8, 2.3)	0.002 (-0.4, 0.4)	0.5 (-0.5, 1.4)	0.8 (-1.5, 3.0)	-0.6 (-1.5, 0.3)	1.3 (-0.2, 2.8)
Occupational Class	p = 0.338	p = 0.994	p = 0.330	p = 0.503	p = 0.169	p = 0.100
Increasing Paternal	0.6 (0.1, 1.1)	-0.01 (-0.1, 0.1)	0.2 (-0.1, 0.5)	0.2 (-0.6, 1.0)	-0.2 (-0.4, 0.1)	0.5 (0.03, 0.9)
Occupational Class	p = 0.018	p = 0.888	p = 0.250	p = 0.601	p = 0.264	p = 0.036
Mother's Years of Education	0.2 (-0.02, 0.5) p = 0.066	0.08 (0.02, 0.1) p = 0.008	-0.04 (-0.2, 0.1) p = 0.622	0.2 (-0.2, 0.6) p = 0.345	0.03 (-0.1, 0.1) p = 0.478	0.09 (-0.1, 0.3) p = 0.436
Father's Years of Education	0.2 (-0.04, 0.4) p = 0.112	0.05 (-0.01, 0.1) p = 0.081	-0.1 (-0.2, 0.1) p = 0.270	p = 0.1 (-0.2, 0.4) p = 0.456	-0.04 (-0.1, 0.06) p = 0.425	0.1 (-0.1, 0.3) p = 0.164

<sup>1</sup> In addition to 2b, also adjusted for: woman's childhood overweight (10 - 12 years), years of education, marital status, religiosity, number of children, alcohol and cigarette use. Missing values for maternal education, pre-pregnancy overweight, smoking, and parity; father's education; and woman's marital status, years of education, religiosity, number of children, alcohol use, and cigarette use were imputed ten times using multiple imputation by chained equations. As a result, each regression only was missing a maximum of three subjects.

### Adult methylation-phenotype associations

*HSD11B2* – Adjusted for maternal and life course confounders, each 1%-point higher *HSD11B2* promoter methylation was associated with 0.5 kg (95% CI: -1.0, -0.05) lower weight, 1.4 mg/dL (95% CI: -2.4, -0.3 lower cholesterol, 1.3 mg/dL (95%CI: -2.2, -0.4) lower LDL, and 12% higher risk (OR = 1.12, [95% CI: 1.00, 1.26]) of having any low birth weight offspring (*Table 3*).

*NR3C1 Exon 1F* Region 1 - Adjusted for maternal and life course confounders, each 1%point higher *NR3C1* Exon 1F Region 1 methylation was associated with 0.3 mmHg higher (95% CI: 0.08, 0.5) diastolic blood pressure in the fully adjusted model (p = 0.010; *Table 3b*).

*NR3C1 Exon 1F* Region 2 - Adjusted for maternal and life course confounders, each 1%point higher *NR3C1 Exon 1F* Region 2 methylation was associated with 0.1 cm (95%CI: 0.02, 0.2) greater height (p = 0.019; *Table 3*).

Additional associations and analyses - No significant associations were found for LEP or INS-IGF2. Multiple imputation for missing values did not change estimates of association with adult phenotype greatly (*not shown*) and were substantively similar to Table 3.

Table 3. As	Table 3. Associations Between Candidate Gene Methylation and Adult Phenotype, Adjusted for Confounders. <sup>1</sup>						
Dhanatura Maggura	ABCA1	HSD11B2	INS-IGF	LEP	NR3C1-1F1	NR3C1-1F2	
Phenotype Measure			в (95% CI), p-value	e (p < 0.05 shaded)			
Hoight (cm)	-0.05 (-0.1, 0.03)	-0.1 (-0.4, 0.1)	0.001 (-0.1, 0.1)	0.03 (-0.02, 0.07)	0.01 (-0.2, 0.2)	0.1 (0.02, 0.2)	
Height (Chi)	p = 0.261	p = 0.246	p = 0.976	p = 0.297	p = 0.919	p = 0.019	
Weight (kg)	-0.04 (-0.2, 0.1)	-0.5 (-1.0 <i>,</i> -0.05)	-0.2 (-0.4, 0.04)	0.05 (-0.06, 0.2)	0.2 (-0.2, 0.6)	0.05 (-0.2, 0.3)	
weight (kg)	p = 0.642	p = 0.030	p = 0.115	p = 0.349	p = 0.276	p = 0.659	
BMI (kg/m²)	-0.0002 (-0.1, 0.1) p = 0.994	-0.1 (-0.3, 0.02) p = 0.086	-0.06 (-0.1, 0.01) p = 0.091	0.01 (-0.03, 0.05) p = 0.637	0.07 (-0.06, 0.2) p = 0.294	-0.01 (-0.1, 0.08) p = 0.833	
Waist-to-hip ratio (%)	0.04 (-0.04, 0.1) p = 0.339	0.01 (-0.2, 0.2) p = 0.930	-0.01 (-0.1, 0.08) p = 0.793	-0.01 (-0.06, 0.04) p = 0.609	-0.05 (-0.2, 0.1) p = 0.530	-0.004 (-0.1, 0.1) p = 0.949	
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.01 (-0.1, 0.1) p = 0.877	0.02 (-0.4, 0.4) p = 0.933	-0.07 (-0.2, 0.1) p = 0.405	-0.07 (-0.2, 0.006) p = 0.070	0.2 (-0.1, 0.4) p = 0.268	0.04 (-0.2, 0.2) p = 0.688	
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-0.01 (-0.1, 0.1) p = 0.863	-0.07 (-0.4, 0.3) p = 0.664	-0.08 (-0.2, 0.06) p = 0.280	-0.04 (-0.1, 0.02) p = 0.168	0.3 (0.08, 0.5) p = 0.010	-0.03 (-0.2, 0.1) p = 0.741	
Cholesterol (mg/dL)	-0.1 (-0.6, 0.4) p = 0.649	-1.4 (-2.4, -0.3) p = 0.013	-0.01 (-0.5, 0.5) p = 0.960	0.07 (-0.2, 0.4) p = 0.621	0.5 (-0.3, 1.4) p = 0.234	0.5 (-0.2, 1.1) p = 0.189	
HDL (mg/dL)	0.01 (-0.2, 0.2) p = 0.931	0.1 (-0.4, 0.7) p = 0.596	0.002 (-0.3, 0.3) p = 0.987	-0.02 (-0.2, 0.1) p = 0.728	-0.08 (-0.4, 0.3) p = 0.657	-0.04 (-0.2, 0.2) p = 0.675	
DI (mg/di)	-0.1 (-0.5, 0.3)	-1.3 (-2.2, -0.4)	-0.03 (-0.4, 0.4)	0.1 (-0.1, 0.3)	0.5 (-0.1, 1.1)	0.5 (-0.1, 1.1)	
	p = 0.615	p = 0.005	p = 0.904	p = 0.365	p = 0.111	p = 0.120	
Risk Measure			OR (95% CI), p-valu	ie (p < 0.05 shaded)			
Risk of obesity (BMI > 30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	1.02 (0.98, 1.06)	0.91 (0.81, 1.02)	0.96 (0.91, 1.00)	1.00 (0.98, 1.02)	1.03 (0.96, 1.11)	1.00 (0.96, 1.04)	
	p = 0.290	p = 0.113	p = 0.054	p = 0.785	p = 0.401	p = 0.972	
Risk of Metabolic Syndrome	0.95 (0.89, 1.02)	0.79 (0.58, 1.08)	1.00 (0.92, 1.08)	0.99 (0.95, 1.04)	0.92 (0.58, 1.48)	1.02 (0.92, 1.13)	
	p = 0.132	p = 0.137	p = 0.951	p = 0.773	p = 0.743	p = 0.691	
Risk of Any Low Birth Weight	0.96 (0.92, 1.00)	1.12 (1.00, 1.26)	1.04 (0.98, 1.11)	0.98 (0.95, 1.01)	0.84 (0.65, 1.08)	0.95 (0.87, 1.03)	
Offspring	p = 0.061	p = 0.043	p = 0.179	p = 0.192	p = 0.171	p = 0.213	

<sup>1</sup> In addition to covariates in 4a, also adjusted for: maternal age at birth, parity, prenatal smoking, and immigrant from West; and woman's self-reported overweight at age 10-12, years of education, religiosity, marital status, number of children, frequency of alcohol consumption, and number of cigarettes smoked per day.

*Exploratory mediation analyses* - Since *HSD11B2* and *NR3C1* Exon 1F Region 2 methylation were related to both exposure and outcome in our models, we explored their potential to mediate any relationships between early life SES and adult phenotype in our population. We did not find strong evidence that an effect of maternal education on adult phenotype was mediated by *HSD11B2* through either the "early programming" (*e.g.* Direct effect of maternal education on metabolic syndrome risk p = 0.042, mediated risk through *HSD11B2* p = 0.211; *Table 4a*) or "late effects" (*Table 4b*) models. When assuming methylation status is set in early life by the "early programming" model, there was a suggestion of an indirect effect of increasing paternal class on 0.5 cm (95% CI: 0.0002, 0.1) increased height mediated through higher *NR3C1* Exon 1F Region 2 methylation (p = 0.049; *Table 5a*). This effect was not statistically significant when assuming the "late effects" model (*Table 5b*).

	p	rogramming" model.1		
Cardiometabolic Measure	Total Effect of Increasing Years of Education <sup>2</sup>	Effect of Increasing Education Not Mediated by HSD11B2 Methylation <sup>3</sup>	Indirect Effect Mediated Through HSD11B2 <sup>4</sup>	Percent Change Relative to Direc Effect <sup>5</sup>
	ť	3 (95% Confidence Interval), p-vo	alue (p < 0.05 shaded)	
lloight (cm)	0.1 (-0.07, 0.3)	0.1 (-0.05, 0.3)	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.004)	1.09/
Height (Chi)	p = 0.231	p = 0.180	p = 0.158	-10%
Weight (kg)	-0.2 (-0.6, 0.2)	-0.2 (-0.5, 0.2)	-0.03 (-0.07, 0.001)	±15%
weight (kg)	p = 0.361	p = 0.453	p = 0.055	+13%
$PAII (ka/m^2)$	-0.1 (-0.3, 0.05)	-0.1 (-0.3, 0.06)	-0.01 (-0.02, 0.004)	100/
Війн (ку/ті )	p = 0.172	p = 0.211	p = 0.169	+10%
Waist to Hin Patio (%)	-0.01 (-0.2, 0.2)	-0.01 (-0.2, 0.2)	0.001 (-0.02, 0.02)	-10%
Wuist to hip Kutio (%)	p = 0.896	p = 0.889	p = 0.934	
Systolic Blood Pressure	0.02 (-0.3, 0.3)	0.01 (-0.3, 0.3)	0.005 (-0.03, 0.04)	+50%
(mmHg)	p = 0.909	p = 0.934	p = 0.772	+30%
Diastolic Blood Pressure	0.07 (-0.2, 0.4)	0.08 (-0.2, 0.4)	-0.005 (-0.04, 0.02)	6 20/
(mmHg)	p = 0.617	p = 0.592	p = 0.725	-0.576
Cholastarol (ma/dl)	0.1 (-0.8, 1.0)	0.2 (-0.7, 1.1)	-0.1 (-0.2, 0.02)	50%
cholesterol (mg/uL)	p = 0.808	p = 0.637	p = 0.113	-30%
HDI (ma/di)	0.4 (-0.07, 0.8)	0.4 (-0.08, 0.8)	0.005 (-0.04, 0.05)	1 20/
TIDE (THY/UE)	p = 0.101	p = 0.106	p = 0.845	+1.5%
(DI (ma/dl)	0.04 (-0.7, 0.8)	0.1 (-0.6, 0.9)	-0.1, (-0.2, 0.01)	100%
LDL (IIIg/UL)	p = 0.918	p = 0.719	p = 0.078	-100%
Cardiometabolic Risk	0	R (95 % Confidence Interval), p-ı	value (p < 0.05 shaded)	
Obaca $(RML > 20 kc/m^2)$	0.97 (0.90, 1.05)	0.97 (0.90, 1.05)	0.99 (0.99, 1.00)	10/
Obese (Bivii ≥ 30 kg/m)	p = 0.437	p = 0.504	p = 0.195	-170
Matabalic sundrama	0.85 (0.73, 0.99)	0.86 (0.74, 0.99)	0.98 (0.96, 1.01)	20/
wetabolic synarome	p = 0.035	p = 0.042	p = 0.211	-270
Any low birth weight	0.87 (0.77, 0.99)	0.86 (0.75, 0.98)	1.02 (1.00, 1.04)	120/
offspring	p = 0.041	p = 0.023	p = 0.108	+2%

Table 4. Effects of increasing maternal education on developed adult above two as mediated by UCD11D2 (serve)

All models adjusted for maternal factors: age at daughter's birth; whether she emigrated from the West, any prenatal smoking, parity, and pre-pregnancy BMI, as well as daughter's age and birth weight. Models are estimated based on individuals with full data on maternal education, methylation, and outcome.

<sup>2</sup> Total effect of years of maternal education on adult cardiometabolic measures.

<sup>3</sup> Direct effect of years of maternal education on adult cardiometabolic measures, adjusted for percent HSD11B2 methylation. This assumes methylation is stable and not affected by woman's life course mediators (i.e. childhood overweight and adult marital status, educational attainment, number of children, religiosity, and any smoking or drinking). <sup>4</sup> Standard errors bootstrapped over 50 replications.

<sup>5</sup> Represents the proportion by which the mediated pathway through HSD11B2 methylation reduces or increases the observed direct effect. (e.g. If the direct effect of education is negative and the indirect effect is also negative, the percent change is positive.)

 $^{6}$  Percent change in odds of the outcome (calculated by OR - 1).

Table 4b. Effects of increasi	ng maternal education on	daughter's phenotype as medi	ated by HSD11B2, "la	te effect" model.*
Cardiometabolic	Total Effect of	Effect of Increasing Education	Indirect Effect Mediated Through	Percent Change Relative to Direct
Measure	increasing Education	Not Mediated by HSD11B2	ווויטעעוו 11סטע1	Effect⁵
		195% Confidence Interval) n-valu	(n < 0.05  shaded)	
Height (cm)	0.1 (-0.08, 0.3)	0.1 (-0.07, 0.3)	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.01)	-10%
	p = 0.267	p = 0.214	p = 0.310	
Weight (kg)	0.05 (-0.3, 0.4)	0.09 (-0.3, 0.5)	-0.04 (-0.1, 0.01)	-44%
5 . 57	p = 0.806	p = 0.642	p = 0.140	
2.	-0.02 (-0.2, 0,1)	-0.01 (-0.1, 0.1)	-0.01 (-0.03,	
BMI (kg/m²)	p = 0.808	p = 0.942	0.007)	+100%
	p 0.000	p 0.0.1	p = 0.214	
	0.03 (-0.2, 0.2)	0.04 (-0.2, 0.2)	-0.0003 (-0.02,	
Waist to Hip Ratio (%)	n = 0.721	n = 0.721	0.02)	-0.8%
	p=0.721	p=0.721	p = 0.978	
Systolic Blood Pressure	0.2 (-0.2, 0.5)	0.2 (-0.2, 0.5)	0.001 (-0.03, 0.03)	IO E%
(mmHg)	p = 0.298	p = 0.304	p = 0.949	+0.5%
Diastolic Blood Pressure	0.2 (-0.1, 0.4)	0.2 (-0.1, 0.5)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)	50/
(mmHg)	p = 0.293	p = 0.269	p = 0.581	-5%
	0.2 (-0.7, 1.1)	0.3 (-0.6, 1.2)	-0.1 (-0.3, 0.03)	2221
Cholesterol (mg/dL)	p = 0.678	p = 0.471	p = 0.110	-33%
	0.04 (-0.4, 0.5)	0.02 (-0.4, 0.5)	0.01 (-0.05. 0.08)	
HDL (mg/dL)	p = 0.871	p = 0.918	p = 0.685	+50%
	0.3 (-0.5, 1.1)	0.4 (-0.4, 1.3)	-0.1 (-0.3, 0.03)	
LDL (mg/dL)	p = 0.486	p = 0.302	p = 0.109	-25%
		P	P	
Cardiometabolic Risk				
Obseq $(DM) > 20 \ln (m^2)$	1.01 (0.93, 1.10)	1.02 (0.94, 1.10)	0.99 (0.98, 1.01)	10/6
Obese (BIVII $\geq 30$ kg/m )	p = 0.819	p = 0.705	p = 0.370	-1%
	0.91 (0.79, 1.05)	0.92 (0.80, 1.06)	0.98 (0.94, 1.02)	<b>20</b> / <sup>6</sup>
Metabolic syndrome	p = 0.189	p = 0.260	p = 0.314	-2%
Any low birth weight	0.87 (0.75, 1.00)	0.85 (0.73, 0.98)	1.02 (0.99, 1.04)	2016
, offspring	p = 0.048	p = 0.026	p = 0.127	+2%

<sup>1</sup> All models adjusted for maternal factors: age at daughter's birth; whether she emigrated from the West, any prenatal smoking, parity, and pre-pregnancy BMI, as well as daughter's age and birth weight. Also adjusted for daughter's life course mediators: childhood overweight, years of education, marital status, religiosity, number of children, and frequency of alcohol and cigarette use. Models are estimated based on individuals with full data on maternal education, methylation, and outcome. <sup>2</sup> Total effect of years of maternal education on daughter's cardiometabolic measures, adjusted for daughter's life course mediators.

<sup>3</sup> Direct effect of years of maternal education on daughter's cardiometabolic measures, adjusted for mediators and percent HSD11B2 methylation.

<sup>4</sup> Standard errors bootstrapped over 50 replications.

<sup>5</sup> Represents the proportion by which the mediated pathway through HSD11B2 methylation reduces or increases the observed direct effect.

<sup>6</sup> Percent change in odds of the outcome (calculated by OR - 1).

	programming" model. <sup>1</sup>						
Cardiometabolic Measure	Total Effect of Increasing Class <sup>2</sup>	Effect of Increasing Class Not Mediated by NR3C1 Exon 1F-2 Methylation <sup>3</sup>	Indirect Effect Mediated Through NR3C1 Exon 1F-2 <sup>4</sup>	Percent Change Relative to Direct Effect <sup>5</sup>			
		β (95% Confidence Interval), p-val	ue (p < 0.05 shaded)				
Heiaht (cm)	-0.04 (-0.5, 0.4)	-0.1 (-0.5, 0.4)	0.05 (0.0002, 0.1)	-50%			
	p = 0.854	p = -0.675	p = 0.049				
Weight (kg)	-0.9 (-2.0, 0.2)	-1.0 (-2.1, 0.1)	0.06 (-0.09, 0.2)	-6%			
	p = 0.096	p = 0.077	p = 0.406				
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-0.3 (-0.7, 0.08)	-0.3 (-0.7, 0.08)	0.01 (-0.05, 0.07)	-3%			
	p = 0.120	p = 0.110	p = 0.737				
Waist to Hip Ratio (%)	0.2 (-0.3, 0.7)	0.2 (-0.3, 0.7)	-0.01 (-0.08, 0.07)	-5%			
	p = 0.363	p = 0.357	p = 0.878				
Systolic Blood Pressure	-0.4 (-1.2, 0.3)	-0.5 (-1.2, 0.3)	0.02 (-0.09, 0.1)	-4%			
(mmHg)	p = 0.265	p = 0.253	p = 0.720	170			
Diastolic Blood Pressure	-0.4 (-1.1. 0.3)	-0.4 (-1.1, 0.3)	-0.0003(-0.08,				
(mmHa)	p = 0.291	p = 0.290	0.08)	+0.1%			
(	P	P	p = 0.994				
Cholesterol (ma/dl)	-2.3 (-5.4, 0.8)	-2.4 (-5.6, 0.7)	0.1 (-0.3, 0.5)	-4%			
	0.147	p = 0.127	p = 0.501	170			
HDI (ma/di)	0.06 (-1.1, 1.3)	0.09 (-1.1, 1.3)	-0.03 (-0.1, 0.07)	-33%			
	p = 0.923	p = 0.885	p = 0.551	5570			
IDI (ma/di)	-1.8 (-4.4, 0.8)	-1.9 (-4.5, 0.7)	0.2 (-0.09, 0.4)	-7%			
LDL (Ing/uL)	p = 0.183	p = 0.146	p = 0.196	-770			
Cardiometabolic Risk		OR (95 % Confidence Interval) n-vo	lue $(n < 0.05 \text{ shaded})$				
	0.85 (0.69, 1.04)	0.85 (0.69, 1.04)					
Obese (BMI ≥ 30 kg/m²)	p = 0.120	n = 0.112	n = 0.807				
	0.85 (0.60, 1.20)	0.85 (0.60, 1.20)	1.01 (0.92, 1.12)	.6			
Metabolic syndrome	p = 0.361	p = 0.346	p = 0.787	-1%°			
Any low birth weight	0.88 (0.64, 1.20)	0.89 (0.65, 1.21)	0.99 (0.96, 1.02)	.10/6			
offspring	p = 0.412	p = 0.453	p = 0.570	+1%			

Table 5a. Effects of increasing paternal occupational class on daughter's phenotype as mediated by NR3C1 Exon 1F.2, "early
programming'' model.

<sup>1</sup> All models adjusted for maternal factors: age at daughter's birth; whether she emigrated from the West, any prenatal smoking, parity, and pre-pregnancy BMI, as well as daughter's age and birth weight. Models are estimated based on individuals with full data on maternal education, methylation, and outcome.

<sup>2</sup> Total effect of increasing early life SEP as defined by father's occupational class at birth on adult cardiometabolic measures.

<sup>3</sup> Direct effect of increasing early life SEP on adult cardiometabolic measures, adjusted for percent NR3C1 Exon 1F-2 methylation. This assumes methylation is stable and not affected by woman's life course mediators.

<sup>4</sup> Standard errors bootstrapped over 50 replications.

<sup>5</sup> Represents the proportion by which the mediated pathway through NR3C1 Exon 1F-2 methylation reduces or increases the observed direct effect.

<sup>6</sup> Percent change in odds of the outcome (calculated by OR - 1).

Table 5b. Effects of increasing paternal occupational class on daughter's phenotype as mediated by NR3C1 Exon 1F.2, "late         effects" model. <sup>1</sup>						
Cardiometabolic Measure	Total Effect of Increasing Class <sup>2</sup>	Effect of Increasing Class Not Mediated by NR3C1 Exon 1F-2 Methylation <sup>3</sup>	Indirect Effect Mediated Through NR3C1 Exon 1F-2 <sup>4</sup>	Percent Change Relative to Direct Effect⁵		
-		β (95% Confidence Interval), p-valu	e (p < 0.05 shaded)			
Height (cm)	-0.01 (-0.5, 0.5) p = 0.955	-0.07 (-0.5, 0.4) p = 0.770	0.06 (-0.02, 0.1) p = 0.125	-86%		
Weight (kg)	-1.1 (-2.2, 0.01) p = 0.053	-1.1 (-2.2, 0.02) p = 0.045	0.04 (-0.09, 0.2) p = 0.547	-4%		
BMI (kg/m²)	-0.4 (-0.01, 0.8) p = 0.056	-0.4 (-0.8, 0.01) p = 0.055	-0.0002 (-0.05, 0.05) p = 0.993	+0.1%		
Waist to Hip Ratio (%)	0.1 (-0.3, 0.6) p = 0.587	0.1 (-0.3, 0.6) p = 0.577	-0.004 (-0.05, 0.04) p = 0.882	-4%		
Systolic Blood Pressure (mmHa)	-0.3 (-1.0, 0.4) p = 0.405	-0.3 (-1.1, 0.4) p = 0.378	0.02 (-0.09, 0.1) p = 0.684	-7%		
Diastolic Blood Pressure	-0.3 (-1.0, 0.4)	-0.3 (-1.0, 0.4)	-0.01 (-0.1, 0.1)	+3%		
Cholesterol (mg/dL)	p = 0.441 -2.4 (-5.7, 1.0) p = 0.165	p = 0.434 -2.6 (-6.0, 0.7) n = 0.125	p = 0.831 0.3 (-0.2, 0.7) p = 0.273	-12%		
HDL (mg/dL)	-0.2(-1.4, 1.0) p = 0.765	-0.2 (-1.4, 1.0) n = 0.791	-0.02 (-0.1, 0.09) n = 0.713	+10%		
LDL (mg/dL)	-1.7 (-4.4, 1.1) p = 0.233	-1.9 (-4.7, 0.8) p = 0.170	p = 0.113 0.3 (-0.06, 0.6) p = 0.115	-16%		
Cardiometabolic Risk		OR (05 % Confidence Interval) n-val	$u_{e}(n < 0.05 \text{ shaded})$			
Obese (BMI $\geq$ 30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.82 (0.64, 1.04) p = 0.103	0.81 (0.64, 1.04) p = 0.100	1.00 (0.98, 1.03) p = 0.890			
Metabolic syndrome	1.27 (0.85, 1.89) p = 0.246	1.27 (0.85, 1.85) p = 0.245	$1.01 (0.61, 1.67)^4$ p = 0.976	-1%		
Any low birth weight offspring	0.88 (0.64, 1.22) p = 0.460	0.90 (0.65, 1.25) p = 0.527	0.99 (0.94, 1.03) p = 0.572	+1%		

All models adjusted for maternal factors: age at daughter's birth; whether she emigrated from the West, any prenatal smoking, parity, and pre-pregnancy BMI, as well as daughter's age and birth weight. Models are estimated based on individuals with full data on maternal education, methylation, and outcome.

<sup>2</sup> Total effect of increasing early life SEP (6 through 1) as defined by father's occupational class at birth on adult cardiometabolic measures.

<sup>3</sup> Direct effect of increasing early life SEP on daughter's cardiometabolic measures, adjusted for mediators and percent NR3C1 Exon 1F-2 methylation.

<sup>4</sup> Standard errors bootstrapped over 50 replications. One parameter's standard error did not bootstrap well and a different seed

number was required. <sup>5</sup> Represents the proportion by which the mediated pathway through NR3C1 Exon 1F-2 methylation reduces or increases the observed direct effect.

<sup>6</sup> Percent change in odds of the outcome (calculated by OR – 1).

#### Discussion

Overall, we found some evidence that lower early life SES, defined by lower paternal occupational class or fewer years of maternal education, were associated with reduced methylation at candidate genes *ABCA1*, *HSD11B2*, and *NR3C1* Exon 1F. To our knowledge, the current study is the first to report associations between early life SES and methylation at these genes amongst young adult women. Moreover, findings for both early life SES-adult methylation (*Tables 2a-d*) were fairly consistent across models, including after sensitivity measures such as adjustments for life course factors and multiple imputation. This suggests DNA methylation is influenced by early life environment, associated with adult disease risk, and potentially independent of life course events. This is consistent with a hypothesis of early life programming of cardiometabolic risk. However, in exploratory analysis, we did not find substantial evidence for average methylation in these regions mediating birth SES-adult phenotype relationships.

While most studies of early life adversity have assessed methylation more globally,<sup>19-21,51</sup> several studies have investigated associations with candidate genes. For example, Appleton, *et al.* found an association between mothers with high school or greater educational attainment and a 9 percentage-point higher maternal-side placental methylation of the *HSD11B2* glucocorticoid inactivating enzyme relative to mothers with less than a high school education ( $\beta$  = 8.8; p < 0.05; N = 444) after adjusting for maternal age, pre-pregnancy BMI, race, infant sex, and birth weight percentile.<sup>34</sup> We found a positive association between maternal educational attainment and adult female offspring *HSD11B2* leukocyte methylation adjusted for similar characteristics, albeit an order of magnitude lower (*e.g.* 12 years of education \* 0.08 = ~1 percentage point higher for high school education). Despite a noted discordance between methylation of different offspring tissues,<sup>41,52</sup> our findings suggest plausibility of a systemic, compensatory mechanism in response to early life adversity that persists into young adulthood, complementing findings by Appleton, *et al.* 

Several studies have reported associations between maternal perinatal stress with differential *NR3C1* methylation in newborn and adolescent offspring: Using principle components analysis, Mulligan, et al. found a positive association between maternal exposure to war stress and the first principle component of newborn NR3C1 promoter methylation from umbilical cord blood (Pearson's correlation r = 0.57, p = 0.003).<sup>16</sup> Contrastingly, Radtke, et al. found intimate partner violence experienced by the mother during pregnancy was associated with a 2 percentage-point reduction in adolescent (mean age = 14.1 years) offspring NR3C1 promoter methylation (p < 0.05).<sup>17</sup> We found evidence that lower paternal occupational class (early life SEP) was related to reduced young adult *NR3C1* Exon 1F Region 2 methylation ( $\beta = -0.5$  [95% CI: -0.9, -0.030]; p = 0.036). This region corresponds to a 363 base pair sequence (Chromosome 5: 142,783,885-142,784,248; GRCh37 human genome build 19) 3' of the identified Exon 1F regulatory region for the NR3C1 glucocorticoid receptor.<sup>52</sup> Extending previous methylation profiling work in newborns<sup>16</sup> and adolescents,<sup>17</sup> our findings support the plausibility that early socioeconomic adversity may result in different NR3C1 methylation profiles in adults. This is relevant since response to glucocorticoids could be an important pathway relating early life adversity to adult cardiometabolic risk.<sup>7,31, 53</sup>

We also found evidence for an association between higher early life SES and increased young adult *ABCA1* methylation (adjusted 0.5 %-points per higher paternal occupational class, p = 0.048). One previous study by Tobi, *et al.* found an associations between famine exposure in early gestation and higher ABCA1 methylation (0.7 %-points relative unexposed siblings, p = 0.017) amongst older adults (~58 years of age).<sup>29</sup> This study also found famine to be associated with increased *INSIGF* and decreased *LEP* methylation.<sup>29</sup> However, we did not find associations between birth SES and *LEP* or *INSIGF* promoter methylation. Famine exposure may influence DNA methylation through different pathways than social stressors, including through overt, maternal nutritional deprivation of methyl donors like

folate.<sup>18,29,54</sup> Therefore, famine exposure may have different associations to methylation profiles than early life socioeconomic status as we have measured it. Moreover, *ABCA1*, *LEP*, and *INSIGF* methylation been shown to be extra sensitive to external environment over time despite substantial concordance in studies of monozygotic twins.<sup>55</sup> Our findings that associations with these gene regions did not exist even after adjusting for potential life course mediators suggests life course, postnatal factors may be substantially important for adult DNA methylation in these genes relative to early life SES.

In this current study, we did not find strong evidence for candidate gene methylation playing a specific mediating role in early life SES-adult outcome relationships. We can identify several reasons for this: It is possible that our exploratory mediation model is incorrect due to improper model specifications or residual confounding. For example, while we adjusted for birth weight, for consistency with other studies<sup>34</sup> and to account for stratified sampling, birth weight is likely an important mediator which captures much of the variance relating birth SES to adult outcome.<sup>14</sup> While we did not find systematic evidence for simple additive interaction between exposure and mediators, there may be a more complex un-modelled relationship.<sup>49</sup> Finally, the effect of early life SES may be exerted by pathways not captured by average methylation in these candidate gene regions.<sup>28</sup>

There are several notable strengths to our study: First, we use state-of-the-art mass spectrometry methods to profile methylation at candidate genes previously found to be related to early life conditions and also pertinent to adult cardiometabolic function. Additionally, our study of 613 women is one of the largest attempting to relate *in utero* environment and candidate gene methylation in adult subjects. Consequently, we were able to detect effect sizes that were quite small. Moreover, we investigated potential associations amongst women given the potential importance of early life factors on reproductive outcomes and intergenerational transmission of health. Finally, our study is conducted amongst a well-characterized population with extensive information on maternal

demographics, pregnancy course, and offspring characteristics and biomarkers at an average age of 32 years.<sup>32</sup> This study of births from 1974-76 in Jerusalem consists of a unique population subject to many historical stressors: The growth of the state of Israel since its formation in 1948 has been marked by large influxes of refugees and immigrants driven by religious and political pressures, as well as social strife from multiple wars.<sup>35</sup> In our study population, 47% of mothers were born somewhere other than Israel and experienced several wars during their lifetimes.<sup>35,56</sup> On the other hand, Israel has developed very rapidly as a modern market economy with female education averaging 16 years and a GDP per capital exceeding \$36,000 USD as of 2013, making it 37<sup>th</sup> in the world.<sup>57</sup> Persistent changes in DNA methylation subsequent to early life adversity may operate cyclically, over generations, to produce disproportionate morbidity and mortality.<sup>21,26,27</sup> This phenomenon has particular implications for nations undergoing rapid transitions to industrial/postindustrial economies. Recent improvements in later life conditions may mask increased susceptibility to morbidity due to early life and intergenerational adversity.<sup>58</sup> Consequently, this population is ideal to study the effects of adverse maternal experience in the context of general socioeconomic improvement for the offspring generation. This context is unique and indeed our results show that adjustment for offspring life course factors changes associations very little.

However, some limitations of the current study deserve mention. Notably, caution is needed in interpreting and generalizing our findings. For example, Israeli women are required to serve in the military following completion of the twelfth and final year of compulsory education. Women may defer such service if they are admitted to a University or other higher educational training opportunity, identify as ultra-Orthodox, or are pregnant. As a result, approximately half all women serve in the military<sup>32</sup> in a manner that is dependent on education, childbearing, and religiosity. While our adjustment models account for these factors, the dynamics of life course stressors experienced by women in our study may be unique to Israeli citizens. For example, our paternal occupational class measure groups fathers whose occupations are Yeshiva students (therefore, religious or ultra-Orthodox) as class 2, or 'high' SES. Previous studies have found this to be problematic (Savitsky, et al., In Review), as Yeshiva students and their families are generally poor and more likely to have poorer health. Despite this, we found that candidate gene methylation assocations generally occurred in the same direction based on different measures of SES, lending confidence to a more general association between stresses of early life SES and adult methylation status. Another limitation is our ability to only capture candidate gene DNA methylation in peripheral blood leukocytes at age 32. It is possible that developmental effects of early life SES may be exerted in different tissues, different genes, and at earlier ages.<sup>28,38,52</sup> While we did not see substantial changes of estimates of associations when adjusting for life course mediators, we also did not have measures of newborn or infant methylation to directly test hypotheses regarding stable, early life programming. Nonetheless, early life methylation changes have been shown to occur systematically, across multiple organs, and persist over the life course.<sup>9,28,29</sup> Finally, in an effort to limit Type II error at the cost of a higher potential for Type I error,<sup>59</sup> we opted not to implement any adjustments for multiple hypothesis tests. We felt this was justified since our exposures, outcomes, and covariates were specified a priori from past research, with a reasonable expectation to find significant results. One correction we might have considered performing was for testing four measures of early life SES against each gene. Had we applied a Benjamin-Hochberg correction<sup>60</sup> with a false discovery rate of 5%, each early life SES-adult methylation association would have to meet the threshold of p < 0.0125 (0.25 \* 0.05). Under this criterion, the positive association between maternal years of education and HSD11B2 methylation would still be statistical significant (p = 0.012), though associations with ABCA1 and NR3C1 would not be (Table 2b).

In summary, we found some evidence of association of early life SES with young adult methylation in cardiometabolic and stress response-related genes amongst young adult women. In this young adult population, we did not find significant evidence for mediation of the early life SES-adult phenotype relationship by average methylation at our candidate gene regions. Future studies should evaluate the potential causal mechanisms (if any) and consequences of these relationships. This can include different parameterizations of early life SES sensitive to the specific relevance of the measure to mothers, measures of peripheral blood methylation at different time points (including early gestation, birth, and later life), and attempts to implement causal modeling and sensitivity analyses more robust to interactions and unmeasured confounding. The potential for methylation to be used for the early identification of cardiometabolic risk in individuals highlights the significance of future research in this area.

(End Chapter 3)

#### Discussion

#### Executive Summary

Parental socioeconomic status (SES) experienced by a woman *in utero* may directly affect her adult health and reproductive outcomes through epigenetic mechanisms that are independent of her life course experiences. Using a U.S.-national, longitudinal cohort, Add Health, we investigated the effect of mother's education on cardiometabolic risk and pregnancy outcomes among women averaging 30 years of age. Using an Israeli birth cohort, JPS-1, we investigated associations between parental education and father's occupational class on DNA methylation at cardiometabolic genes in 32-year old women.

(1) Using marginal structural models estimated by inverse probability weighting, we found young adult women whose mothers had higher educational attainment (*e.g.* college versus high school) had 40% lower risk (Odds Ratio = 0.60, 95% Confidence Interval: 0.45, 0.80) of metabolic syndrome, independent of childhood maltreatment, adolescent overweight, adult SES, and behavioral risk. Additionally, there was evidence that women with mothers who have higher education attainment were taller, thinner, and had a smaller waist, lower resting pulse rate, lower levels of inflammatory markers, and better blood sugar control.

(2) Additionally, women born to mothers with higher educational attainment had children delivered who were 90 grams heavier (95% CI: 20.8, 156.5), independent of childhood maltreatment, pre-pregnancy overweight, adult SES, and prenatal smoking. Moreover, results from (1) and (2) were robust to several sensitivity analyses including model alteration, data replacement, and quantitative bias analyses.

(3) Finally, we found that lower paternal occupational class was associated with reduced methylation at regions of the *ABCA1* cholesterol transporter and the *NR3C1* glucocorticoid receptor genes, after adjusting for numerous parental and offspring characteristics. Similarly, fewer years of mother's education was associated with reduced *HSD11B2* 

glucocorticoid-inactivating enzyme gene methylation. There was also evidence that reduced *HSD11B2* methylation was associated with increased cardiometabolic risk markers. However, such associations did not appear to mediate early life SES and adult phenotype relationships.

Overall, there appears to be substantial evidence that early life SES is independently related to women's adult health, reproductive outcomes, and DNA methylation, however the mechanisms relating them require further elucidation.

#### Strengths and Limitations

A major strength of this dissertation is the use of rich longitudinal data sets, containing many measures of women's health, socioeconomic status, and behaviors across her life course. Subsequently, marginal structural modeling (MSM) estimated by inverse probability weighting were used to estimate direct effects of early life SES while controlling for these inter-related mediators without introducing substantial bias. Moreover, several sensitivity analyses procedures were implemented specifically to address known limitations of the MSM method, namely assumptions about causal structure and unmeasured confounding. Finally, the likelihood of epigenetic mechanisms playing a role in this effect was tested directly by state-of-the-art quantification of candidate gene methylation through mass spectrometry.

Notable limitations include the inability to control for other potential predictors of adult cardiometabolic phenotype including maternal smoking (in Add Health), nutritional factors, or environmental exposures such as air pollution. Also, we were unable to measure DNA methylation in either different tissues or different time points. Such measures would lend themselves to analysis better suited to evaluate the potential mediating effect of DNA methylation. Moreover, the stratified sampling method of the JPS study made implementing MSM difficult, thus we used a product of coefficients approach to mediation analysis, despite its known limitations in the presence of possible interactions and endogenous confounding. Finally, we lacked biomarkers and other measures of early life exposure, such as maternal or fetal levels of cortisol. Thus, we could not investigate ways in which measures of early life SES may be directly related to the intrauterine environment.

#### Public Health Significance

Overall, this study suggests the importance of maternal education attainment for the health of her offspring. This was observed as increased cardiometabolic risk and lower birth weight amongst women whose mothers had lower education at the time of their birth. This is coupled with evidence that the effect is independent of the woman's experiences through her own life and may be associated with epigenetic programming. This suggests any effects of early life socioeconomic differences on adult health cannot be corrected merely by improving the behaviors or socioeconomic conditions of adult women at risk of cardiometabolic disease or poor pregnancy outcome. Consequently, policies seeking to address women's health disparities in adulthood should consider population level interventions to improve women's SES while measuring outcomes in the next generation.

#### Next Steps

In our study, the use of MSM did not necessarily suggest where bias may have been introduced by traditional adjustment, perhaps we corrected endogenous confounding by racial perceptions when adjusting for race. More work should be done to describe factors that confound life course-outcome relationships that are also a consequence of the early life SES (*i.e.* endogenous confounders). Incorporating these factors will further strengthen evidence for causal effects of early life SES. Additionally, a natural extension of our current work is to implement MSM analyses with DNA methylation in a population where data collection, including methylation assays at different time points, may be more amenable. Samples should be drawn from multiple tissues, profiled across more gene regions, and assessed for differential expression, in order to strengthen mechanistic evidence. Finally, our study suggests that public health intervention to address health disparities is incomplete without addressing early life or intergenerational conditions. Consequently, future efforts should be directed at identifying specific aspects of early life socioeconomic status, particularly maternal education, as targets for interventions. Furthermore, future work should consider how DNA methylation marks may be used as early indicators of adult health risk and how such biomarkers may also be used to inform interventions.

## **References (by Section)**

## Introduction

- 1. Lynch J, Smith GD. A life course approach to chronic disease epidemiology. Annu Rev Public Health. 2005;26:1–35.
- 2. Lu MC, Halfon N. Racial and ethnic disparities in birth outcomes: a life-course perspective. Matern Child Health J. 2003;7(1):13–30.
- 3. Stein AD, Lumey LH. The relationship between maternal and offspring birth weights after maternal prenatal famine exposure: the Dutch Famine Birth Cohort Study. Hum Biol. 2000;72(4):641–654.
- 4. Lumey LH, Terry MB, Delgado-Cruzata L, et al. Adult global DNA methylation in relation to pre-natal nutrition. Int J Epidemiol. 2012;41(1):116–123.
- 5. van Abeelen AF, Veenendaal MV, Painter RC, de Rooij SR, Dijkgraaf MG, Bossuyt PM, Elias SG, Grobbee DE, Uiterwaal CS, Roseboom TJ. Survival effects of prenatal famine exposure. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012 Jan;95(1):179-83.
- 6. van Abeelen AF, Elias SG, Bossuyt PM, Grobbee DE, van der Schouw YT, Roseboom TJ, Uiterwaal CS. Famine exposure in the young and the risk of type 2 diabetes in adulthood. Diabetes. 2012 Sep;61(9):2255-60.
- van Abeelen AF, Elias SG, Roseboom TJ, Bossuyt PM, van der Schouw YT, Grobbee DE, Uiterwaal CS. Postnatal acute famine and risk of overweight: the dutch hungerwinter study. Int J Pediatr. 2012;2012:936509.
- 8. Giscombé CL, Lobel M. Explaining disproportionately high rates of adverse birth outcomes among African Americans: the impact of stress, racism, and related factors in pregnancy. Psychol Bull. 2005;131(5):662–683.
- Borders AEB, Grobman WA, Amsden LB, Holl JL. Chronic stress and low birth weight neonates in a low-income population of women. Obstet Gynecol. 2007;109(2 Pt 1):331– 338.
- 10. Gavin AR, Hill KG, Hawkins JD, Maas C. The role of maternal early-life and later-life risk factors on offspring low birth weight: findings from a three-generational study. J Adolesc Health. 2011;49(2):166–171.
- 11. Darling RD, Atav AS. Risk Factors for Low Birth Weight in New York State Counties. Policy, Politics & Nursing Practice. 2012.
- Johnson RC, Schoeni RF. Early-life origins of adult disease: national longitudinal population-based study of the United States. Am J Public Health. 2011;101(12):2317– 2324.
- 13. Kochanek KD, Kirmeyer SE, Martin JA, Strobino DM, Guyer B. Annual Summary of Vital Statistics: 2009. Pediatrics. 2012;129(2):338–348.
- 14. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Cooper C, Thornburg KL. Effect of in utero and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(1):61–73.

- 15. Reynolds RM. Glucocorticoid excess and the developmental origins of disease: two decades of testing the hypothesis--2012 Curt Richter Award Winner. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2013;38(1):1–11.
- 16. Dominguez TP. Adverse birth outcomes in African American women: the social context of persistent reproductive disadvantage. Soc Work Public Health. 2011;26(1):3–16.
- 17. Galobardes B, Smith GD, Lynch JW. Systematic review of the influence of childhood socioeconomic circumstances on risk for cardiovascular disease in adulthood. Ann Epidemiol. 2006;16(2):91–104.
- Yeast JD, Poskin M, Stockbauer JW, Shaffer S. Changing patterns in regionalization of perinatal care and the impact on neonatal mortality. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1998;178(1 Pt 1):131–135.
- 19. Hack M, Schluchter M, Forrest CB, et al. Self-Reported Adolescent Health Status of Extremely Low Birth Weight Children Born 1992-1995. Pediatrics. 2012.
- 20. Syddall HE, Sayer AA, Simmonds SJ, et al. Birth weight, infant weight gain, and causespecific mortality: the Hertfordshire Cohort Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2005;161(11):1074– 1080.
- 21. Kajantie E, Barker DJP, Osmond C, Forsén T, Eriksson JG. Growth before 2 years of age and serum lipids 60 years later: the Helsinki Birth Cohort study. Int J Epidemiol. 2008;37(2):280–289.
- 22. Perälä M-M, Moltchanova E, Kaartinen NE, et al. The association between salt intake and adult systolic blood pressure is modified by birth weight. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;93(2):422–426.
- 23. Rkhzay-Jaf J, O'Dowd JF, Stocker CJ. Maternal Obesity and the Fetal Origins of the Metabolic Syndrome. Curr Cardiovasc Risk Rep. 2012;6(5):487–495.
- 24. Ono Y, Takagi K, Seki H, et al. Neonatal outcome in infants of chronically hypertensive mothers. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2013;39(6):1142–1146.
- 25. Kaufman JS. Some models just can't be fixed. A commentary on Mortensen. Social Science & Medicine. 2013;76:8–11.
- 26. Kuzawa CW, Sweet E. Epigenetics and the embodiment of race: developmental origins of US racial disparities in cardiovascular health. Am J Hum Biol. 2009; 21(1):2–15.
- 27. Drake AJ, Seckl JR. Transmission of programming effects across generations. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev. 2011; 9(2):566–578.
- 28. Martorell R, Zongrone A. Intergenerational influences on child growth and undernutrition. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2012; 26 Suppl 1:302–314.
- 29. Reynolds RM, Jacobsen GH, Drake AJ. What is the evidence in humans that DNA methylation changes link events in utero and later life disease? Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2013;78(6):814–822.
- 30. Essex MJ, Thomas Boyce W, Hertzman C, et al. Epigenetic vestiges of early developmental adversity: childhood stress exposure and DNA methylation in adolescence. Child Dev. 2013;84(1):58–75.

- 31. Entringer S, Buss C, Swanson JM, et al. Fetal programming of body composition, obesity, and metabolic function: the role of intrauterine stress and stress biology. J Nutr Metab. 2012;2012:632548.
- 32. Jablonka E. Epigenetic epidemiology. Int J Epidemiol. 2004;33(5):929-935.
- 33. Gallo LA, Tran M, Master JS, Moritz KM, Wlodek ME. Maternal adaptations and inheritance in the transgenerational programming of adult disease. Cell and Tissue Research. 2012.
- 34. Wells JCK. Maternal capital and the metabolic ghetto: An evolutionary perspective on the transgenerational basis of health inequalities. Am J Hum Biol. 2010;22(1):1–17.
- 35. Tu Y-K. Commentary: Is structural equation modelling a step forward for epidemiologists? Int J Epidemiol. 2009;38(2):549–551.
- 36. Tamayo T, Christian H, Rathmann W. Impact of early psychosocial factors (childhood socioeconomic factors and adversities) on future risk of type 2 diabetes, metabolic disturbances and obesity: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2010;10:525.
- 37. Richardson LJ, Hussey JM, Strutz KL. Origins of disparities in cardiovascular disease: birth weight, body mass index, and young adult systolic blood pressure in the national longitudinal study of adolescent health. Ann Epidemiol. 2011;21(8):598–607.
- 38. Mulligan CJ, D'Errico NC, Stees J, Hughes DA. Methylation changes at NR3C1 in newborns associate with maternal prenatal stress exposure and newborn birth weight. Epigenetics. 2012;7(8):853–857.
- 39. Radtke KM, Ruf M, Gunter HM, et al. Transgenerational impact of intimate partner violence on methylation in the promoter of the glucocorticoid receptor. Transl Psychiatry. 2011;1:e21.
- 40. Heijmans BT, Tobi EW, Stein AD, et al. Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2008;105(44):17046–17049.
- 41. Tobi EW, Slagboom PE, van Dongen J, et al. Prenatal famine and genetic variation are independently and additively associated with DNA methylation at regulatory loci within IGF2/H19. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(5):e37933.
- 42. Talens RP, Jukema JW, Trompet S, et al. Hypermethylation at loci sensitive to the prenatal environment is associated with increased incidence of myocardial infarction. Int J Epidemiol. 2012;41(1):106–115.
- 43. Borghol N. Associations with early-life socio-economic position in adult DNA methylation. International Journal of Epidemiology. 2012;41(1):62–74.
- 44. Tehranifar P, Wu H-C, Fan X, et al. Early life socioeconomic factors and genomic DNA methylation in mid-life. Epigenetics. 2013;8(1):23–27.

*Chapter 1 – Direct effects of maternal education at daughter's birth on daughter's adult cardiometabolic risk* 

- 1. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Cooper C, *et al*. Effect of in utero and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N Engl J Med. 2008 Jul 3;359(1):61–73.
- 2. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Buklijas T, *et al*. Epigenetic mechanisms that underpin metabolic and cardiovascular diseases. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2009 Jul;5(7):401–8.
- Reynolds RM. Glucocorticoid excess and the developmental origins of disease: two decades of testing the hypothesis--2012 Curt Richter Award Winner. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2013 Jan;38(1):1–11.
- 4. Appleton AA, Armstrong DA, Lesseur C, *et al.* Patterning in placental 11-B hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase methylation according to prenatal socioeconomic adversity. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(9):e74691.
- 5. Wells JCK. Maternal capital and the metabolic ghetto: An evolutionary perspective on the transgenerational basis of health inequalities. Am J Hum Biol. 2010 Feb;22(1):1–17.
- 6. Viltart O, Vanbesien-Mailliot CCA. Impact of prenatal stress on neuroendocrine programming. ScientificWorldJournal. 2007;7:1493–537.
- Cardwell MS. Stress: pregnancy considerations. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 2013 Feb;68(2):119–29.
- 8. Bouhanick B, Ehlinger V, Delpierre C, *et al.* Mode of delivery at birth and the metabolic syndrome in midlife: the role of the birth environment in a prospective birth cohort study. BMJ Open. 2014;4(5):e005031.
- Kvaavik E, Glymour M, Klepp K-I, Tell GS, Batty GD. Parental education as a predictor of offspring behavioural and physiological cardiovascular disease risk factors. Eur J Public Health. 2012 Aug;22(4):544–50.
- 10. Buchmann AF, Kopf D, Westphal S, *et al*. Impact of early parental child-rearing behavior on young adults' cardiometabolic risk profile: a prospective study. Psychosom Med. 2010 Feb;72(2):156–62.
- 11. Tamayo T, Christian H, Rathmann W. Impact of early psychosocial factors (childhood socioeconomic factors and adversities) on future risk of type 2 diabetes, metabolic disturbances and obesity: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2010;10:525.
- 12. Brummett BH, Babyak MA, Siegler IC, Shanahan M, Harris KM, Elder GH, et al. Systolic blood pressure, socioeconomic status, and biobehavioral risk factors in a nationally representative US young adult sample. Hypertension. 2011 Aug;58(2):161–6.
- 13. Gallo LC, Fortmann AL, Roesch SC, *et al*. Socioeconomic status, psychosocial resources and risk, and cardiometabolic risk in Mexican-American women. Health Psychol. 2012 May;31(3):334-42.
- 14. Nederhof E, Schmidt MV. Mismatch or cumulative stress: toward an integrated hypothesis of programming effects. Physiol Behav. 2012 Jul 16;106(5):691–700.
- 15. De Stavola BL, Nitsch D, dos Santos Silva I, *et al*. Statistical issues in life course epidemiology. Am J Epidemiol. 2006 Jan 1;163(1):84–96.
- 16. VanderWeele TJ. Marginal structural models for the estimation of direct and indirect effects. Epidemiology. 2009 Jan;20(1):18–26.

- 17. Vanderweele TJ, Vansteelandt S, Robins JM. Effect decomposition in the presence of an exposure-induced mediator-outcome confounder. Epidemiology. 2014 Mar;25(2):300-6.
- 18. Nandi A, Glymour MM, Kawachi I, *et al*. Using marginal structural models to estimate the direct effect of adverse childhood social conditions on onset of heart disease, diabetes, and stroke. Epidemiology. 2012 Mar;23(2):223-32.
- 19. Moodie EEM, Stephens DA. Marginal Structural Models: unbiased estimation for longitudinal studies. Int J Public Health. 2011 Feb;56(1):117–9.
- 20. De Stavola BL, Daniel RM. Marginal structural models: the way forward for life-course epidemiology? Epidemiology. 2012 Mar;23(2):233–7.
- 21. Ahrens KA, Schisterman EF. A time and place for causal inference methods in perinatal and paediatric epidemiology. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2013 May;27(3):258–62.
- 22. VanderWeele TJ. Bias formulas for sensitivity analysis for direct and indirect effects. Epidemiology. 2010;21:540–551
- 23. Chen P. Chantala K. Guidelines for analyzing Add Health data. *National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health: University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill*. <u>http://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/data/guides/wt-guidelines.pdf</u>. Accessed May 5, 2014.
- 24. Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, *et al.* Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Scientific Statement. Circulation. 2005 Oct 25;112(17):2735–52.
- 25. Lorenzo C, Wagenknecht LE, Hanley AJG, *et al*. A1C between 5.7 and 6.4% as a marker for identifying pre-diabetes, insulin sensitivity and secretion, and cardiovascular risk factors: the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study (IRAS). Diabetes Care. 2010 Sep;33(9):2104–9.
- 26. Gavin AR, Thompson E, Rue T, *et al*. Maternal early life risk factors for offspring birth weight: findings from the add health study. Prev Sci. 2012 Apr;13(2):162-72.
- 27. Lin YC, Wen HJ, Lee YL, *et al*. Are maternal psychosocial factors associated with cord immunoglobulin E in addition to family atopic history and mother immunoglobulin E? Clin Exp Allergy. 2004 Apr;34(4):548-54.
- 28. Utne I, Miaskowski C, Bjordal K, *et al*. Confirmatory factor analysis of the coping strategies questionnaire-revised in samples of oncology outpatients and inpatients with pain. Clin J Pain. 2009 Jun;25(5):391-400.
- 29. Rahmawaty S, Lyons-Wall P, Batterham M, *et al.* Food patterns of Australian children ages 9 to 13 y in relation to  $\omega$ -3 long chain polyunsaturated intake. Nutrition. 2014 Feb;30(2):169-76.
- 30. Huang CY, Costeines J, Ayala C, *et al*. Parenting Stress, Social Support, and Depression for Ethnic Minority Adolescent Mothers: Impact on Child Development. J Child Fam Stud. 2014 Feb;23(2):255–62.
- 31. Geronimus AT, Korenman S, Hillemeier MM. Does Young Maternal Age Adversely Affect Child Development? Evidence from Cousin Comparisons in the United States. POPULATION AND DEVELOPMENT REVIEW. 1994;20(3):585.
- 32. Dominguez TP. Adverse birth outcomes in African American women: the social context of persistent reproductive disadvantage. Soc Work Public Health. 2011;26(1):3–16.

- 33. Giurgescu C, McFarlin BL, Lomax J, *et al*. Racial discrimination and the black-white gap in adverse birth outcomes: a review. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2011 Aug;56(4):362–70.
- 34. Cole SR, Hernán MA. Constructing inverse probability weights for marginal structural models. Am J Epidemiol. 2008 Sep 15;168(6):656–64.
- 35. Brumback BA, Bouldin ED, Zheng HW, *et al.* Testing and estimating model-adjusted effect-measure modification using marginal structural models and complex survey data. Am J Epidemiol. 2010 Nov 1; 172(9):1085-91.
- 36. U.S. Census Bureau. Current Population Survey, March 1995 Technical Documentation. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Census Bureau; October 1995. <u>http://www.census.gov/prod/techdoc/cps/cpsmar95.pdf</u>. Accessed May 9, 2014.
- 37. U.S. Census Bureau. Population Estimates of the United States by Sex, Race, and Hispanic Origin: April 1, 1990 to July 1, 1999, with Short-Term Projection to November 1, 2000. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Census Bureau; January 2001. <u>https://www.census.gov/population/estimates/nation/intfile3-1.txt</u>. Accessed May 9, 2014.
- 38. McLaren L. Socioeconomic status and obesity. Epidemiol Rev. 2007;29:29-48.
- 39. Cole SR, Platt RW, Schisterman EF, Chu H, Westreich D, Richardson D, et al. Illustrating bias due to conditioning on a collider. Int J Epidemiol. 2010 Apr;39(2):417–20.
- 40. Brummett BH, Babyak MA, Singh A, Jiang R, Williams RB, Harris KM, Siegler IC. Socioeconomic indices as independent correlates of C-reactive protein in the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. Psychosom Med. 2013 Nov-Dec;75(9):882-93.
- 41. Räikkönen K, O'Reilly JR, Pesonen A-K, Kajantie E, Villa P, Laivuori H, et al. Associations between maternal level of education and occupational status with placental glucocorticoid regeneration and sensitivity. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2014 Jan 21.

# *Chapter 2 – Controlled direct effect of grandmaternal educational attainment on birth weight and associated bias analyses*

- 1. Sauerbrun-Cutler M-T, Segars JH. Do in utero events contribute to current health disparities in reproductive medicine? Semin Reprod Med. 2013 Sep;31(5):325–32.
- 2. Pies C, Parthasarathy P, Posner SF. Integrating the life course perspective into a local maternal and child health program. Matern Child Health J. 2012 Apr;16(3):649–55.
- 3. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Cooper C, *et al*. Effect of in utero and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N Engl J Med. 2008 Jul 3;359(1):61–73.
- 4. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Buklijas T, *et al*. Epigenetic mechanisms that underpin metabolic and cardiovascular diseases. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2009 Jul;5(7):401–8.
- 5. Cardwell MS. Stress: pregnancy considerations. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 2013 Feb;68(2):119–29.
- 6. Räikkönen K, O'Reilly JR, Pesonen A-K, Kajantie E, Villa P, Laivuori H, *et al.* Associations between maternal level of education and occupational status with placental glucocorticoid regeneration and sensitivity. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2014 Jan 21;
- Reynolds RM. Glucocorticoid excess and the developmental origins of disease: two decades of testing the hypothesis--2012 Curt Richter Award Winner. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2013 Jan;38(1):1–11.
- 8. Appleton AA, Armstrong DA, Lesseur C, *et al*. Patterning in placental 11-B hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase methylation according to prenatal socioeconomic adversity. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(9):e74691.
- 9. Wells JCK. Maternal capital and the metabolic ghetto: An evolutionary perspective on the transgenerational basis of health inequalities. Am J Hum Biol. 2010 Feb;22(1):1–17.
- 10. Astone NM, Misra D, Lynch C. The effect of maternal socio-economic status throughout the lifespan on infant birthweight. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2007 Jul;21(4):310–8.
- Geronimus AT. Deep integration: letting the epigenome out of the bottle without losing sight of the structural origins of population health. Am J Public Health. 2013 Oct;103 Suppl 1:S56–63.
- 12. Power C, Kuh D, Morton S. From developmental origins of adult disease to life course research on adult disease and aging: insights from birth cohort studies. Annu Rev Public Health. 2013;34:7–28.
- 13. Kwok MK, Leung GM, Lam TH, *et al*. Grandparental education, parental education and child height: evidence from Hong Kong's "Children of 1997" birth cohort. Ann Epidemiol. 2013 Aug;23(8):475-84.
- 14. De Stavola BL, Nitsch D, dos Santos Silva I, *et al*. Statistical issues in life course epidemiology. Am J Epidemiol. 2006 Jan 1;163(1):84–96.
- 15. VanderWeele TJ. Marginal structural models for the estimation of direct and indirect effects. Epidemiology. 2009 Jan;20(1):18–26.
- 16. Vanderweele TJ, Vansteelandt S, Robins JM. Effect decomposition in the presence of an exposure-induced mediator-outcome confounder. Epidemiology. 2014 Mar;25(2):300-6.
- 17. Nederhof E, Schmidt MV. Mismatch or cumulative stress: toward an integrated hypothesis of programming effects. Physiol Behav. 2012 Jul 16;106(5):691–700.

- 18. Gallo LC, Fortmann AL, Roesch SC, *et al*. Socioeconomic status, psychosocial resources and risk, and cardiometabolic risk in Mexican-American women. Health Psychol. 2012 May;31(3):334-42.
- 19. VanderWeele TJ. Invited commentary: structural equation models and epidemiologic analysis. Am J Epidemiol. 2012 Oct 1;176(7):608-12.
- 20. Nandi A, Glymour MM, Kawachi I, *et al*. Using marginal structural models to estimate the direct effect of adverse childhood social conditions on onset of heart disease, diabetes, and stroke. Epidemiology. 2012 Mar;23(2):223-32.
- 21. Moodie EEM, Stephens DA. Marginal Structural Models: unbiased estimation for longitudinal studies. Int J Public Health. 2011 Feb;56(1):117–9.
- 22. De Stavola BL, Daniel RM. Marginal structural models: the way forward for life-course epidemiology? Epidemiology. 2012 Mar;23(2):233–7.
- 23. Ahrens KA, Schisterman EF. A time and place for causal inference methods in perinatal and paediatric epidemiology. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2013 May;27(3):258–62.
- 24. VanderWeele TJ. Bias formulas for sensitivity analysis for direct and indirect effects. Epidemiology. 2010;21:540–551
- 25. Chen P. Chantala K. Guidelines for analyzing Add Health data. National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health: University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. http://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/data/guides/wt-guidelines.pdf. Accessed May 5, 2014.
- 26. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. Maternal constraint of fetal growth and its consequences. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2004 Oct;9(5):419-25. Review.
- 27. Gavin AR, Hill KG, Hawkins JD, *et al*. The role of maternal early-life and later-life risk factors on offspring low birth weight: findings from a three-generational study. J Adolesc Health. 2011 Aug;49(2):166–71.
- 28. Gavin AR, Thompson E, Rue T, *et al*. Maternal early life risk factors for offspring birth weight: findings from the add health study. Prev Sci. 2012 Apr;13(2):162-72.
- 29. Blumenshine P, Egerter S, Barclay CJ, *et al*. Socioeconomic disparities in adverse birth outcomes: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med. 2010 Sep;39(3):263–72.
- 30. Lin YC, Wen HJ, Lee YL, *et al*. Are maternal psychosocial factors associated with cord immunoglobulin E in addition to family atopic history and mother immunoglobulin E? Clin Exp Allergy. 2004 Apr;34(4):548-54.
- 31. Utne I, Miaskowski C, Bjordal K, *et al*. Confirmatory factor analysis of the coping strategies questionnaire-revised in samples of oncology outpatients and inpatients with pain. Clin J Pain. 2009 Jun;25(5):391-400.
- 32. Yu Z, Han S, Zhu J, *et al*. Pre-pregnancy body mass index in relation to infant birth weight and offspring overweight/obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(4):e61627.
- 33. Kramer MS. Determinants of low birth weight: methodological assessment and metaanalysis. Bull World Health Organ. 1987;65(5):663–737.
- 34. Bailey BA, Byrom AR. Factors predicting birth weight in a low-risk sample: the role of modifiable pregnancy health behaviors. Matern Child Health J. 2007 Mar;11(2):173–9.

- 35. Huang CY, Costeines J, Ayala C, *et al*. Parenting Stress, Social Support, and Depression for Ethnic Minority Adolescent Mothers: Impact on Child Development. J Child Fam Stud. 2014 Feb;23(2):255–62.
- 36. Geronimus AT, Korenman S, Hillemeier MM. Does Young Maternal Age Adversely Affect Child Development? Evidence from Cousin Comparisons in the United States. POPULATION AND DEVELOPMENT REVIEW. 1994;20(3):585.
- 37. Dominguez TP. Adverse birth outcomes in African American women: the social context of persistent reproductive disadvantage. Soc Work Public Health. 2011;26(1):3–16.
- 38. Giurgescu C, McFarlin BL, Lomax J, *et al*. Racial discrimination and the black-white gap in adverse birth outcomes: a review. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2011 Aug;56(4):362–70.
- 39. Cole SR, Hernán MA. Constructing inverse probability weights for marginal structural models. Am J Epidemiol. 2008 Sep 15;168(6):656–64.
- 40. Brumback BA, Bouldin ED, Zheng HW, *et al*. Testing and estimating model-adjusted effect-measure modification using marginal structural models and complex survey data. Am J Epidemiol. 2010 Nov 1; 172(9):1085-91.
- 41. Valeri L, Vanderweele TJ. The estimation of direct and indirect causal effects in the presence of misclassified binary mediator. Biostatistics. 2014 Mar 26.
- 42. Wilcox AJ. On the importance--and the unimportance--of birthweight. Int J Epidemiol. 2001 Dec;30(6):1233–41.
- 43. De Jong F, Monuteaux MC, van Elburg RM, *et al.* Systematic review and meta-analysis of preterm birth and later systolic blood pressure. Hypertension. 2012 Feb;59(2):226–34.
- 44. VanderWeele TJ. Bias formulas for sensitivity analysis for direct and indirect effects. Epidemiology 2010; 21(4):540-551.
- 45. VanderWeele TJ, Hernández-Diaz S. Is there a direct effect of pre-eclampsia on cerebral palsy not through preterm birth? Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2011; 25(2):111-115.
- 46. Chiolero A, Paradis G, Kaufman JS. Assessing the possible direct effect of birth weight on childhood blood pressure: a sensitivity analysis. Am J Epidemiol. 2014 Jan 1; 179(1):4-11.
- 47. Lê-Scherban F, Diez Roux AV, Li Y, *et al*. Does academic achievement during childhood and adolescence benefit later health? Ann Epidemiol. 2014 May;24(5):344-55.
- 48. Soto E, Bahado-Singh R. Fetal abnormal growth associated with substance abuse. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2013 Mar;56(1):142–53.
- 49. Strutz KL, Richardson LJ, Hussey JM. Preconception Health Trajectories and Birth Weight in a National Prospective Cohort. J Adolesc Health. 2012 Dec;51(6):629–36.
- 50. Harper S, Strumpf EC. Social epidemiology: questionable answers and answerable questions. Epidemiology. 2012 Nov;23(6):795–8.
- 51. Kaufman JS. Some models just can't be fixed. A commentary on Mortensen. Social Science & Medicine. 2013 Jan;76:8–11.
- 52. Straughen JK, Caldwell CH, Osypuk TL, *et al*. Direct and Proxy Recall of Childhood Socio-Economic Position and Health. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2013 May 1;27(3):294–302.

*Chapter 3 - Associations between birth SES, adult phenotype, and candidate cardiometabolic gene methylation in young adult women in the Jerusalem Perinatal Family Follow-Up Study.* 

- Galobardes B, Lynch JW, Smith GD. Is the association between childhood socioeconomic circumstances and cause-specific mortality established? Update of a systematic review. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2008 May;62(5):387-90.
- Johnson RC, Schoeni RF. Early-life origins of adult disease: national longitudinal population-based study of the United States. Am J Public Health. 2011;101(12):2317– 2324.
- 3. Nandi A, Glymour MM, Kawachi I, VanderWeele TJ. Using marginal structural models to estimate the direct effect of adverse childhood social conditions on onset of heart disease, diabetes, and stroke. Epidemiology. 2012;23(2):223–232.
- 4. Harville EW, Boynton-Jarrett R, Power C, Hyppönen E. Childhood hardship, maternal smoking, and birth outcomes: a prospective cohort study. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2010;164(6):533–539.
- 5. Gavin AR, Hill KG, Hawkins JD, Maas C. The role of maternal early-life and later-life risk factors on offspring low birth weight: findings from a three-generational study. J Adolesc Health. 2011;49(2):166–171.
- 6. Sauerbrun-Cutler M-T, Segars JH. Do in utero events contribute to current health disparities in reproductive medicine? Semin Reprod Med. 2013 Sep;31(5):325–32.
- Reynolds RM. Glucocorticoid excess and the developmental origins of disease: two decades of testing the hypothesis--2012 Curt Richter Award Winner. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2013 Jan;38(1):1–11. (12)
- Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Cooper C, Thornburg KL. Effect of in utero and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N Engl J Med. 2008 Jul 3;359(1):61-73. Review. (10)
- 9. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Buklijas T, et al. Epigenetic mechanisms that underpin metabolic and cardiovascular diseases. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2009 Jul;5(7):401–8.
- Reynolds RM, Jacobsen GH, Drake AJ. What is the evidence in humans that DNA methylation changes link events in utero and later life disease? Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf). 2013;78(6):814–822. (26)
- Dominguez-Salas P, Moore SE, Baker MS, et al. Maternal nutrition at conception modulates DNA methylation of human metastable epialleles. Nat Commun. 2014 Apr 29;5:3746. (6)
- Heijmans BT, Tobi EW, Stein AD, et al. Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2008;105(44):17046–17049. (7)
- 13. Lumey LH Terry MB, Delgado-Cruzata L, et al. Adult global DNA methylation in relation to pre-natal nutrition. Int J Epidemiol. 2012 February; 41(1): 116–123. (8)
- Turan N, Ghalwash MF, Katari S, Coutifaris C, Obradovic Z, Sapienza C. DNA methylation differences at growth related genes correlate with birth weight: a molecular signature linked to developmental origins of adult disease? BMC Med Genomics. 2012 Apr 12; 5:10. (9)

- 15. Hoffmann A, Spengler D. The lasting legacy of social stress on the epigenome of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. Epigenomics. 2012 Aug;4(4):431-44. Review. (11)
- Mulligan CJ, D'Errico NC, Stees J, Hughes DA. Methylation changes at NR3C1 in newborns associate with maternal prenatal stress exposure and newborn birth weight. Epigenetics. 2012 Aug; 7(8):853-7. (13)
- Radtke KM, Ruf M, Gunter HM, et al. Transgenerational impact of intimate partner violence on methylation in the promoter of the glucocorticoid receptor. Transl Psychiatry. 2011;1:e21. (14)
- Tobi EW, Slagboom PE, van Dongen J, et al. Prenatal famine and genetic variation are independently and additively associated with DNA methylation at regulatory loci within IGF2/H19. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(5):e37933. (15)
- 19. Essex MJ, Thomas Boyce W, Hertzman C, et al. Epigenetic vestiges of early developmental adversity: childhood stress exposure and DNA methylation in adolescence. Child Dev. 2013; 84(1):58–75. (17)
- 20. Borghol N, Suderman M, McArdle W, Racine A, Hallett M, Pembrey M, Hertzman C, Power C, Szyf M. Associations with early-life socio-economic position in adult DNA methylation. Int J Epidemiol. 2012 Feb; 41(1):62-74. (18)
- 21. Tehranifar P, Wu H-C, Fan X, et al. Early life socioeconomic factors and genomic DNA methylation in mid-life. Epigenetics. 2013; 8(1):23–27. (19)
- 22. Lam LL, Emberly E, Fraser HB, Neumann SM, Chen E, Miller GE, et al. Factors underlying variable DNA methylation in a human community cohort. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2012 Oct 16;109 Suppl 2:17253–60.
- 23. Talens RP, Jukema JW, Trompet S, et al. Hypermethylation at loci sensitive to the prenatal environment is associated with increased incidence of myocardial infarction. Int J Epidemiol. 2012;41(1):106–115. (16)
- 24. Obermann-Borst SA, Heijmans BT, Eilers PHC, Tobi EW, Steegers E a. P, Slagboom PE, et al. Periconception maternal smoking and low education are associated with methylation of INSIGF in children at the age of 17 months. Journal of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease. 2012;3(05):315–20.
- 25. Matthews SG, Phillips DIW. Minireview: transgenerational inheritance of the stress response: a new frontier in stress research. Endocrinology. 2010 Jan;151(1):7–13.
- 26. Wells JCK. Maternal capital and the metabolic ghetto: An evolutionary perspective on the transgenerational basis of health inequalities. Am. J. Hum. Biol. 2010;22(1):1–17. (22)
- 27. Drake AJ, Seckl JR. Transmission of programming effects across generations. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev. 2011;9(2):566–578. Review. (20)
- 28. Szyf M. The genome- and system-wide response of DNA methylation to early life adversity and its implication on mental health. Can J Psychiatry. 2013 Dec;58(12):697–704.
- 29. Tobi EW, Lumey LH, Talens RP, Kremer D, Putter H, Stein AD, Slagboom PE, Heijmans BT. DNA methylation differences after exposure to prenatal famine are common and timing- and sex-specific. Hum Mol Genet. 2009 Nov 1;18(21):4046-53.
- 30. Perroud N, Paoloni-Giacobino A, Prada P, Olié E, Salzmann A, Nicastro R, et al. Increased methylation of glucocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C1) in adults with a history

of childhood maltreatment: a link with the severity and type of trauma. Transl Psychiatry. 2011 Dec 13;1:e59.

- 31. Harris A, Seckl J. Glucocorticoids, prenatal stress and the programming of disease. Horm Behav. 2011 Mar;59(3):279–89.
- 32. Hochner H, Friedlander Y, Calderon-Margalit R, Meiner V, Sagy Y, Avgil-Tsadok M, et al. Associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain with adult offspring cardiometabolic risk factors: the Jerusalem Perinatal Family Follow-up Study. Circulation. 2012 Mar 20;125(11):1381–9.
- 33. Lawrence GM, Shulman S, Friedlander Y, Sitlani CM, Burger A, Savitsky B, et al. Associations of maternal pre-pregnancy and gestational body size with offspring longitudinal change in BMI. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2014 Apr;22(4):1165–71.
- 34. Appleton AA, Armstrong DA, Lesseur C, Lee J, Padbury JF, Lester BM, et al. Patterning in placental 11-B hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase methylation according to prenatal socioeconomic adversity. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(9):e74691.
- 35. Harlap S, Davies AM, Deutsch L, et al. The Jerusalem Perinatal Study cohort, 1964-2005: methods and a review of the main results. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2007;21(3):256–273. (23)
- 36. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. Maternal constraint of fetal growth and its consequences. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2004 Oct;9(5):419-25. Review.
- 37. Moodie EEM, Stephens DA. Marginal Structural Models: unbiased estimation for longitudinal studies. Int J Public Health. 2011 Feb;56(1):117–9.
- 38. Heijmans BT, Mill J. Commentary: The seven plagues of epigenetic epidemiology. Int J Epidemiol. 2012 Feb;41(1):74–8.
- 39. Jablonka E. Epigenetic epidemiology. Int J Epidemiol. 2004 Oct; 33(5):929–35.
- 40. Marsit CJ, Maccani MA, Padbury JF, Lester BM. Placental 11-beta hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase methylation is associated with newborn growth and a measure of neurobehavioral outcome. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(3):e33794.
- 41. Jensen Peña C, Monk C, Champagne FA. Epigenetic effects of prenatal stress on 11βhydroxysteroid dehydrogenase-2 in the placenta and fetal brain. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(6):e39791.
- 42. Conradt E, Lester BM, Appleton AA, Armstrong DA, Marsit CJ. The roles of DNA methylation of NR3C1 and 11β-HSD2 and exposure to maternal mood disorder in utero on newborn neurobehavior. Epigenetics. 2013 Dec;8(12):1321–9.
- 43. Oberlander TF, Weinberg J, Papsdorf M, Grunau R, Misri S, Devlin AM. Prenatal exposure to maternal depression, neonatal methylation of human glucocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C1) and infant cortisol stress responses. Epigenetics. 2008; 3, 97–106.
- 44. Ehrich M, Nelson MR, Stanssens P, Zabeau M, Liloglou T, Xinarianos G, et al. Quantitative high-throughput analysis of DNA methylation patterns by base-specific cleavage and mass spectrometry. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2005 Nov 1;102(44):15785– 90.
- 45. Chung I, Karpf AR, Muindi JR, Conroy JM, Nowak NJ, Johnson CS, et al. Epigenetic silencing of CYP24 in tumor-derived endothelial cells contributes to selective growth inhibition by calcitriol. J Biol Chem. 2007 Mar 23;282(12):8704–14.

- 46. Okada S, Morinobu S, Fuchikami M, Segawa M, Yokomaku K, Kataoka T, et al. The potential of SLC6A4 gene methylation analysis for the diagnosis and treatment of major depression. J Psychiatr Res. 2014 Jun;53:47–53.
- 47. Li L-C, Dahiya R. MethPrimer: designing primers for methylation PCRs. Bioinformatics. 2002 Nov;18(11):1427–31.
- 48. Cohen E, Krause I, Fraser A, Goldberg E, Garty M. Hyperuricemia and metabolic syndrome: lessons from a large cohort from Israel. Isr Med Assoc J. 2012 Nov;14(11):676–80.
- 49. Imai K, Keele L, Tingley D. A general approach to causal mediation analysis. Psychological Methods. 2010 Dec;15(4):309–34.
- 50. VanderWeele TJ, Robinson WR. On the causal interpretation of race in regressions adjusting for confounding and mediating variables. Epidemiology. 2014 Jul;25(4):473–84.
- 51. Suderman M, Borghol N, Pappas JJ, Pinto Pereira SM, Pembrey M, Hertzman C, et al. Childhood abuse is associated with methylation of multiple loci in adult DNA. BMC Med Genomics. 2014;7:13.
- 52. Armstrong DA, Lesseur C, Conradt E, Lester BM, Marsit CJ. Global and gene-specific DNA methylation across multiple tissues in early infancy: implications for children's health research. FASEB J. 2014 Jan 29.
- 53. Edelman S, Shalev I, Uzefovsky F, Israel S, Knafo A, Kremer I, et al. Epigenetic and genetic factors predict women's salivary cortisol following a threat to the social self. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(11):e48597.
- 54. Heijmans BT, Tobi EW, Stein AD, Putter H, Blauw GJ, Susser ES, Slagboom PE, Lumey LH. Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008 Nov 4;105(44):17046-9.
- 55. Talens RP, Christensen K, Putter H, Willemsen G, Christiansen L, Kremer D, et al. Epigenetic variation during the adult lifespan: cross-sectional and longitudinal data on monozygotic twin pairs. Aging Cell. 2012 Aug;11(4):694–703.
- 56. Kleinhaus K, Harlap S, Perrin M, et al. Prenatal stress and affective disorders in a population birth cohort. Bipolar Disord. 2013; 15(1):92–99.
- 57. Central Intelligence Agency. The World Factbook Israel. [Internet]. Washington, DC: Central Intelligence Agency; 2013 [cited 2014 Jul 4]. Available from: <u>https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/is.html</u>
- 58. Martorell R, Zongrone A. Intergenerational influences on child growth and undernutrition. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2012;26 Suppl 1:302–314. (21)
- 59. Rothman KJ. Six persistent research misconceptions. J Gen Intern Med. 2014 Jul;29(7):1060–4.
- 60. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J. R. Stat. Soc. B. 1995; 57: 289-300.